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NOTE BY THE TRANSLATOR.

 Twis “History of Sind” aflords the following information mhﬁuﬁ
its Author :— e

His name was Mahomed Masoom, with the titular name of Namé:
his father's name was Sufaee Hoosainee, who, leaving his native
place Tirmaz, came to Bukkur, where he died and was buried. His
descendants are now to be found living on a limited portion of the lands
which were presented in Jageer by the Emperor Akbar Shah to the
Historian, on the occasion of his visiting and paying his respects to His
Majesty in the district of Bukkur.

« He iz a fool who lends a book—he is a greater who returnt it

is an Eastern saying. Acting up to this, the Natives in general have a
great repugnance 10 lend their MSS.; bat I had the good fortune to
obtain the loan of a copy of this work from His Highness Meer Ali
~ Morad Khan Talpoor, another from Peer Ali Gohur, and a third from
T 5 " Goolam Ali Shah (these two last-named are Syuds of respectable
_ families in Upper Sind) : with these before me I executed this transla-

-




PREFATORY REMARKS BY THE AUTHOR,
MAHOMED MASOOM.

i Be it known to the hearts of those having knowledge : this book is
such, that by it is shown how Sind was conguered ; also how the Mu-
sulmans fonght with the Kafirs of the country ; also how, and for how
many years, the agents of the Khaliphs, Bunee Oomaiyuh and Bunee
Abbas, governed it; likewise how the Hakeems, who succeeded these
agents, ruled over it. There is also described in this the government of
the Urghooneeynhs, and the times of their rale, their battles, the districts
and towns which they took, and all that they did till the time of
their departure ; after which the country came into the possession of
Julal-ood-deen Mahomed Akbar, Badshah ; and it is also shown who of
his Ameers came to Bukkor, Schwistan, and Tatta.

This book is divided into 1V. Chapters,

In the I. Chapter, is mentioned the conquest of Sind, and the times
of the government of the agents of the Khaliphs, Bunee Oomaiyuh and
Bunee Abbas.

In the IT. Chapter, is mentioned the Kings of Hindoostan, in whose
agents’' hands the government of Sind was placed ; also how Soormuh
and Summah governed it.

In the IT1. Chapter, iz mentioned how the Urghooneeyuhs ruled this
conntry.

In the IV. Chapter, is shown how this country came into the hands of
Akbar Shah, and what Ameers and Hakeems were appointed to, and
cagie to govern, this conntry, by and from him, till the date of the com-
meneement of this book. -

This book is named “ Tus Hisrony or Sixp."

God is the giver of help to all ; all have confidence in Him !

Praise is due to the Ruoler of ullhthc_:rnrld; by whose wisdom the good
of the people of the earth is secured by fhe justice of kings, the proof of
which is, that if there were no kings in the world, of course some mean
would devour each other!

¢ God is such, that there is no Other like Him.

“ By His omnipotence, He is King above all other kings.
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« He is such a God, that there is no other like Him.

# Everything on earth gives evidence that there is a God.

« He has given the arrangement of things on earth to kings.

« He has given the justice of kings to be the ornament of the world.

@ If there were no kings on earth, this world would become desolate

by misfortunes !”

Offer sineere prayers to Mahomed !

The elevation of the flag of Mahomed’s prophecies is known from
the following :—

« T was the Prophet when Adam was in the earth and water!"”

The high flag of his prophecy is known from this :—

« T do mot send you, were it not for mercy to the world !”

The blessing of God on him, his family, all his friends, and his pos-
terity, as long as the world exists, until the Resurrection i(—

s Mahomed's existence comes from the first. By his kindness the

world was created.

« All the world, he took, and to heaven, by his majesty.

% For upon high heaven he beat five Nobuts.

i Earth and heaven ; honour is from him.

« His exaltation exalted the world.

« To the foundation of religion he gave such strength, that it will

flonrish to the last day "

The Wriler of this Book, Mahomed Masoom, whose Titular Name is
Namé, the son of Sufaee Hoosainee.—The original place of residence
of my father is Tirmaz; his honse and tomb are at Bakkur; related 1o Syund
Sher Kolunduar, the son of Baba Husun Abbal, who was born at Subzwar.
He lived and was buried at Kandahar. It has been my intention for a
long time to write a short account of the conquest of Sind, describing
the doings of the Hakeems of that country, and to gather and select such
information as I could obtain; bat on account of bad fortune, and the
displeasure of Heaven, there was all the will, but the power was wanl-
_ing. Everything takes place atits proper time; therefore it was delayed
‘mntil the days when I wrote it on account of my son, the cooler of my
eyes, the flower of my heart, Meer Boozoorg! O God, make him after

urself ! On his account 1 wrote this book. Another final cause of my
'ﬂﬁﬁ#thi; book was, that by reading it my son may learn what the good
men of old did, that he may know what i= good, what is bad ; that which
g_aﬂmmgeou;. that which is the contrary ; so that he may follow the
"paths of good men; that, following the ways of good men, by that means
he may avoid the ways of bad men. From God we obtain the comple-

tion of our wishes, protection, and assistance ™




THE HISTORY OF SIND.

CHAPTER L

THE CONQUEST OF SIND.

Ix this appears the ordering of the Musmiman armies from Bagdad to
Sind, in the time of the Khaliph, the =on of Abdool Munlik, and the
circnmstances of the wars of the Musulmans with the Kafirs; also the
times of the governorship of the agents of Bunee Oomaiyuh and Bunee
Abbas, Khaliphs.

It is proper to give the greatest praise to the glory of the Maker, that
He has made o difference in the attribotes and natores of men ; and the
intentions of the heart He has made different in the hearts of kings:
from some of these kings injury comes upon themselves, and others send
their good deeds in advance !

Men of understanding will know, that all historians are agreed that
Sind was conquered in the Khaliphat of the son of Abdool Mulik, by
the exertions of Hujjaj the son of Yoosoof Sukafee, as Ali the =on of
Hamed, the son of Aboo Bukpr Koofee, wrote in the Chnk Namé,
which is a history of Sind. The writer of this book has omitied 1o

include that which was useless in that work; he takes out nnl)&-,lilt

which is usefol and necessary. Sl

- A Bosmanry or ug Lare oF taE Sox or Aspoor Munik.

~ Some historians say that the son was an oppressor: a few think he
was such ; but the greater number say, that of all the Bonee Oomaiyuh
Khaliphs he was the most exeellent, becanse he made the Jooma Musjid
at Damascus, that is called the Bunee Oomaiyuh Musjid; and in the
Goozeeduh history it appears thel e spent 1,000 Mnars six times
over on this Musjid, and that every day 1,000 men were eniployed on
this building. At Medina he enlarged Mahomed's Musjid, and in
Jernsalem he built op anew the Pusjid Aysa, and those who were blind
he fed in charity ; those who were holy men he selected from the crowids,

P
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armnging for their food. In the days of his Khaliphat many cities of
Mawrann }ﬁehr (beyond the river Oxus), and to Farghunal, and to the
1-..:\' conntries of Kabool and Mooltan, were conquered.

_ In the Mirat-ool-Jifan history it is written, that notwithstanding his
CJ"""I,_" oppression, he was a great reader of the Koran, as every third day he
read it through, and in the month of Rumzan he read it through seven-
‘teen times.

It is also written in the Goozeeduh history, that in the Khaliphat of
the son of Abdool Mulik, on the Badeeuh road he made many reSErvoirs
for water; in Damascus he built a hospital and a Karavanserai. He
was the first inventor of these places; and amongst all the other things
which he did, he pointed out the proper position of the Minars, from the
tops of which the snmmons to prayer is called.

His death took place in the month of Jumad-ool-Awul, Hijree 96
(s. p. 714). He lived on earth forty-nine years ; out of that he reigned
nine years and eight months:

The title of the son was *MOOSTUKEEM Birtau” (the Faithfal to
God). '

God only knows the truth of this! I now describe some of the
events, and some of the reasons why the Musulman forces came from
Bagdad.

It is written in the histories of Sind, that in the time of the Khaliphat
of Abdool Mulik, he gave orders to some of his servants to go 10 Sind
to buy Hindoostan female slaves, and other things. Some merchants of
Egypt baving joined them, they came 10 Sind. They bought and col-
lected female slaves, and other things, as ordered, and having made their
arrangements, started on their retarn by the sea route. When they got

to Daiwnl Bunder (now called the Tatta and Luheree Bunder), n
band of highway robbers came apon them, killing many, taking a few
g pﬁmnm,' looting the whole of their property; and the remaining few
AN, L escaping, they returned to, and made their cumplaimbnt'ure, the Khaliph,
'  who was so incensed, that the perspiration issued from his body :
s warned an army 1o g0 to that country, and then he died, the
» remaining stationary, when his moble son succeeded to ine
at. Hujjaj the son of Yoosoof was sent by him to govern
He arranged affairs in Bagdad and Koofa, and then in Karma-
san, Sejistan (Sehwistan). He then heard some of the eir-
ances of Mukran and Sind, which he reported to the Khaliph:
formerly some of the Khilipl's servants went to buy things, and
s people of Sind had looted them of all they had, killing many
party, keeping some as prisoners ; and that the dee
warned a force to go and ke revenge. In the mean time
et _Ekﬁn ill, and died: thus to this time the Mahomedans
33

e
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are still in confinement in the hands of Kafirs, If ordered, it is possible
that these people shall be released, and the property which was loated
recovered.”

It is the custom of good, elever men, first of all to gain intelligence of
the eircumstances of their enemies, and their condition. Previous to
receiving n reply to his petition, Hujjnj warned two elever men to go s
spies, to ascertain the circumstances of Sind, and the strength of its
armies. He gave them a Firman, as if from the Khaliph, and dismissed
them. At that time, Daher, the son of Chuk, was the King of Bind :
they gave the Firman to him, he receiving it with much honour; he
read, and understood its contents. He denied that his men had done
as alleged, saying that he was clear of the matter. His tongne was full
of enmity, but with it he spoke in terms of friendship before these
persons : asking his attendants about the ocenrrence, he said he would
send people to find out who had behaved in this way towards the
Khaliph's servants, declaring, that if canght, he would punish them ; that
he would recover the stolen property from them, and send it to the
Khaliph. He sent his people to inq*‘n‘ into it, detaining the two men
for some time by cunning artifices, He wrote a reply to the Khaliph, full
of excuses, saying that at the Daiwnl Bunder bands of thieves always
remained ; that these were the people at whose hands his (the Khaliph's)
servants had been maltreated, and that he had not sufficient strength to
eatch these men. The two spies discovered the condition of the eountry,
and troops, and, returning to Hujjaj, told him all they knew.

In the mean time Hujjaj had reeeived from the Khaliph a reply to his
petition. In this it was ordered as follows: “That he should send his
cousin Mahomed the son of Kasim to occupy Sind; that Hujjaj should
draw upon the royal treasury at Bagdad for the expenses of the army.”
In the space of one month Hujjaj had got ready a force of 15,000 men :
of these 6,000 were horse; 6,000 were on camels, and 3,000 were
footmen. These he sent towards Sind, and with them 30,000 Dirhams
for expenses, that, when necessary, it shonld be expended. This took
pl&ce in Hijree 92 (a. 0. 710). i

A Sovmmany or e Cmcvmsraxces or Ras Suvnsgmis, Tue Sofor
Sansee, Kixo or Avors,

Many historians write that Alofe was a very large city on the bank of
the Mihran (the Indus) ; that there wgre many very fine buildingsin it ;
that outside and around the town there were ggrdens full of trees,
having good frmit, and that everything was to be found there that the
inhabitants and travellers might desire. The name of the ruler of that
city and the surrounding country was Rais Suheeris, the son of Sahsee.
He was a good, just king. By hiskindness, all the men of consequence
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were obedient to him, the nobles and plebeianns were under his control.
‘he boundary of his country extended in an Easterly direction 1o Kash-
mere and Kanoge, to the West to Mukran and the sea side (Daiwul,
now called the Tatta and Luheree Bunder) ; to the Sonth to Surat and
Din Bunder ; to the North to Kandahar, Sejistan (Behwistan), the Sooli-
man Mountains, Karmania, and Keekanan. He divided this country
into four divisions: in each division he placed afriend as governor, and
he fixed upon Alore as his own place of residence. For a long time he
reigned over this country in such a manner, that no one was rebellious ;
all obeyed his orders.

Suddenly a large Persian force from the King Neemroz came to Kuch
and Mukran, by the way of Karmania. After looting those countries,
and taking many prisoners, they returned. When Soheeris heard of
this, he prepared a large army, and went to Kuch and Mukran, sending
word to King Neemroz, who, also getting ready, went to fight him. In
a few days they met, and fought from the morning till midday. At the
end, Neemroz was the conquergr. He defeated the Sind army. As
these were retreating, a Nawuk (a sort of arrow) struck Suheeris in the
neck, and he died. The army of Neemroz looted the enemy till mid-
night, when they proceeded to return. The Sind army, which was
dispersed that night, collected and went to Alore. When they got
there, they all agreed to place Rais Sahsee (the son of Subeeris) on the
throne. He gave great festivals, distributing in charity much gold and
pearls, He made no alteration in the mode of ruling the eonntry: he
governed with justice. He had a good disposition, treating all with
kindness : foll of mildness and humility, as he sat in judgment he
displayed these qualities. All his snbjects were very happy under his
rale. After he had reigned one year, he took his army for exercise, and
went to see the districts of his country. Wherever he found any dis-
obedient, he took them ont by the roots.

‘When he had satisfied himself with regard to the state of his couniry,
" came 10 Alore, and he and all his people lived very happily. :
nade four laws, relating to the country, and to property :—
st Law, on the Army.—*< To whom pay is due, he receives ital
« there must be no delay.”
wd Law, on the Ryuts — The proper rent which is fixed is
t by the Rynut in three instalments, without his being

ered to be excused paying duty on grain, and money, on condi~
that they build six forts—Alore, Sehwistan, Ooch, Mattehlath,
svrace.” ‘These were built of mud, and some of them are

for. 'The sign of his great-justice is this, that the Ryuts are

$
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v The third Law, on the Merchants.—% Whatever tax has been fixed on

tliese, they are to pay it to the eollector of 1nxes, without his asking
for 1t.M &
The fourth® Law, on the Trades.—* Whatever duty for the Sirkar is
imposed upon each of these, they have done it.”
Rais Sahsee hnd a Wozeer, by name Rais Ram, to whom he gave
the reins, placing eve , large and small, in his hands, - In all his

‘arrnngements he displayed such taet, that the most minate thing did not

escaipe him. On this acconnt, Rais Sahsee was at his caseé; spending .
his days and night= in the bedchamber of happiness, and passing his life
there. If at any time there were matférs of consequente, of if any
letters came from the ralers of the boundaries, then Rais Ram, going to
the door of the Harem, represented it.

One day Rais Ram had an assembly, at which many Bramins and

* men of genius were collected. In the mean time & very handsome,

clear-spoken, eloquent young man came in. Those who,composed the
assembly were astonished at the eloquence of his tongue. “Asking him
from whence be came, and what his name was, he said his nome was
Chuk, that his father's name was Seelaj (Seclaj was a Bramin of note
in that city). Rais Ram approved of his conversation, taking him into
companionship, giving him great presents; and he took him to assist him
in the affairs of the State. He was well versediin accounts, clever in *
speaking and writing the Hindee language. Day by day be attained
gieat knowledge in ‘the business of the country, and property, and. his
armngements in these were very good. His good fortune was so great,
that he conducted all the dnties of the Wuzeer; the name of Rais Ram-
stlone remained. Suddenly, Rais Ram was prostrated with sickness. At
that time Rais Sahsce gave a festival in his Harem : he was sitting
there very happy. In the mean time many letters came from Daiwul,
which, being very important, the Chobdars went and at once gave
to the king. He was unwilling to rise, so he gave orders for a curtal
to be plneed before the throne, and 10 summon Chuk. The quee
remarked that he (Chuk) was a Bramin—why have a curtain wi
it 3= better to have him as it is. Chuk approached iﬁ:
offering benedictions, and seattering praises. He then reac lette
which bad come, nnd _making known their contents, the king gave his
replies;  He (Chnk) then wrole such a letter, that on hiearing it the king
presented him with # valuable Ehiigggi:ing directions, that when any
business of importance occurred, lie shonld bring it into the Harem.
But from seeing him the queen had become distracted. Wishing to
have a meeting with him, she senta procuress io Chuk, nequainting
kim with her heart's desive. Héstood on the ground of denial, saying
he was a Bramin, and could not commit such perfidy, particularly in

¥

) SRR

1

_“.

?

LA o



X 10

the king's house, from which there was fear for his life, and the destruc-
tion of his family. But the god of love was strong in the breast of the
queen.  On this account happiness left her heart, and from unhappiness
she rolled about like & hali-killed bird. In a short time this matter was
known to every one. Some tale-bearers mentioned it to Rais Sahsee :

he replied that Chuk was a faithful Bramin, and would not commit

such an act. Inshort, matters remained in this way some time, Rais
Sahsee then became sick: many doctors did all in their power, but
without effect. The queen then saw that the king would die, so she
sent to call Chuk. When he came, she told him of the condition of
Rais Sahsee, and to get him (Chuk) named as vicegerent, formed this
stratagem : calling all the Chobdars, she told them that it was Rais
'Sahsee’s order that they shonld make it known 10 all, that there would
be a grand Durbar the following day, when all, great and small, must

be present.. On the morning of the next day, the queen gave orders that =

Rais Saheee's throne should be placed in the Hall of Audience, and it
was done as she directed. The Chobdars, being instructed by her, then
went and told the people that the king said, that in consequence of
weakness he was unable to come forth ; forthis reason he had put Chuk

in his place, having given to him the royal seal. Helpless, all the people
obeyed this order, and a few days nfterwards Rais Sahsee died. Then

" the Ranee, calling Chuk, said : “The time hns now come when we tan

be one; we must arrange to get rid of those who may not approve of this."”
Chuk replied that he was willing to do as she wished. The queen
said : « Rais Sahsee has no son, but there are many of his relations who

will lay claim to the heritage of his conntry and property : it is better

" 1o make arrangements before they do so.” She then instantly collected
. fifty chains, which she had placed in one of the rooms of the Harem.
She then sent word separately to each of the relations of consequence,
that Rais Sahsee was calling them to bequeath his country. Such of
these as eame, and went inside, were seized, and made secure with the

- i }fhnins Having done this, she gained confidence, and calling the more
~ humble relations, she said to them: #Those who were perverse towards

1 have in confinement; such of you as destroy any of them shall

k& Sics e i

" Gafriendly towards them ; the whole were destroyed. After this,  the
: falkm-hg day the queen had the coffin of Rais Sahsee taken out, and,
4 M to enstom, burnt his remains ; and Chok succeeded him as

"l 3 Pue pracins oF Cark ox TaE THRONE OF THE Kixapon, AND WIS

B :r.:."-“-. ‘-"ii‘-". " MagRiAGE WITH TaE QUEEN.

" M’?ﬂh with the concurrence of the Ameers, sat on the throne
- 5 e ¥

q‘z’?k 2

masters of their property.” They each killed such as had been
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of the kingdom, he opened the doors of the treasury, announcing to all
that largess would be given. He made the nobility and the mobility
rich, o these became his, obliged by favours; he inereased the pay of the
army, and he lowered the rents of the Rynts—on this aceount cultivation
increased. He married the queen nccording to the forms. When the
news of this went abroad through the country, the relations of Sahsee
about Jodhpoor and Jetpoor prepared to attack the country, to obtain
their heritage. They collected a large force, and made armngements for
fighting. The chief Sirdar of this army was Rana Muhurut. = 'When this
foree got near Jaisulmere, he (Rana Muhurut) wrote a letter to Chuk,
saying: “You are a Bramin, and not calculated to be a king; you will
not be able to fight: for you it is more fit that you go and sit in a
corner, and do not bring yourself into a field of batlle.” Chuk, taking
this letter to the queen, explained its contents to her, saying—*A very
strong enemy has come ; whatis youradvice ' The queen said—* Men
are best aequainted with the councils of war : if you are afraid, give
me your clothes, and you shall take mine ; then 1 will go 10 fight the
enemy.” Chuk, becoming ashamed, bent his head downwards, Al
that time the queen said : “ Great wealth and much hidden treasure
came to you; itis proper that yon now give it to the people, that they
may be your well-wishers, and all shall come beneath your crown.”"
Chuk, upon this, again opened the treasury, giving much money to the
troops, preparing them for war. He-also put in proper order a field of
battle. By this time Rana Muhurut approached Alore. Chuk, hear-
ing of this, took his army to the field of battle. The two armies fronted
each other. Then Rana Muhurut, raising his voice, exclaimed : i ()
Chuk! why do you bring this force to be destroyed ¥ The dispute is
between you and me ; it is better that we both come into the plain and
fight with each other : il you kill me, you will obtain your desire—all

who are with me shall become yours; if I am victorious, the country and =~

property shall be mine.” Chuk agreed to this—the foot of his bravery
was in front. Rana Muhurnt, advancing in front of his army, dis-
mounted from his horse. Chuk likewise got down from his hors
givilg orders to his stirrup-holder to bring his horse gently after m,.
When the two drew near each other, and were thinking of dra ing ﬁm
swords, at that moment the stirrup-holder brought up the horse, and
Chuk, quickly mounting, drew hig sword, and slew Rann Muohurnt—
with one blow his death came. The argy of Rana Muhurat, seeing this,
the thoughts of ffight entered their breasts, and they, fled” Chuk pur-
sued them, killing great numbers ; those who eseaped might be counted.
Chuk, returning that day, balted on the field of battle. The day
* following, the people of the city dressed up the town, and Chuk came
into Alore with great state. From that time he became the sole rulerof

o
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the kingdom, and property. That sume year, taking his army for exer-
cise, he visited the limits of his country. Sececing thatall was settled, he
beeame free from apprehension, and, coming to Alore, he remained there.
Chuk had two sons by the queen—one called Dalier, the other

Seyn. He hadalso a danghter by her. Some years after this, Chuk
folded up the earpet of his life, and his eldest son succeeded him.

Tug ascesping of Tne Tunoxg or ms Farnempy ms Sox Danenr. ®

When by universal assent Dalier sat on the legitimate throne of his
father, he followed the path of justice. hr giving much money to the
troops, and by protecting the Ryuts, he pleased them. All the people
of the country bowed their heads on hearing hisorders : they girded the
waist-belt of obedience around their Joins. When he had been on the
mhe year, Daher went to the east country. On the enstern boon-
d.n.qhe placed a man in whom he had confidence, and setting his mi
at ease, he went to Jetpoor. From thence he went 1o the ‘west, where
he did that which he had to do, and then he came to Braminabad,
stopping there some days, and leaving his younger brother, Daher
Seyn, the son of Chuk, as it= governor. He remiined six months on
its boundary, making fricndship with the Governor of Karmania. He
then returned towards Alore. When he drew near Alore, the great and

' small of the city eame in front to meet him, and to offer their congratu-
lations to him, on his retarn, They made their obeisances, and he
distributed largess amongst them, The Bramins and astrologers werne
present, and dizcovering the fortunate hour for the king to cnter the dity,

3 made it known to him, saying—* We have seen your fortune, and that

g of your brother, as also that of yonr sister : now, in the future fortnne

~ of you r brother there is no bad presage, but in that of your

- gister Bace Ra it appears that she will be the wife of the man who

' will be the king of this country, and this throne, and she (Bace Ranee)
will not go out of this city.” Rais Daher, on hearing this, became

~ much oppressed. In the end, he entered the city. Formany successive
days he held Durbars, and putting in order the affairs in the neighbour-
hood. of the throne, he became ar leisure ; but when the thorn of the

y o = agers’ word pricked his heart, he was unhappy. He again called

~ the astrologers, asking them the situations of the good and bad stars,
"~ and the fortanes of his sister and brother. 'I'he astrologers showed him

- "_tbpn‘ exact state by explanations, Rais Daber, all his father's ministers,

B w his men” of note, came before the astrologers, l#ying before them
- the carpet of inquiry, saying: “ It isa very difficnlt mgtter to part

_country and governmeat : to my understanding it wonld seem

t Tahonld take my sister in marriige—thus my government will re- *

@!.hlﬂlhlﬁl no dissensions will arise in the country."
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Immediately on hearing this, his relatives turned away their heads,
vehemently exclaiming, and calling out, saying—* Never go near io such
a desire, for by such means g spot will come upon our family ; the whole
waorld will curse and reproach ne; they will tarn us out of our religion,
and from under onr laws : besides, from this there will be such dissen-
siops in the whole country, that they will pever be allayed.” Rais
Daher did not approve of what they said. A few days aflter this, Rais
Daber, summoning his nobles, got them to be of his opinion, and then
they agreed to give his sister to bim in marringe. After this,on n
certain night, Rais Daher collected the Bramins seeretly in retirement,
and, aecording to the custom, he tied with a koot the comer of his sheet
10 the eorner of that of his sister ; they then both walked in acirele round
fire, and, nscending, sat on the throne. Rais Daher then drowing his
sword, he saw both their faces on the blade. He then gave away mneh
gold and pearls. 'They remained there the whole night, but there
was no eonsummation of the marriage. When the day broke, Bace
Ranee was taken 1o her house. When his brother Dalier Seyn, at
Braminabad, beard of what had taken place, he wrote a letter to him,
full of cursing and reproaches, saying : * I have heard that you have
committed this bud act; you have given the name of our family 1o
the winds,” Rais Daher wrote to him thus in reply: * To avoid the
predictions, this has been done by me ; if it had not been for these, I
would never have agreed to such a bad act” Daher Seyn wrote
another letter, saying—* Leave this business alone.” Rais Daher said
in reply—* It is impossible to turn our destiny by deliberation.” After
this, the enstom of writing letters was left alone, and the fire of enmity
began burning between them.  Daher Seyn placed the thoughts of fight-
ing with his brother before his mind. He prepared a large army, and
went with it townrds Alore. When this news reached Rais Daher, the =
sweat of his anger broke ont on his body : he collected a large foree,

prepared a battle-field, and looked for his coming. After waitin)
some days, he went to the jungle to hunt. Some days after this
Seyn approached Alore. He was anxious to get into the fort at one
bt the people of the city shut the gates, taking their fighting weapons
in their hands. Some men then went between, and induced Daher Seyn
to desist, showing him a place for his camp to the eastward of the lown.
They also senta man 1o Rais Daher, to give him the news of the
arrival of Daher Seyn ; on hearing which, Rais Daher left his bunting,
and quickly returning, reached the fort. 'The next morning, be had
prepared all the requisites for a feast and for a dwelling, sending them
to his brotlier by his men of consequence: Daher Seyn rejected these,
and sent them baek, turning his head from the agreement fo accept
them. In the afiernoon, his mother, and the nobles of the city, went
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to visit Daher Seyn, comforting him by counsel, saying: “ Sensunal
pleasures were not the intention of Rais Daher, but that he had adopted
this stratagem to escape from the imagination of misfortune, which the
artrologers had foretold in the fortune of Bace Rance. All approved
of this exeunse ; do you also agree to it, leaving the jungle of your
brother’s enmity, and turning your heart to obey his orders, as formerly.”
Daher Seyn agreed to what his mother and relations said, and on the
following day, mounted on an elephant, he went underneath the fort,
and standing opposite the palace of Rais Daher, made his Salaam, and
showed his respect for him. Rais Daher called him inside. Daher Seyn
replied, that he had sworn an oath never to enter his house, nor 10 sit
down with him, adding—*if you will come to me, and do me the
honour to sit by me, it will be kindness.”  Rais Daher was anxious to go

at onee to meet him, bot the time was unseasonable, so he determined

on the following day for the meeting. In the morning Rais Daher went
out with many people to meet his brother. When Daher Seyn heard of
his approach, he went forth to meet him in front, and when he was
close to him, he dismounted from his horse, and kissed his (Rais
Daher's) foot. Rais Daher also did such acts of kindness as are usnal
between brothers: getting off his horse, taking him in his embrace,
kissing him on the face and head, and taking his hand, went inside the
tent. They sat talking together for some time, laying open partienlar
subjects. In the afternoon Rais Daher returned to his house, and after
he had left, signs of fever were felt on the body of Daher Seyn. These
increased every minute to such an extent, that blisters came over his
whole body. On the fourth day he quitted the house of sickness, going
3 to that other country where sickness never comes. When the news of
 his brother's death reached Rais Daher, he became very sorrowful;
 and quickly getting up, hasted to the place where he was, sending
. messengers on in front, to find out the true news, and come and tell
him. When these arrived at the tents of Daher Seyn, they saw the
< ess with her head uncovered. The attendants took the messengers.

|

¥
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x: _Qm the curtain, and lifting the covering from off the face, displayed
e :?-*’-ﬂfmpsc Upon this, seeing he was dead, they cried ont ToudTy,
~ running to meet Rais Daher. Rais Daher, uncovering his head and feet,
e : entered the tent of his brother, and, lifting up his body, took it to the place
oI Ilitlpﬁlﬁﬂ’thu purpose of burning their dead, and there burned it. He
b rmed all the necessary mournings, and after these, he went to the
place of residence qfnﬂaher Seﬁ:, at Braminabad. Taking away with.
him all his (Daher Seyn’s) servants, and leaving those of I'Ljﬁ own in
o whom he had confidence, he retarned, and eame back to Alore,.
- I:il For many years he held the reins of government in his hands, with

e
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Tur Reuatios or tone Comquest ofF Sinp py AMEER IMAD-00D-DEEN
Manomep, TnE Son or Kasmt Buvree; axp tue Destrucrion oF
Rars Danen.

Kazee Ismael, the son of Ali, the son of Mnhomed, the son of
Moosu, the son of Taice, has written as follows of the history of Sind.
That in the Khaliphat of thé son of Abdool Mulik, Hujjaj, the
<on of Yoosool Sukfee, sent Mahomed the son of Haroon, with a body
of men, from Darul Islam (the Mansion of Islamism), Bagdad, to Mukran.
This force took all the country around Mukran, and about the sea side.
It wasalso their intention to take Sind. On this account, they were
always inquiring about the people of that country; and those people
who had formerly come from Bagdad to buy slaves, and other things,
and who had escaped, as I have previonsly mentioned, these were with
them ; they were their guides. Inshort, in the year Hijree 92 (4. p.
710), Mahomed the son of Kasim (the cousin of Yoosoof, and the son-
in-law of Hujjaj) left Bagdad with a very fine army, to take revenge on
Sind. He came to Karmania, where he halted a short time, to prepare
the arms, set the army in order, and get ready the implements for opening
forts. He then came to Kuch and Mukran, From thence he intended
to take Sind. When the news of the approach of the Mahomedan
foree reached Rais Daher, he proposed to go to the borders of Mukran
to fight them. His nobles said : “ This is an Arab force ; they have
come on account of the enemies of their religion : it is right to be patient.
If they make excursions here and there, and in this way leave our
country, it will be good ; if not, we must deliberate, and it will be neces-
sary to give them much money from the treasury, to save our country
from their mischief.” Rais Daher approved of thisadvice, deferring his
march until they (the encmy) came to Neernnkot,* where they set a
light to the war, surronnding the fort, and after mueh fighting they were

victorions, slaying many Kafirs, The remains of the sword fled, turning

Ant

their heads to Alore. The Mahomedan armies, with victory, turned

the bridle of their intentions to take Tatta. Ina short time they sub-
jectsd Tatta, and taking out the Musnlman prisoners, sent them to

Hi]ﬂ {-ﬁmhlﬂ}. From thence, Pmpﬂﬂiﬂg to go mlhﬂrﬂj’ll e

Alore (Darul Moolk Alore), they came to Sehwistan, where there was so
much fighting that it is not possible to deseribe it. In short, the Kafirs
were the victors in two battles; but in the third fight the wind of vietory
struck the tassels of the Mahomedan® fige, and the Kafim, being over-
come, fled. Mahomed Kasim, after taking the fort ¢f Sehwistan, made

* When xmmmu-_— rebuilt by Mynn Goolam Shab, the son of
Myan Noor Mahomed Ablasee, in the year Hijree 118D (A, p. 1766}, and be gase it the
name of Hyderabad.—Translator,
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arrangements for the surrounding conntry. He sent Boodlimum, Wazeer,
(who had asked for, and received quarter {rom, the forees of Islam,) with
some of his own people, to Tatta, and Neerunkot, placing in his hands
all the matters of those conntries,

The men of Chinnh, hearing the news of the forees of Islam, brought
great and fitting presents for, and met Mahomed Kasim; and having
agreed to obey his orders; and to pay tribute, they were given their leave,
and went away. This is the reason why the theologians of [slamisin
ealled the eduntry on that side of the river, which was in the hands of the
Chinuhs, & Du-thme {the land which pays one-tenth as yearly tribute).

5

A Dmx:nmn or wioes Mamouwen s Sox op Kmu Was IN THE
Provisce or SERWISTAN.

The men of Chinuh sent 2 man as a epy to the army of Mahomed

Kasim. He arrived at the foree at the time of the summons to prayer.

He was noticing the condition of the troops. At thet time the congre-

gation was drawn up in lines for prayers, and Mahomed Kasim was
conducting the duties of ehiel priest; the imitators were all following

the motions of the ehiel priest.  The spy, =eeing this occurrence, returned,

and, explaining to the men of Chinnh, said—*By the oath of God! 1

have seen those people so nnited, that to whatever business they turn their
. heads, they will assuredly aceomplish it.”" He also told them the eir- |

- enmstance of the imitation of the priest by the people at prayers. On

hearing this, the Chinuh people had a wish to go to them ; so they came,

and submitted 1o the orders of Tslamism. Of the people of Sind, the

v first 1o become Musulmans were the Chinuhs. It is said, that when
= the Chingh people came 1o submit to Mahomed the son of Kasim,
!“’ . WI trays full of vietuals as a banquet for Mahomed Kasim.
~ Hesaid: “These people provided for” (Murzoog). On this account

:ﬁf__.-, the Chinuhs are ealled Murzoog.

LR When Mahomed Kasim  had mnmplmhcd the conguest of the
;%r  province of Sehwistan, some people said that he should now go 10 Bra-

~ minabad (now this is called Bramin, or Bahna-ka-Thool), mw

3 i"m:-ummmg that fort he should proceed to Alore. Mahomed Kfsim
do=ad] w;-ﬁnt it was better first to go to take Alore, and, after overthrowing
'. ~ Rais Daher, then 4o proceed to take other countries. All approved of
_ rfa.—pm ‘they F"md the river opposite to Tululitee, and marched to-
. wards Alore.

i—i’l‘.. - When Rai§ Daher heard of this, he made preparations to mareh Enrlh )
'- " Phen tie astrologers and magicians collecting, went to him, and
~ explained, “ that from the appearance of the stars, itappears your destiny

*Wﬂwi‘&wuh, and the strength of the Tortnne of Islam is in the ascend-

W#m hnﬂpmpcriurjuulugn[mtb," Thnnhiu
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Daher, preparing many troops, sent them in front of the forces of Islam.
They halted on the bank of the Knchhuree Kolab (lake). The following
day Mahomed Kasim, at Bufyan, gave orders to Abdoola the son of
Ali Sugfee to go to fight the Kafirs. Abdoola, agreeably to orders,
went against the Kafirs. The two armies met on the banks of Kuch-
huree, and the fire of baitle commenced burning between them. In
short, there was much fighting, after which the Kafirsran away. Of them
many men died in the waters of death.

Some historians say, that the reason why the Kafirs fled from ﬂu-.
battle is this, that in the middle of the fight the commander of their
army lost his presence of mind—the reins of his will left his hands, In
stich a state, his horse threw him on the ground, and mn amongst the
troops. The men of the army, secing the horse withont his ﬁdq;r,
thonght that he had been killed. On this account, leaving the fight,
they turned their heads in the direction of the jungle of Hight. In short,
Abdoola returned to Mahomed Kasim with victory. After this,
Mahomed Kasim, leaving that place by suceessive marches, withont
halting (Billa Fusul), drew near Alore. Rais Daher retired into the
fort with fear., Mahomed the son of Kasim did what wans neces-
sary for the investment of the fort. He brought into play the bat-
tering rams (Munjneeg), and he threw fire in the manner the Musulmans
had seen it in done in Turkey and Persin. On both sides there was
constant fighting, so muoch so, that in ten days there were seven battles,
In all these battles, the breeze of victory strock the flags of Islam, and
the Kafirs, discomfited, ran awny. On Thursday, the 10th day of Rumzan,
in the year Hijree 93 (a. ». 711), Rais Daher, having prepared all his
elephants, and all his forces, went forth to battle against the Maho-
medans. [t is said that 10,000 men in armour were with him, and
30,000 footmen : these were in front.  Rais Daher sat in a litter with a
eanopy on an elephant, wearing on his head a crown, covered with gold.
He placed his troops on his right and left hand, and the foot of his.
cotrage advanced into the plain. In his litter there were two femule
slaves of great beauty with him: one of these handed him mlpu of whu,
thewther helped him with Pan.

"The battle raged from the morning till the evening: then ‘the Musul-
mans, fixing their feet firm on the ground, and drawing their blood-
drinking swords from the scabbard of revenge, slew many Kafirs.

Mahomed Kasim, with his fefocious spirit, taking a body of men,
went against the troops in front of*tifk *elephants, drivmg them away.
At that time, a few Mosulmans in the rear threw rockets in theedirection
of the litters on the elephants. When the fire began to ignite the litters,
the elephants, breaking their renks, fled towards the water. When
they got near it, there was mud, in which Rais Daher's elephant sat

3
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down. At thistime, the Musulmans were shooting arrows, and of these
one arrow struck Rais Daher in the throat. The bird of his life, being
freed from the eage of his body, flew away. This took place at that
time when the sun had set. When Rais Daher was dead, those Bramins
who were in the litters on the elephants behind him took him ont of his
seat, and hid himin the mud, and then they fled towards the city. But
the Mnsulmans had so securely guarded the approaches to it, that, il a
bird had wished to go there, it could not have done so. Thus these
Bramins were endeavouring to pass, when by chance they fell into the
hands of Kais, who secured them. Kais intended to kill them, bat they
begged for quarter, giving intelligence of the death of Rais Daher; so
he gave them quarter.

At that time, some people of the force bronght the two slaves who
were in the litter with Rais Daher to Mahomed Kasim. On seeing
them, it came into his mind that Rais Daher had escaped.  With this
idea, he gave orders to have it proclaimed to the troops, that % Rais Daher
thie acoursed had got away, and that it was not known that he was dead :
therefore that by no means they (the troops) should occupy themselves
in plundering, lest he comes and takes us by surprise.” At the time
of  hearing this proclamation, Kais took the Bramins to Mahomed
Kasim. When he lieard their news, he said—* God is great!” (Allah-
ho<Akbar.) On the troops hearing this, the exclamations of those who
fight aguinst the infidels reached the heavens. Mahomed Knsim,
taking a few brave men, went with the Bramins to near the water. He
ordered the body to be taken out, and when it was tnken ont, he had the
head cut off, and placed it on the point of a spear. He first showed it
e 1o the slaves, who, recognising it, said it was the head of Rais Daher.
 Mahomed Kasim gave orders to his forces to stop all around the fort,
~ and it being the night of Friday, the men of the army kept awnke,
- spending it in prayer, and calling upon God.

.~ Whenit was momning, Mahomed Kasim sent the head of Rais Daher,
~ with the two slave girls, in front of the gate of the fort, the people of
~ which, seeing it, denied it.  When the news reached the ears of Rais
~ Daher's wife Ladhee, she instantly ran to the gute, and asked the sfives
~ vonferning Rais Daher. These, weeping, pointed out his head, on
 seeing which she threw hersell off from the gatewny. There was then
 great lamentation through the fort, and the Kafirs, being helpless, opened
o the gates. X
. Onthatday; which was Friday, the 11th of Rumzan, the Mahomedan

G ~army enfered this fort ; and Mahomed Kasim took possession of the
i treasure, and all the hidden wealth ; the army and servants giving them
~ in charge to Kais. i &

Wi i -l

_of a temple the Musulmans nudmn pulpit, a
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sermon was read, and then prayers. In the beginning of Shuwal,
Mahomed Kasim took an inventory (written) of the treasure, and pro-
perty of all sorts, also of the prisoners, and sent the whole in charge
of Kais, with 200 horsemen, by the way of Kuch and Mukran, to Darul
Islam (Bagdad). Hujjaj, hearing of this, was exceedingly happy, and
he sent everything on to the Khaliph in Syria. When Kais reached the
Khaliph, and gave him the news about Rais Daher, and all coneerning
the fights and victories, separately, he became very hnppy, and presented
him with a sumptuons Khilat, and a valuable present for Mahomed
Knsim; and he wrote him a Firman, saying: “It is not proper for the
armies of Islam to be content with the conquest of Bind alope ; they
must now proceed to the countries to the east. Itis necessary for you
to take possession of all the territory held by Rais Daher.” When this
Firman reached Mahomed Kasim, he marched to Braminabad, and,
conquering it, he settled the taxes of the people of Sind.

The Bramins he placed, as before, in charge of the revennes, and
appointed them to listen to suits of law.

The Summah people, who resided about Loharee, collected, and came
to Mahomed Kasim, with drmms beating, and blowing horns. e,
inquiring who these were, was told by the Bramins that they were a
tribe of the country, and that it was customary with them, on appronch-
ing the ruler, to go in this way. Mahomed Kasim, fixing a seitlement
for them, gave them their leave.

Then the Lobarees, the Suhtnhs, the Chundars, the Machees, the
Halas, the Ghorachas, also came bare-headed and bare-footed, through
the introdnction of Abee, the son of Abdoor Rayman, Sulileetee, tv
Mahomed Kasim, for safety. He gave them protection, issuing orders,
that upon these people should rest this business, # that whenever any
Musulman went from this to the residence of the Khaliph, or when any
shonld come from thence to Alore, these should show them the road.”

In the beginning of the year Hijree 94 (. p. 712), the sons of Rais
Daher collected some men in the fort of Sckunder (this was a strong
fort), and from this they looted the villages of Sind. When this news
resshed Mahomed Kasim, he went there, surrounding the fori
After some time, there was great distress from a scarcity of provi®ions ;
there was nothing fo be got to eat but flesh alone. Mahomed Kasim
then sent a good man to the sons of Rais Daber, telling him to say,
that if they wished for his friendship, he would give it to them. They
sent back for answer that they wefe céain that Rais Daher was still
alive, and that they expected he wonld shorﬂ]r'mmz with an Army from
Hindoostan to takc his revenge. When Mahomed Kasim heard tlus,
he ordered the wife of Rais Dalfer to be brought from Alore to her sons,
when this absurd idea would leave them. She was brought, and sent

o
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in front of, and close to the gate. The garrizon got on the walls ; when
the wife of Rais Daher told them all the cirenmstances of the fight, and
of the death of Rais Daher, also of that of the Sirdars, separately. She
then wept. The people, saying she spoke false, commenced throwing
stones and mud at her, declaring she was in leagne with the enemy,
and not worthy of credit. She was then taken away.

In o short space, by the battering rams and other implements for
breaking down walls, this fort was conqgnered. Mahomed Kasim
destroyed numbers of the Kafirs; some few of them came under the rules
of Tslamism. Much money and other things fell into the hands= of the
Mahomedans. There was in the fort a large temple, which they
destroyed : from it they obtained great riches, which Mahomed Kasim
put on one side for the Khaliph, and one-fifth of all the prize he took
and spent in building Musjids ; then he returned to Alore.

In the beginning of the 3rd month of the year Hijree 94 (a.p. 712), he
made Ahnuf, the son of Kais Ussundee, Governor of Alore, and, leaving
him there, he himself tarned his face to tnke Mooltan; the leading men
of which, hearing of his approach, went to the front to meet him ;
and getting an interview, he executed a treaty with, and arranged what
atticles of produce and merchandize should be paid by them yearly
o the State. He left this, placing Dacod, the son of Nusseer, the
«on of Ummanee, as governor of it. He also placed Huzeen, the son
of Abdool Mulik Bunee Tumeem, as governor at the fort of Burum-
poor, on the bank of the water of Jhelum (this fort is also called
Shiewpoor).

When Mahomed Kasim marched from Mooltan to go to Delhalpoor,
50,000 men, horse and foot, were under his standard. To whatever
country he went, he fixed a force there. In this manner he carried the
armies of Islam as far as Kanoge. The Rajas and Hakeems in all that
space came under the orders of Islam, agreeing to pay yearly tribute in
money and produce, and to convey it to Darnl Islam. Mahomed Kasim,
having quieted his mind, by placing men of confidence and troops,in
all places of importance, turned homewards. At that time a letter

came, written agreeably to the order of the Khaliph Wulleed, 15 this

effect :—
« After taking Alore, you gent two daughters of Rais Daher, and some

_prisoners, in charge of Mahomed the sgn of Ali Tohman, Humdanee, with

: :.'. ‘Bppdes servanls, to Darnl El}_a],i.p]}at. The Khaliph called these two

~‘wisters to the Harem one night, and gave them in charge of the eunuchs,
‘lﬁl l]'lln:jrt might pay them attention. ‘They were to produce them when
they had recovered from the toils of travel. Two months afterwards,
'Ilwrm produced before the Khaliph, and an interpreter attended.
- The 1wo sisters threw back their veils, and the Khaliph, on seeing them,

= Vy =% _
P 'Mﬁh’h...

E:
o
3
i

& ™



21

became distracted with their great beauty. He then asked them their
names. One said her name was Purmul Dewe, the other said her's was
Sooruj Dewe. The Khaliph ordered the attendants to leave one of them
there. Then she, rising, said : * We are not fit for the bed-chamber of the
Khaliph, becanse Mahomed Kasim placed both of ns by himself for
three days, and he afterwards sent us to the Khaliph.' "

The interpreter explaining this, the fire of anger was lighted in the
body of the Khaliph, who gave orders, that as apunishment for this want
of respeet, Mahomed Kasim should wrap himself up in the raw hide
of an ox, and be present at Darul Kaliphat. To show his great anger, and
by way of intimidation, the Khaliph wrote in the margin of this letter in
his own hand, that © Whenever this reaches Mahomed Kasim, he is to
come from thence to Darul Khaliphat, wrapped in the hide of a cow.
There is to be no delay in obeying this order.”

At that time Mahomed Kasim was at Qodeypoor. When the
Chobdar brought this letter (Firman), Mahomed Kasim, on reading it,
to obey the ordersit contained, said to the Chobdar :—* That which you
have been directed to do; doit. He wrapped Mahomed Kasim ina
raw hide, and departed. Three days afterwards the bird of his life left
his body, flyingto heaven. The Chobdar, seeing this, put the body into
a box, taking it to Darul Khaliphat. He arrived there on a Durbar day,
and took the box to the Khaliph, who, seeing it, inquired if be were alive
or dead. The Chobdar replied, that he had wrapped him in a raw skin,
but three days afterwards he died. The Khaliph then directed the box
1o be taken into the Harem, and that it should be opened in his presence,
The Khaliph went to the Harem, and ealling the danghters of Rais
Daher, said, come and see how penetrating my orders are; come and
see Mahomed Kasim. They both went forward, and, looking at,
recognised him. Offering great praises to the Khaliph, they said :—
& Kings of great justice should notdo great thingsin a hurry ; they should
ot nse that which is told them by their enemies.” The Khaliph asked
what was the meaning of this. They replied :—* We raised this saspi-
cion agninst Mahomed Kasim in enmity to him, because our father
wi killed at his hands : country and wealth have departed from our
father's house, and we have come as prisoners to the land of trav®llers.
The king, in his anger, did not weigh our words, he did not distinguish
between our truth and our falsehood, and issued such an order. The
trath is, this man was to us as a father or a brother ; his perfidious hand
never touched the skirts of our pﬁrifj‘! it was in our Neart to revenge
our father; on this account we raised this suspicion upon him. Our
wishes have been fulfilled, butin the house of judgment of the king
there is great sorrow.” >

When the Kahliph heard this, forone hour his hiead wasin the pocket
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of repentance ; then the fire of anger became alight in his breast. He
gave orders—the two girls were tied to the tails of two horses, and after
having been dragged ronnd the city, they were thrown into the Dijlah
(the Tigris).

Mahomed Kasim was buaried at Damasens. It is said, that two
years after the death of Mahomed Kasim, the people of all the
countries he had conquered refused to obey orders; only those from
Daibulpoor to the salt sea remained under the hands of the agents of the
Khaliph. L

In the year Hijree 96 (a. p. 714), Khaliph Wulleed went 1o the country
of heaven, and his snccessor, Sooliman the son of Wulleed, sat on the
throne of the Khaliphat. He sent Ahmir the son of Abdoola as the Go-
vernor of Sind.

Aftor the death of Sooliman, Murwan the son of Mahomed, whose
title was Kadir Billah (the Strong by the power ol God), succeeded
to the Khaliphat. He sent Abdool Khuttab to take the government of
Sind.

In the year Hijree 133 (a. p. 750) Abdoola the son of Mahomed, the
son of Ali; the son of Abdoola, the son of Abbas (commonly ealled Sifah),
having taken the Khaliphat from the Khaliph of the Banee Oomaiyuh,
became the first Khaliph of the Bunee Abbasce. He sent a force from
Daral Khaliphat to Sind, which drove the agenits of the Bunee Oomaiyuh
out from that country.

Four years after this Junfur Munsoor Abbusee sent an army to
Hindoostan ; and in the year Hijree 170 (a. v. 756) the Khaliph Haroon
Reshid, the son of Muhdee, sent Abool Abbas to govern Sind, who
stayed there a long time. ~

—
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CHAPTER IL

A RECITAL OF THOSE KINGS WHO, AFTER THE GOVERN-
MENT OF THE AGENTS OF THE KHALIPHS OF BUNEE
ABBAS, RULED THE COUNTRY OF SIND.

The historians have written, that after the monarchy of all of the
denomination Bunee Oomaiyuh, the agents of the Khaliphs of Bunee
Abbas, having come to Sind and Mooltan, held the government in the
time of the Khaliphs Hurroom and Mamoon. A portion of the country
of Hindoostan eame into the hands of their agents.

At the termination of the rule of the agents of the Khaliphs of Bunee
Abbas, eame the time of the Khaliphat of Kadir Billah Abuol Abbas
Ahmed, the son of Ishay, the son of Mooytedir Billah.

In the middle of the month of Rumzan, in the year Hijree 410 (a. ».
1019), Sooltan Mahomed Gazee left his seat of government, G huznee,
to take Hindoostan. On reaching Mooltan, he took i1, alse Du-ch
dismissing the agent of Kadir Billah. He appointed the Whuzeer,
Abdoor Ruzay, to take a force to conquer Bind. In the year Hijree 417
(4. v. 1026), he (the Wuzeer) had arranged everything at Bukkur, and
departed for Sehwistan and Tatta, from whenece he sent AWNLY many
Arabs. Those who had families, and those of learning, he placed in the
law offices, and having done this, he settled their rtes of pay.

When, in the year 422 (a. p. 1030), Soojtan Mahomed Gazee died,
his son Sooltan Musnood, brought up in the ways of God, sat on the

throne of Ghnzoee. He took into his hands all the bereditary
possessions of his father, as well as Hindoostan and Sind. The people

conveyed to Ghuznee the yearly tribute of produce and prupﬂ_lg,-ﬂﬁ_;’ih --
had been laid upon them, as by custom. When, in the year 433 (a. p.
1041}, he left this transitory world, and tarned his face to the world of
life; his son, Sooltan Mondood, adorned the throne of the h.ngﬂnm, by
sitting upon it. He took into his hands all the hereditary possessions.
In the year 441 (a. . 1049), turning his face to the world of {uturity,
Sooltan Mujdood succeeded higp, who held all the hercditary lands.
When the angel of death songht Jo Inh: his life, lhen at Lahore, the
apparatus of his being was taken to hnuﬂ:n

After him, the turn of sovercignty came to Khoosruwi Moolk (he was
of the family of the Kings of Ghuznee). The cup of prosperity remained
with him for a long time ; till the year Hijree 583 (a. 0. 1157,) when
Sooltan Ghuyas-ood-deen Ghoree came to Lahore with conquest, and,

"
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taking prisoner Khoosruwi Moolk, sent him to be confined at Ghuznee.

After this, if any of the family of the Kings of Ghuznee came into the
hands of Ghoree, he gave them to drink the sherbet of death.

Ax Accoust oF TaE SoortaN Suvaas-oon-pEex Mamomen, Tue Sox or
Bam Gnoree.

After Sooltan Ghuyas-ood-deen had turned his face from Hindoostan,
and reached Khorasan in the year Hijree 599 (a. p. 1202,) he died at
Herat. He was buried in the tomb which had been made for him in
the Jooma Musjid of that eity.

In this good garden, two doors are placed. These two doors are
not closed. You come in at one door of the garden, and you go out at
the other door.

In the year Hijree 591 (a. n. 1194), Sooltan Shnhab-ood-deen (the
brother of Ghnyas-ood-deen) came to Hindoostan with an army, as the
vicegerent of his brother, He took Mooltan and Ooch, and he sent a
foree, nnder Kooth-ood-deen Abeek, to tnke Sind, who, having in three
months taken possession of all that country, and leaving Sasfool Muloog
there, he went towards Delhi. Shohab-ood-deen was at that time
marching gently from Mooltan to Hindoostan. He took all the forts and
cities as far as Delhi (the seatof the government of Hindoostan), which
he conquered, and from that date Delhi became the royal residence.

Shuhab-ood-deen, appointing Kootub-ood-deen as his suecessor, went
to Khorasan. In the mean time, the news of the death of his brother
Sooltan Muz-ood-deen reached him. At hearing this he was very
sorry, and at once pushed on. After reaching Ghuznee, he issued

orders toall his troops to prepare everything requisite for three years, to

2o to Toorkistan. He then heard that a body of men of the Khokar tribe

was on the road of violence near Lahore. Thinking it best to root these
out, he marched in that direction, and after killing numbers of them, as
he was on his return, he fell a martyr to the knife of one of the Khokur
robbers, at Doomyuk encampment.

Shuhab-ood-deen, the king of earth and water—from the beginning no
one hwd been like him !'—he fell o martyr on the 3rd of Shuban™602
(a. . 120.5] It oceurred at Camp Doomyuk, on the Ghuznee road.

His reign to the time of his death was thirty-two years and some
‘months. He only left one daughteras his heiress. It is said that he
'Iud collected vast treasures of goId silver, and precious stones.  Of this
* there were five hundred maunds nf diamonds, the most valuable of all
ﬁnﬂ—fmm this may be inferred the quantity of other treasure. He

» to Hindoostan nine times : he was beaten twice, the other times
llrwimmnm He was a just king, fearing God, kind to the people,
gh‘lng hhowlnth&hﬂneﬁmdgmd,md fullo[chnnty
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Ax Accornt or Svrran Koors-oon-pEeN ABEER.

Sualtan Shahab-ood-deen, leaving Kootb-ood-deen Abeek in his
place at Delhi, marched towards Khorasan. On the news of his death
reaching Kootb-ood-deen, he raised the royal standard, and read his
own name in the sermon (Khootbah). From that date he was styled
Sultan Kootb-ood-deen. The whole country of Hindoostan and Sind
came into his hands, and thus they remained until the year Hijree 607
{a. p. 1210), in which year, at Lahore, he was engaged in games on
horseback in the plain, when, being thrown from his horse, the ready
maoney of his life was won by death.  For four years his name was read
in the sermon.

Ax Account or Aram Smam, Tig Sox or Koors-000-pEENX ADEEEK.

After the death of his father, at the suggestion of the Ameers, Aram
Shah ascended the throne of Delhi; but on account of his want of ability,
he did not find ease (Arzin) on the throne of royalty. The Ameers,
seeing that he was not fit to govern the kingdom, sent a man to Sultan
Shums-ood-deen Elthemis, to summon him, and having called him to
Delhi, they gave the kingdom to him. At that time all the countries
of Hindoostan became divided into four shares :—

Sultan Shums-ood-deen Elthemis took the seat of government, Delhi.

Ooch, Mooltan, and Sind came into the hands of Nasir-ood-deen
Kebachuh.

Luknootee® went nnder the role of the Kings of Khuluge.

The agents of Taj-ood-deen Yulzur took possession of Lahore and its
districts,

Mulik Nasir-ood-deen Kebachuh was from among the pnrchased
slaves of Snltan Shnbab-ood-deen; but his wisdom and knowledge

were great. He was well acquainted with the duties of kings, and =
versed in the matters of the country : on this acconnt, after the deathof

Shuhab-ood-deen, being fixed firmly in Ooch and Mooltan, he wok
possgssion of Sind.

In the year 621 (a. n. 1224), a Sirdar brought a foree from ﬂnﬁgm::
or Jinghez Khan to fight against Nasir-ood-deen, who, nothaving strength
to meet this force, on this account he sat down in the fort of Mooltan,
which the enemy surrounded. 'Bhus matters remained for forty days.
Mulik Nasir-ood-deen having openad Jdhg doors of his treasury, gave
money to all; and, with them, showing opposition @ the enemy, they
retrented without gaining a victory.

When Nasir-ood-deen took pgossession of Sind, many Sirdars of

* The seat of government in Dengal.—Translator,
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Khorasan, Ghore, and Ghuznee, on account of the oppression of Gungeez
Khan, came to him, to all of whom he gave great honour, and money.

In the year 623 (a. p. 1226), Mulik Khan Kailchee and his brethren
came aguinst Sehwistan. Mulik Nasir-cod-deen Kebachuh marching
against these, there was a great battle between them, in which Mulik
Khan was slain,

As the time drew near for the termination of the Sultan of Mulik -
Nasir-ood-deen Kebachuh, in the year 624 (a. ». 1226), Sultan Shums-
ood-deen Elthemis himself marched an army against Ooch, but Nasir- =
ood-deen ran away, and got into the fort of Bukkur. On hearing of
this, Sultan Shums-ood-deen ordered his Wuzeer Nizam-ool-Moolk %
Mahomed, the =on of Usu-nd, to besiege Ooch, and he himself went
to Delhi. - "

On Tuesday the 26th day of Jumadee-ool-Awul, in the year Hijree 625
(a. . 1227), Nizam-ool-Moolk entered Ooch withont opposition. He
then went towards Bukkur, hearing of which, Mulik Nasir-ood-deen:
Kebachuh, getting on board a boat, fled. When he reached the ocean,
the boat of his life fell into the whirpools of death. =

Ax AccousT oF SuLTax Suvms-oon-pEEs Eurineuis.

When, in the year 624 (a. . 1226), Wuzeer Nizam-ool-Moolk came.
to Sind by order of Sultan Shums-ood-deen, he made such arrange-
ments for the country as were necessary. He took great pains to
people cities, and to do good to the Ryuts. Inthe year 630 (a. p. 1242),
having placed Noor-ood-deen Mahomed in the government of the
country, he returned to Delhi. On Monday the 26th of Shaban, in the
year 633 (a. p. 1235), Sultan Shums-ood-deen, at Delhi, turned his face

Ax Accouxt oF Surran Musoon Snan.

When Sultan Muscod, the son of Rookn-ood-deen Pheroz Shah, the -
son of Sultan Shums-ood-deen Elthemis, in the year 639 (a. v. 1241),
sat upon the throne of Delhi, he took possession of all hereditary

of the Mogul armies having crossed the river of Sind, and surrounded

_Ooch, reached Delhi. Musood Shah went forth against his enemies.
" The Moguls, hearing of this, broke np from Ooch, and taking the way
" of Bukkur, retreated to Khorasan. Sultan Musood Shah came 0
" Bukkur, and removing Noorbod-deen Mahomed from the government
\Lof Sind; gave it to Julal-ood-deen Husun, and from thence he marched

towards Delhi. When he arrived at Moolian, some young men,

- .. : j.ﬁﬁhludm drinking wine, found their way into his assemblies. These
~ talked of the pleasures of drinking; and he, who was always in the

a2
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_eountries. One day, in the month of Sufur 643 (a. p. 1245), the news
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habit of indulging, from what these said drank more. On this account,
dissensions arose in his country. Then the Ameers, seeing this, sent a
Kosid secretly to his uncle, Sultan Nasir-pod-deen Mahomed, who
was at Buhmiyuch, inviting him to come. Sultan Nasir-ood-deen,
with all speed, proceeded to Delhi, and having nscended the throne on
Sunday the 23rd day of Mohurrum, in the year Hijree 644 (a. n. 1248),
he seized and confined Musood Shah, whose remaining days of life
were spent in prison.

Ax Accoust of Svitax Nasir-oop-pEny Mamouen, Tas Sox or
Sviraxy Suvms-cop-peex Eureesms.

On Tuesday the 25th of Moharrum, 644 (a. n. 1246), Nasir-ood.deen
ascended the throne of the kingdom of Delhi, in the Knsre Pherozuh.
For many years he ruled with great power. On Monday the 22nd
Shuwal, 649 (a. p. 1251), he marched with the intention of going
towanrds Lahore, Mooltan, Ooch, and Bukkur. When he left Ooch,
and entered Sind, he appointed Kulugh Khan to the district of Sehwistan,
and Mulik Sunjur to Ooch and Mooltan; he himself returned to Delhi.
He then proposed going to the country of Luknootee; but the Ameers
were averse to his proceeding in that direction : therefore a foree under
Maulik Julal-ood-deen was sent there, to punish the breakers of the law.
In the latter months of 656 (a. p. 1258), a Mogul force came towards
Ooch and Mooltan. The king, hearing of this, marched from Delhi to
expel them, but the Mogul army went away without fighting. The
Sultan then returned back again. It is said that Sultan Nasir-ood-
deen wrote with his own hand two Korans every year. The money
realized by their sale he expended on his food. Besides this, he did not
spend any other money on his food. At one time, this incident occur-
red : the king, having written a Koran, an Ameer on this account gave
more money for it than the usual price. The king was displeased on
hearing of this, and he gave orders to his servants, that from that time,
the Korans which were written by him should be sold without making
this known, and that nothing above the usual price should be taken for
thef. Tt is also said, that in the royal palace there were no female
slaves, or any female domesties’ for his wife, who always cookeq the
king’s bread with her own hatids. One day she said to the king, that
there would be nothing wrong if pne female slave was brought to cook
the food. He reflied that the public revenne was the right of God’s
poor and humible, that it wonld not be Becoming in him®o expend any
of it in buying female slaves, and that if she (the queen) wduld have
patience, the Almighty would reward her after death,

% The world is a'dream in ffont of open eyes ; with such a dream
the hearts of the good will not mingle !”
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In the year 663 (4. p. 1264), Sultan Nasir-ood-deen became sick, and
on the 11th Jumadeg-ool-Awul, 664 (a.p. 1265), from this world he
went to the other world. He had no offspring. He reigned ninetcen
years, three months, and some days.

Ax Accoust or Sruvraw Guuvas-oop-peexy Baunow,

This king was from among the bought Chihulganee slaves of Sultan
Shums-ood-deen Elthemis. Afler the death of Sultan Nasir-ood-deen,
in the year 664 (a. p. 1265), he ascended the throne of Dehli. He
conducted the affairs of state in a way similar to foreign kings. He
brought into his hands all the country that Sultan Shums-ood-deen had
held; he spread the carpet of justice, giving justice according to
Mahomedan law. He fixed the orders of government fo securely,
that no one could move them. In a short time all his country became
flonrishing; on the highways there was no fear; the sepoys and Ryuts
lived happily. He was a very good king, 'With great honour, he was ]
sirong in experience, and he did everything well.

How good a thingis wisdom! Oh God! do not deprive this world of it-

At the commencement of his reign, he gave Lahore, Mooltan, and

Sind, in charge of his son, Sultan Mahomed, whose heart was much

given to mix with religious men. On this account he always visited
Shaikh Buha-ood-deen Zukreeya, and Shaikh Fureed-ood-deen Gunj
Shukur. He was a most valiant man; his disposition was bountiful; he
was the friend of the wise, such as Ameer Khusrow, and Ameer Husun,
inhabitants of Delhi. These two men were always present in his service,
They received pay and presents in the rank of courtiers.  The Sultan
greatly approved of their poetry and prose. Soltan Mahomed was so
‘well bred, that if he sat the entire day and night in the assembly, he
would not raise one leg above the other. His outh was, ¥ By God !"
(Hukka!) His heart was always upon the priests and men of learning.
It is said that Shaikh Oocsman Murwundee was among the priests of
Sind. He went to Mooltan, when the Sultan showed him great
respect, making him an offering. He asked him to settle in Mooltan ; to
this the priest would not agree, =
1t"is related that one night Shaikh Oosman, and Bhaikh Sudr-ood-
deen the son of Shaikh Buha-ood-deen Zukreeya were in an assembly,
where, by the extacy occasioned by hearing the song of poetry, they
became transported, and all commenced capering. The Sultan,

~ arising, put hif hand to his brefast, and eried. They say that a daoghter
of Suoltan Shums-ood-deen was his wife af that time, and in this

condition he (the Snltan) three times declared her divorced. After

. divoree, marringe with her could not again be performed with the Sultan,

. E ¥ -E-ﬂ-il

she Bad been martied o some one else (Untalah.)  On this accoust
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she was married to Shaikh Sudr-ood-deen. After she had gone to his
house, the king’s attendants told him to declare the divorce. The lady
then said to him: #1 have left the house of that bad man, and come near
you : it will not be proper before God for you to place me in his hands
agnin.” Sudr-ood-deen replied: “I will not be inferior to a woman®;
and he did not declare the divorce. The Sultan, being angry, deter-
mined to be revenged upon him,

Sultun Mahomed twice sent men to Shaikh Sondee Shirazee,
snying that in Mooltan be would make him a place of residence ; that
he wonld buy a village for him, which he might dedieate to pious uses :
but 8huikh Sundee, on account of his old age, would not ecome ; and
ench time he sent lis reply in verse, written by his own hand ; and he
recommended Ameer Khusrow to him. In his time, many good, clever
men attended the royal assemblies.

The Sultan went every three years to his father at Delhi, and after
remaining there one year he returned.

In the vear Hijree 633 (a. p. 1284), Gungeez Khan sent Kntlngh Khan
and Taimoor, with a large force, towards Hindoostan, which, lllﬂn.g
erossed the river Neelab, entered the boundary of Lahore. Sultan
Mahomed, with 80,000 horsemen, went towards Lahore. A haitle
was fought by the two armies. By the desire of God, in that battle
Saltan Mahomed drank the sherbet of death, and he went to the
Garden of Paradise. Notwithstanding this, defeat came to Taimoor
and Kutlugh Khan, and they fled.

Sultan  Balbun then appointed Kaikhusrow, the son of Sultan
Mahomed, to Mooltan and Sind. The Sultar always remained in sorrow
for his son; so much so, that in the year Hijree 685 (1. n. 1256) he
departed to the world above.

A History or SBvntax Juvav-oop-neex Kuvnier,

He was the son of Pheroz Kuluj, and in the service of Sultan Ghe
ood-deen. The tribe of Knlaj came from the race of Khalij Kh
he was the son-in-law of Gungeez Khan.

Julal-ood-deen was superior to all in bravery and generosity ; in
wisdom and deliberation there was no one equal to him. By dégrees
he ascended and sat upon the king's throne. In the year 683 (. n.
1289), in Delhi, his name was read in the sermon; and by their own
free will, or b:,r force, he gotthe Ameersunderhim. In 693 (. v, 1293),
Julal-ood-deen baving gone to Lahote,*he gave Moolt#n and Ooch to
Urkulee Khan, his centre son. He appointed Nusrut Khan to Sind,
setiling the revenues of that country upon Urkulee Khan. Urkulee
Khan was of happy temper, ¢nd a brave man. During his stay at
Mooltan, he twice visited Sind, where be punished with his own hands
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all robbers and disturbers of the peace. The whole of Sind remained
onder him. In the year 695 (a.p.1295), he drank the sherbet of 2
martyrdom at the hands of Sultan Ula-ood-deen, his nephew and son-
in-law. A
Ax Accoust oF Britax Ura-oop-DEEN.
In the latter days of the year 695 (a. p. 1295), he sat on the throneof
the Sultan of Delhi, reading his name in the sermon. He distributed
jewels, horses, and elephants, to so many, that the people, struck with
his generosity, becnme submissive to him ; but he having slain his
anele and father-in-law, they looked upon bim with disgust. In the
beginning of the year 696 (a. p. 1296), putting everything else on one
side, he turned his mind to Mooltan, because Urkulee Khan was there.
He sent his brother Ulug Khan, with 40,000 horse, there by forced
marches. On his arrival, he surronnded the city. After three months,
the people of the town became much alarmed from distress, and one
night the Mooltanees, leaving Urkulee Khan, went ontside the city,
and had a meeting with Ulug Khan. Urkulee Khan, driven by
compulsion, asked for quarters througha priest, Shaikh Rookn-ood-deen,
and he left Mooltan. Sultan Ula-ood-deen retained Nusrut Khan in
charge of Mooltan, Ooch, Bukkur, Sehwistan, and Tatta, with 10,000
horsemen, giving orders that he should go through the whole country
ander his charge, and root out all disturbers of the peace, and thus give
confidence to the people. He was also ordered to leave a man of trust
in every city, and to make Mooltan his own head quarters. In the
commencement of 697 (s. p. 1297), news came that the Moguls from
Sijestan had arrived at Sehwistan, looting all property, and surronnding
the city ; the men in Sehwistan were unable to fight, and placed their
faces in the direction of flight. The Mogul force, having taken the
place, strengthened it. Nusrat Khan, hearing this news, immediately
. shipped in boats a large force, with war apparatus, and arrived with
"~ these at Sehwistan. The Mogul force, coming forth from the fort, set &
 light to the fire of battle. In short, they fled, and then the royal army
3 " yeturned, arriving at Bukkur. At that time an order came from Sultan
TUla-ood-deen, 1o say that Ulug Khan being nominated to take Guzerat,
¢ he was to march with half the Sind army to that country, by the way of -
¢ ~Jaisulmere. When Ulng reached that city with his force, he conquered
o B it, slaying many Kafirs. Leaving 200 men in the fort of Juisnlmere,
‘with the rest of his force he joined the Guzerat force. In the year
Hijree 700 (». ». 1300), Sultan Ula-ood-deen drew the sword of his.
sovereignfy, cutting down all the evil-minded of his country. The
borders of the territories under his government to the east, west, and
south, extended to)the ocean, Viz. ‘Bengal, Deccan, Guzerat, and
in- a northerly direction to the waters of Neelab. In each
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province he settled a Hakeem, a Dewan, Ameen, and a Kazee. He made
such arrangements, that fresh news came every week [rom all the
provinces to the king. When all the affairs of the State had reached
such a degree of perfection, then, in like manner as when things have
reached the height of perfection, it may be expected that they will
decline, so, on the Gth of Shuwal 710 (a. p. 1310), he tied up his
requisites for the journey.

Ax Accoust oF Svuraxy Guuvas-00D-DEEX.

Towards the end of his reign, Sultan Ula-ood-deen placed Ghazee
Mulik, with 10,000 horse, in Daibulpoor, to expel the Moguls of
Gungeez Khan. He had given to him (Ghazee Mulik) in Jageer,
Mooltan, Ooch, and Sind : when the Sultan died he was there,

After the death of Sultan Ula-ood-deen, his sons, by their excessive
negleet, indolence, and debauchery, did not turn their hearts to matters of
state. On this account, distarbances found their way thronghout the king-
dom. At the time when neglect has become great, their wealth becomes
small. So the wealth of the family of Ula fell. Kootb-ood-deen (the
son of Ula-ood-deen) was of weak intellect. By some of his attendants,
his head was cut off, at the instigation of Khusrow Khan, and he sat in
his place on the throne. Khusrow Khan gave great honours to the Kafirs,
and debauched men. He gave amongst these the treasuries of Sultan
Ula-ood-deen and Kootb-ood-deen : on this account the Kafirs in Delhi
became very strong, oppressing the Musulmans. Then Fakeer Mulik,
secretly leaving Delhi, turned his face towards Mooltan. In u few days
he got over the road, and finding his father, opened all the condition of
Delhi to him. Ghazee Mulik and Fakeer Mulik were both brave men.
To give assistance lo Islam, and to take revenge on the Kafirs, they
drew the sword of battle from the scabbard, and bound the girdle of
war ronnd the loins of their lives. They asked God for victory, and
collecting the troops in Mooltan and Sind, they marched nnﬁ
They arrived near it with 3,000 horse, all of whom had seen much =
When Khusrow Khan heard that they had come so near, collecting a
large force, he sent it forth. The two bodies came in front of each
other. . The secrets of God are revealed !—that is 1o say, God gdve the
victory to Ghazee Mulik. The force of the Kafirs was beaten, and fled :
many were killed ; a few with_great difficulty reached the fort. The
following day Khusrow Khan, with a large foree, went ont, and drew
up his men in battle array. The lo¥ed of Ghazee Kblin, to fight with
their enemies, drew the sword of retaliation from the seabbard, and
fought. In about one honur the army of the Kafirs was made grass by
the sword of revenge ; so much so, that the dead were inheaps. Khus-
row Khan, with broken heart, turned his face in the direction of flight.
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Ghazee Mulik and Fakeer Mulik, from the field of battle, went near the
city. At midnight, the governorof the town, the nobles, and the Kutwal,
came and delivered the keys of the fort to Ghazee Mulik. The next
morning he, with a large attendance, entered the city. In the Dewan
Huzoor Sitoon he spread ont the bedding of lamentation, in sorrow for
Ula-ood-deen and Kootb-ood-deen. For three days he did this
agreeably to custom. He had it proclaimed in the town, that if any of
the family of Ula-ood-deen or of Kootb-ood-deen were left, and would
come to him, he would place him on the throne ; adding that he himself
wonld bind the girdle of service round the loins of his life, and do
service, After much inguiry, none being found, then the Ameers, the
army, the Synds, the men of letters, the priests, and all the people,
agreed that Ghazee Mulik was worthy of the kingdom, becanse he had
erased so many letters of dissension and trouble from the pages of the.
country, and he bad given strength to Islam. In the year 720 (a.p.
1320), the title of Sultan Ghuyas-ood-deen Tughlug Shah was eonfer--
red on Ghazee Mulik. All the Ameers agreed to obey him. They

placed him on the throne of the Sultanut of Delhi, and his name was
read in the sermon. The title of Sultan Mahomed Shah was given
to his son Fakeer Mulik. When Sultnn Ghuyas-ood-deen leit Mooltan

1o go to Delhi, the Scomrah tribe came and took Tatta. Sultan Ghuyas-

ood-deen sent Mulik Taj-ood-deen to Mooltan, Khwaja Khuteer to

Bukkur, and Mualik Ali Sher to SBehwistan.,

In the year 723 (s. p. 1323), Sultan Ghuyas-ood-deen appointed his
son Sultan Mahomed Shah as his heir, resigning the throne to him.
He obtained from the Ameers a written deed, by which they agreed to
be obedient to Sooltan Mahomed Shah. In the year 725 (a. n. 1324),
the lamp of life of Ghuyas-ood-deen was blown out by the cold win& of

~death.

Ax Account or Suntay Manoxep Snan, Tae sox or Svvrax
GiivyAs-00D-DEES SHam.

When Sultan Mahomed Shah sat npon his hereditary throne, he

spread justice throughont the country. On this account, his goodfiess

was spoken of in all the land. In 727 (a.n. 1326) he o appointed
Khusrow Khan to Sind. After that he went to Dowlmabad, making his

throne there, He remained there two years, during which pnnmL

Khusrow Khan came 1o Mooltan from Bukkur, and, assembling the
Mooltanese ana Beloochees, idiended to be rebellious. When Sultan

Mahomed Shah heard of this, in the year 728 (a. . 1327), he quickly
arrived at Mooltan. Then Khusrow Khan, who was thus full of

_ ingratitude, went to fight with its patrén. When the forces met, that

ion of the ny:lumynhalt was in advance attacked and defeated

.
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Khusrow Khan, and cutting off his head, brought it 1o the Sultan.
From fear of the Sultan, all Khusrow Khan's troops dispersed. The
Sultan gave orders to make a river of the blood of the Mooltanese.
The foot soldiers drew their swords 1o slay them ; when the priest of
Islam, Shaikh Rookn-ood-deen, to intercede for them, went to the
Suoltan’s Durbar, and uncovering his head, he stood there. In about
one hour the Sultan acceded to the priest’s wishes, excusing the blood
of the Mooltanese, as a punishment. The Sultan, placing men in
whom he had confidence, in Mooltan, Bukkur, and Sehwistan, returned
in the latter days of that year. In the year 744 (a. p. 1343) it entered
the understanding of the Sultan, that it was not fit for him to reign as
the King of Delhi, without the orders of the Abbasee Khaliph. He
therefore secretly made homage to him. He exaggerated this subject
greatly, directing the Musulmans not to say the special prayers for
Friday on that day, nntil he-had sent Mulik Rufeen to the Khaliph
in Egypt. When the Khaliph sent him a standard and a Khilat, the
Sultan was very happy at this, giving the people who came much
honour, and great presents; he had the Khaliph's name read in the
sermon, and he directed that his own should follow this.

In the year 751 (4. p. 1350), Sultan Mahomed Shah left Delhi, and
turning the reins of his intention towards Guzerat, he quickly came to
Gurnal.® There a royal slave, named Tuin, who was in rebellion, rn
away, and went to Cambay. When the Sultan, following him, reached
that place, he fled to the people of Jhareja. The Sultan, intending to
pursie him, went towards Tatta. He halted at Huokree, on the sea side,
to collect his troops. He was then taken with fever, and all the
difficulties of the road eame before his mind. Leaving Hukree, he
reached Koondul, and stopping there, the disease left him. At Koon-
dul some of his household joined him, by way of the river. The Sultan
was very much pleased at their arrival, giving quantities of many things
to his army, and, accompanied by many people, he marched towards
Tatta. Tuin, who had fled to, and remnined at Tatta, hearing of this,
became confused, and at a loss what to do. When the Saltan got
14 kos from Tatta, by chance the Mohurrum commenced. The Sultan
halted and fasted. The following day the fever again attacked him;
the doctors gave remedies, but they availed not, so much so thaton
the 21st of Mohurrum, 752 (s. = 1351), Sultan Mahomed Shah left
this transitory world, to go to that cqantry which remaing for ever.

Ax Accovst or Svutax Paenoz Snm. h
When Sultan Mahomed Shah saw the signs of death approaching,
* Commonly ealled Joonagur, in Ilﬂun.'u i in fact, the hill immediately over that town.—

Tranddator.
3
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he named Pheroz Shah, the son of his uncle,—he who bore the marks of
nobility on his {orehead,—as his heir, giving him his last wishes respect-
ing hiz country and his army. After this, taking the apparatus of this
passing world, he went to that world which is everlasting.

Al the courtiers and nobles paid their homage to Pheroz Shah ulﬂu.t
place. On the 24th of Mohurrum, 752 (a. 0. 1351), he, ascending the
throne, snmmoned all to his presence, making them all happy by his
justice and liberality.

Tuin, hearing of the death of Sultan Mahomed Shah, collected the
men of Soomrah, Jhareja, and Summah, and got to the rear of the army.
Sultan Pheroz Shah, hearing of this, named 2,000 men, and these
going all night, erossed the river, and met Tuin, and those who were
with him. There was a great fight, when Tuin turned his face towards
flight. The following day the SBoomrah men again fonght, but they
met with defeat, many of them being slain. After this, from near Tatta,
the Sultan turned his head, and marched towards Delhi, ordering that
the troops should not march more than & kos a day. He builta fort
at Langerah Lake, leaving Nusseer there, with 1,000 horse. He
appointed Mulik Behram as the Foujdar of that country. On reaching
Sehwistan, he made rulers there, Mulik Ali Shen and Mulik Taf
Kafooree. The Sultan made a pilgrimage to the sacred threshold of Shah
Baz Kulundur, and to another holy placé. On the attendants at these
he settled daily salaries. From this he came to Bukkur, where he
remained twenty days. He appointed Mulik Rookn-ood-deen his
deputy there ; making Mulik Abdool Uzeez Bareed the Dewan, and
naming eighty unmarried men to take care of the fort. To Mulik Rookn-
ood-deen he gave the title of Ikhlas Khan, and leaving all the arrange-
ments of Sind in his hands, he departed. At every large place he came

to he behaved liberally to the people, and made them happy. In this

manner he arrived at Delhi in the month of Rujub, 752 (a. ». 1351).

When he sat with great power on the throne of the Sultanut, he gave

an imperial assembly, when he made all happy, by giving them presents,

and to the great and small he afforded justice. On the 5th of Sufur,

753 (a. 0. 1352), he went to visit his country. All the great Zemindars

of the districts which he went to, came and promised to be obedient.

In the year 754 (a. 0. 1353), he went to hunt at Kulanoor, in the country {

near the hills. On returning, he built a handsome palace on the banks !

of the waters of the Suruswutge.. He here gave the title of Shaikool

Islamee to Shaikh Sudr-ood-deen, the son of Shaikh Buha-ood-deen

Zukreeyn, giving him leave to depart to his country. After this the Sultan

took Bengal into his hands. In the year 772 (a. . 1370) he went to -

Nuggurkot. When he reached the country about the hills, the people I

Mu#ﬁumvbkhhdhunmm in pans; on seeing which the |
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Suoltan said—* When Sultan Mahomed Shah formerly came here, the
people bronght ice to him, that he might make sherbet ; but if 1 had not
been with him, he would not have drank this sherbet, saying that he
wonld only drink it with Pheroz Shah. Thuos, ns he was so kind 1o me
in those days, I will not drink the sherbet now until 1 bave distributed,
in his name, one hundred camel-loads of sugar in sherbet”; and he
did so. Having conquered Nuggurkot, he proceeded towurds Tatta,
on reaching which, Jam Khair-ood-deen, who was the chief, retired to
the fort which stands in the water, from which he stopped the royal
army for some time. The Sultan, on account of the scarcity of grain
and forage, the floods of water, and the number of musquitoes, left this
as it was, and went to Guzerat, remaining there duoring the rains.
Removing Nizam-ool-Moolk, he made Zafur Khan the governor of this
country. He afterwards went in the direction of Tatta. Arriving there,
Jam Khair-ood-deen asked for pardon, and came into the service of the
Sultan, who looked upon him with the eye of kindness, directing that
he and the other Zemindars of that conntry should be taken to Delhi.
When Jam Khair-ood-deen reached Sehwistan, he planned in his heart
to obtain his liberty in this manner—that when on the line of march, as
they went along near the bank of the river, he wounld get into a boat,
and so escape. The men who were in charge of him, finding out this,
conveyed it to the Sultan, who gave orders to put irons on the Jam's
legs, and so to take him to Delhi, where the Sultan went with his army
some time afterwards. He gave a Khilat to Jam Choonah, the son of
Jam Khair-ood-deen, placed him over Tatta, and gave him leave to go
there. This Sultan, for thirty-eight years and some months, ruled the
kingdom with great power. On the 15th of Rumzan, 790 (a. p. 1388},
he received death,

Ax Accoust of Svntay Guuvas-oop-pEEx Tuvenuos Suam, Tne Sow
or Frrren Knax, tag SBox or Pugnoz Spamn.

On the 18th day of Rumzan, in the year 790 (a. p. 1388), according
to the will of Sultan Pheroz Shah, and by the aid of the Ameers, he
ascended the throne of the Sultanut, in the palace of Pherozabad, when
the people gave him the title of Sultan Ghpyas-ood-deen Tughlug
Shah. .

Mahomed Shah, the son of Sultan Pheroz Shal, having displeased
his father, had been sent 10 take charge of a distant eountry. On sceing
Ghuyas-ood-deen placed on the thron®, he became at entuity with him
and the Ameers, and, with the intention of taking the country; he went
towards Delhi. The echief nobles, with Toghlug Shah, marched forih
to arrest his progress, in the mowmth of Zilhuj. They came to Sirmoor,
in the hills. There were with Tughlog Shah one lakh of Lorsemen.
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These went in pursuit of Sultan Mahomed Shah, and without doing
anything they returned, and when the Sultan got back to Delhi, he still
committed errors, from his youth. The country became without
arrangement, dissensions began 1o arise, and from want of ability he
imprisoned his brethren.

Aboo Bukur, the son of Zufur Khan, his nephew, from fear concealed
himself, and secretly went away. Mulik Rookn-ood-deen, the Wuzeer,
and other Ameers, being his friends, went off with him. They killed
Mulik Mobaruk Kubeer at Pherozabad, Delhi, near the gateway of the

. king’s palace. Sultan Ghuyas-cod-deen, seeing the strength of these
rebellious people, went with Khan Jehan outside the gate, which was
over the waters of the Jumna, Mulik Rookn-ood-deen, being there, set
npon and seized him, and Khan Jehan killed them both, and placed their
heads over that gateway.

This took place on the 21st of Sufur, in the year 791 (a. p. 1389).
Sultan Ghuyas-ood-deen reigned for five months and three days.

Ax Accoust or T Reex or Apoo Buxur Snaun Groree.

After these ocenrrences, the Ameers, being without wisdom, gave the
title of Sultan Aboo Bukur Shah to Aboo Bukur, the son of Zufur
Khan, the son of Sultan Pheroz Shah. The dignity of Wuzeer was
conferred on Mulik Rookn-ood-deen. Shortly after, it became known 1o
Aboo Bukur Shah, that Mulik Rookn-ood-deen had plotted with the
nobles of Sultan Pheroz Shah to upset him, and sit on the throne
himself. He (Aboo) anticipated him, and, with the concurrence of the
nobles, killed Mulik Rookn-ood-deen. After this he gained strength. It
b was then heard that the tribe of Meer Sudhs of Samanah had killed
' their Hakeem, looting his family, and sending his head to Mahomed
Shah at Nuggurkot. Then Mahomed Shah, leaving that place, went to
Samanah, and in the month of Rubee-ool-Awul he styled himsell
king there. The men of yeer Sadh, and the Zemindars of the country
near the hills, did homage 1o him. Some of the Ameers and chief men
of Delhi, leaving Aboo Bukur Shah, came to him, so much so, that he
had collected 20,000 horsemen, with footmen out of number, When
e feft Samanah to go to Delhi. As be approached that city, his
horsemen had increased to 50,000. On the 25th of Rubee-col-Awul,
701 (a. p. 1389), he reached Jehan Nopma. Onthe2ndof Jumadee-ool-
; Awul, in the streets of Pherozabad, the troops of Aboo Bukur met and
¥ fonght with those_of Mahomed Shah. On that day Bahadoor Khan,
R Mewatee, with many men, entering the city, gave great strength to Aboo

Bukur, who the next day, having prepared everything for battle, fought

oo

.-w;ilifliﬂﬁdefﬂ!:d Mahomed Shah, wiio, crossing the Jumna with 2,000

~ men, fled to the Doab. Again, in Shaban of the sume year, he raised
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his standard, proposing to go to Delhi; he eame and fought with Aboo
Bukur, but being defeated, he again ran away.

& Until the fit time for doing anything comes, the assistance of {riends
is of no avail I

Aboo Bukur pursued Mahomed Shah for 3 kos, and then returned
to Delhi. Mahomed Shah went then to Chulpur, and getting together
many men, in the month Rumzan of that same year, he wrote Firmans,
which he sent to Lahore, Mooltan, and other large towns, directing the
people to slay all who belonged 1o Pheroz Shah. Wherever these
orders were received, many people were killed, much property was
looted, and the world became wonderfully divided. In short, by
seduction, he induced the Ameers to become enemies to Aboo Bukur, and
they secretly corresponded with Mahomed Shah. Aboo Bukur, becom-
ing as one without hands or feet, fled to Mewat. He reigned for one
year und a half.

Ax Accoust oF Svrtax Mamouen Snam, THE 808 oF SULTAN
Pueroz Sgan,

On the 16th of Rumzan, 792 (. 0. 1389), he became Sultan. The
first thing he did was to turn out of the city all the attendants and
slaves of Pheroz Shah, who had been his enemies, He killed many,
proclaiming, that if any of them remained in the city, his blood would
be upon his own neck. He entered the city with great state, taking
much care of the country and property. When he had attained great
power, it came across him that it was not fit to neglect Aboo Bukur,
therefore he sent hiis youngest son, Hoomayoon Khan, with many Ameers,
and a large force against him. When these gol near Kotulah, where
Aboo Bukur Shah remained, Bahadoor Khan Nahur, who was born in
the house of Pheroz Shah (by whose assistance Aboo Bukur had col-
Jeeted many men), fell upon the troops of Hoomayoon by night, but Aboo
Bukur, being defeated, retreated to the fort of Kotulah. When Sultan
Mahomed Shah heard of this, he went there by forced marches, and
surrounded the fort. Then Aboo Bukur Shah, being helpless, asked
for pardon. Sultan Mahomed confined him in the fort of Mewat, where
he died. Sultan Mahomed went to Delhi, then to Guzerat ; from thence
to Bengal, where he stayed a long time, punishing the evil doers and
disturbers of the peace. He remained at Mahomedabad, a fort built in
his time. After a time he fell sick, when Bahadoor Khan Nahar looted
some villages near Delhi. The Suitah, searing of this, sthough unwell,
marched towards Mewnt. When he drew near Kotilah, Bahadoor Khan
came forth to meet him. He was defeated, and took refuge in Kotolah,
but not having strength, he fled. The Sultan then returned to Maho-
medabad, to seec some works which he had in hand. His sickness
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increased, and on the 17th of Bubee-col-Awnl, 796 (a. n. 1393), he
went to heaven. He reigned six years and seven months.

Ax Accovst oF Svrrasy Ura-cop-peex Sixvxpur Snam.

This was the centre son of Sultan Mahomed ; his title was
Hoomayoon. When Saltan Mahomed Shah died, he mourned three
days for him. On the 19th of Rubee-ool-Awnul, in that year, with the
consent of the nobles and men of weight, he sat on the throne. He
confirmed in’ their situations and salaries all who had been in office
under Mahomed Shah. By chance, on the 5th of J umadce-col-Awul, he
was taken ill and died.

@ Tn this world, if there is a king’s throne, what is it, oh my friend !

For no one is able to eat of his food, except his own portion "

An AccorsT ofF Svnran Nasig-oop-peex Manosmen Saan.

This was the youngest son of Sultan Mahomed Shah. When Sal-
tan Ula-ood-deen died, some of the nobles went away towards their
Jageers, without asking permission to leave. When Khan Jehan, the
chief minister of the late Sultan Mahomed Shah, heard of this, by R

nt he brought them back to the city. On the 20th of Jumadee-ool-
Awul, 796 (s. 0. 1393), by the exertions of the Ameers and influential
men, Sultan Nasir-ood-deen ascended the throne, in the palace of
Hoomayoon. He received the title of Sultan Nasir-ood-deen Mahomed
Shah. He confirmed in their situations and salaries the chief minister,
the nobles, and officials, the same as they had enjoyed under his father.
He gave the title of Moogurub Khan to Moogurub Mulik, naming him
as his heir. To Khan Jehan he gave the title of Sultanut Ushruf, giving
into his keeping the country from Kanoge to Behar, and he dismissed
him, attended by a large force. The government of all that country he
left to him. Khan Jehan became very powerful there, getting all the
Zemindars under his aunthority, and rebuilding forts which had been
destroyed ; and the Kings of Bengal, and other neighbouring chiefs,
presented gifts and rarities to Mahomed Shah, as they bad formerly
been in the habit of giving to Pheroz Shah. -

In-that year the Sultan gave orders to Sarung Khan to take Daibul-
poor, Mooltan, and Sind. At that fime Shakha Kbokur was creat-
ing disturbances at and abont Lahore ; upon hearing of which Sarung
Khan went in that direction. As Lie drew near, Shakha Khokur

‘went forth with many men, and at 22 koss from Lahore the two forces

met and fonght. By the kindness of God, the wind of victory struck
he of Sarung Khan, Shakha Khokur, being defeated, fled
of Jumoo. On the day -following, Sarung Khan took

 possession of the fort of Labore, and all it contained. He gave the
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title of Adil Khan to his brother Mulik Khundoo, and leaving him
there, he himsell marched upon Daibulpoor.

After this, in Shaban of the same year, 796 (1. p. 1303), Sultan
Mahomed Shah, leaving Moogurub Khan, with men of trust, and a
large force, at Delhi, went in the direction of Gwalior, on approaching
which, Mulik Ula-ood-deen Dharwal, Moobaruk Khan the son of Mulik
Rajoo, and Muloo the brother of Sarung Khan, were projecting some
treachery. Suadot Khan, hearing of this, he seized and hung Mulik
Ula-ood-deen and Moobaruk Khan. Muloo, being seized with fear
on hearing of this, went to the Sultan, but seeing that he was angry,
by soft artifice he withdrew, and leaving the army, returned to Delhi,
where he made many enemies to the king. The Sultan and Suadut
Khan came and surrounded the city, when there was daily fighting for
three months. The agents of Moogurub Khan then by deceit induced
the Sultan to leave Suadut Khan, and to enter the city. When
Soadut Khan saw that his plans were destroyed, and that it would be
difficalt for him alone to take the place, the more so as it was the miny
season, he broke up from thence, and went to Pherozabad. On arriving
there, with the concurrence of good men, in Rubee-ool-Awnl, 797
(4. n. 1394), he bronght Nusrat Shab, the son of Pheroz Khan, the son
of Sultan Pheroz Shah, from Mewnt, and put him on the throne at
Pherozabad, with the title of Nasir-ood-deen Nusrut Shah.

The royal Ameers were annoyed at seeing Nusrut Shah so quickly
placed on the throne: on this account they attacked Suadut Khan
when he was unprepared. He, being unable to fight, made his escape,
seeking refoge with Moogurub Khan, who seized and killed him.
After this, the Ameers, with Nusrut Shah, viz. Mahomed Zuafur Khan,
Shubab-ood-deen Fuzl-ool-lah Beekhee, and the slaves of Pheroz Shah,
being without remedy, paid fresh homage to him, and took much
country. ot

Sultan Nasir-ood-deen Mahomed Shah was very much distressed at
the perfidy of the Ameers and the army—he did not know what to do.
There was constant fighting between the troops of the two parties. In
the year 798 (a. v. 1395), enmity arose between Sarung Khan, who_was
over Daibulpoor and Mooltan, and Khizar Khan, the Hakeem of
Mooltan, when the adherents of Mulik Bhittee, joining, gave strength
to Sarung Khan, and he took Mosltan. Tn Rumzan 798 (a. p. 1396), he
went to Delhi with a large force. Jly nobles, collecting their forees,
marched forth to drive him back. In short, in the month of Mohorrum
800 (a. p. 1397), the two forces met, and Sarung Khan, being defeated,
retreated to Mooltan. On account of the enmity of the two princes, the
country had become divided, and without arrangement at that time. In
the month Rubee-ool-Awul 800 (a.p. 1397), Meerza Peer Mahomed,
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amongst themselves, they became superior in strength to their King,

foundation of a connexion with him, and married his daughter. Eﬂ
e hﬂ’t‘m born to him called Bhoongar, who sat on the throne of the
Wmnm the death of Scomrah. During his ﬁm‘he
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the grandson of Ameer Taimoor Saheb Kiran, crossing the waters of the
Punjab, surronnded the fort of Ooch. Mulik Ali, the Hakeem there

on the part of Sarung Khan, held his post, fighting for onc month, when

Sarung Khan sent 4,000 horsemen to the rescue, with Mulik Taj-ood-

deen. On hearing of this, the Meerza, leaving Ooch, marched to meet

him. The Mulik was defeated, when Meerza at once advanced

npon, and surrounded Mooltan. Sarung Khan fought him daily for
six months, after which he asked for quarters, and surrendered. Hay-

ing conquered Mooltan, Meerza Peer Mahomed remained some time in
that country.

When, in Shuwal 800 (a. p. 1397), the royal Ameers heard of th-u
doings and of the strength of the Meerza, they assembled at the tomb
of Shaikh Kootb-ood-deen Ruktirjor Kakee, and entering into a compact

being uniled amongst themselves. The people of Sind ceased attending.
to the orders of the Kings of Delhi, when Saheb Kiran, following his
grandson Meerza Peer Mahomed, n.rnw:d at Mooltan in Sufur S01 (a. 0.
1398), when he administered justice to all who had been confined by’

Peer Mahomed. After this, the Hakeems of Sind did not obey the
orders of the Kings of Delhi—every one made himself strong on his =

own account, in the manner I now relate.

Ax Accoust or TeE Runes or e MEex or Soomran anp Susnan.

I have previously written that Sultan Mahomed Ghazee came from =
the seat of the Sultanut Ghuznee, and throwing the noose of subjection
over the battlements of the fort of Mooltan, he captured it. After this
he sent his agents to Sind, who occupied that country. After the death

of Sultan Mahomed, the Sultanut descended to his offspring.

When the turn of government eame to Ubdoor Rusheed, the son of
Sultan Mahomed,—who, spreading the carpet of pleasure, his heart
was oceupied in festivals and things of delight,—he did not turn his
mind to the matters of the state. On this account the people at many
of the distant borders began to disobey orders, they took their heads
fromout of the ring of submission: inshort, at that time men of Soomrah
collécted in great numbers near Thuree, and placed Soomrah the son

of Chundur on the throne of the Sultanut of Sind.  (The tribe of Soom-

tah had its name from this Soomrah.) He for along time was the
Sirdar of his tribe. He cleared away from the borders of his country
all the thorns and refuse, the breeders of dissension, and the disobedient.
Zemindar Sad lived in that country, in much power. Soomrah laid the
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extended his rale. At the latter end of his age he was taken ill, and he
gave his life to the angel of death.

His son Doda, suceeeding him, took the duties of king. For some
years, with great power he managed the conntry, extending his power to
Nusurpoor. He died in the prime of life, leaving a young son called
Singhar, and a daughter named Tharee. This Thuree for some time
conducted the duties of the government, having the Ryuts under her
command, When Singhar grew up, he ascended the throne. He made

arrangements for the conntry and property ; to snch men as were
powerful and disobedient he gave punishment. Throwing the bridle of
the horse of his intentions towards Kuteh, he took Nanik Nai from that
conntry. Some years after, he travelled from this world to the other,
leaving no children. His wife Humoon lived at, and issned her
orders from, the fort of Duhkah. She sent her brothers to govern ut
Thoor and 'Thuree. A short time after this, some of the brethren
of Doda, who had concealed themselves, came forth, and tock
out by the roots these brothers of Humoon. One of these, named
Peethoo (a descendant of Doda), was joined by many men. Such
as et up claims to the throne he destroyed. Ascending it himself, he
reigned ns long as he lived, and after his death Khaira ruled the
country, doing so in a very proper manuer ; all his acts were approved of.
Some years from this, the sun of his life went to the sunset of death.
‘With the concurrence of the Ameers, Khufeef sunccéeded him, and sat
on the throne of the kingdom. Having made good armmngements for
the country in his hands, he, with heart at ease, went and remained at
Tattn. During his government, the Ryuts, and all the other people of
Sind were relieved from thieves, and disturbers of the peace ; nll were
happy and contented. By chance, it one day came into his mind that
it was not proper for him to be always merely sitting on the throne ; that
it was better to spend some time in the Shikargahs, the jungles, and
plains, which had become green from rain, and where the animals were
grazing happily. After this, having collected many men, he marched
against the Beloochees, the Sodahs, and the Jharejas. On reaching their
borddys, Runmul Sodah, Ram Rai Jharejs, and Mehran Belooch,
being introduced by the Ameers, and other men of weight, came und
made great offerings. Khufeef, presenting them with handsome preseats
in return, made them very happy i he then gave them their dismissal.

He proposed returning to Tatta the following morning, but at that
time a Belooch came, complaining (ha® the thieves of the tribe of
Summah had looted his tribe, taking everything the¥ possessed. On
hearing this, Khufeef was much astonished ; and at the instant, mounting,
with those who were with him, Me started, and quickly came against
this tribe, He took all the property which had been robbed from the

]
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Beloochees, and those men who had disobeyed orders, and acfed i
this manner, he punished with severity. His arrangements were sue ;
in all the country underhim, from Kutch to Nusurpoaor, that in the whole
of that space none during his reign disobeyed his orders ; if they did se,
he gave them to the sword. When he found that there were noneto give
trouble, he was at ease, and came to Tatta, In his time all the people,
the sepoys, the Ameers, the Ryuts, &c. were very happy. He limilz
long while at Tatta, till, from this world, he journcyed to the nexi

world. e
After the death of Khufeef, the people, the men of weight under
government, and those out of employ, agrecing that it was propen,
raised Doda, the son of Qomur, and the grandson of Peethoo, to the
throne of the Sultanut, in his place. When all the affairs of the state
were firm in his hands, Singhar, a Zemindar, came to pay his yearly
taxes. He became acquainted with Doda. This bad lasted some time,
when one day he spoke of Kutch in the following terms in his presence;
saying that he had heard that the Summah tribe had determined to come
to Tatta to take it, and that he should be prepared for this. On hearing
this, Doda, collecting forces out of number, marched to Kutch, and he
severely twisted the ears of those people. Then a man of the Summah
tribe, named Lakhuh, came as ambassador, bringing presents and
Kuich horses, making offering of these, and asking pardon for their '-F
sins. Doda, with great kindness, gave him presents in money, & 1
horse, and a Khilat, allowing him then to depart. From thence, with
heart at rest, he came to Thuree, where he spent a long time. All the

people and Ryuts were so completely under his bands, that without
orders from him they did nothing. When at Thuree, Runmnl Sedseh
came, and making his Salanm, urged as a petition, that in the time
of Khufcef, the Jut Beloochees paid tribute ; but thatnow it seemed,

that they through ignorance had taken their heads from out of the
noose of submission, He added, that having heard of this, he made
him (Doda) acquainted with it; and that it seemed advisable that &

foree should be put gndu him, which he would take aguinst, and thus,
making them pay up their arrears of tribute from the days of Khufeelto
‘the present time, he would bring it to him. »

"Phe reason of his speaking in this way was, that formerly a feud existed
between him (Runmul) and the Jharejas, when a fight had taken place
between the parties, in which great numbers of Runmul’s men had been
killed and wonnded. So he”told as above to Doda, 1o_enable him to

 have his revenge upon them. Doda, being of a good heart, gave him i
!

Wmnnt, keeping him near him; he also sent to call the men of

 Jharejn.  When his messengers got here, and told what Runmul had

hey came before them with their swords suspended f{rom round
Blag oy ¥
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their necks, making their Salnam, and declaring that they and all their
fumilies were the slaves of Doda, and that, if he ordered them all to be
confined, they would not ask the reason why. «Then, taking presents for
Doda, they came to him in one week. His messengers, who accompanied
them, having received good treatment at their hands, spoke in their favour,
Doda said to Runmul : # These men, having great confidence, have sent
only two of their tribe, and these have come to make their Salaam;
you told me another story.” Doda for some time detained Runmul, on
the plea of its being the rainy season : but in Runmul's breast, that thorn
pricked him ; so one day, with great earnestaess he insisted npon being.
allowed to depart, when Doda gave him his leave, and he went to his
tribe. On getting there, he became rebellions. Secing this, Ram Rai
Jhareja and Mehran Belooch, quickly going to Doda, told him of this
circumstance. It came into Doda’s mind, that probably these men
were doing what Ranmul had done : therefore he determined in the first
place to send two men to Runmul, who, ascertaining all the focts, might
come and tell him. He despatched two men, at the time of whose
arrival at the tribe, Runmul was absent, he having gone to the jungles
tocolleettroops. His brethren did not pay the messengers any attention,
speaking improperly before them. Runmul, hearing of the arrival of
these, came and sat down with them in a friendly manner, but he
shortly after spoke in an unbecoming way ; when Doda's men said
it was not right to talk in that way ; that he had best cease collecting
men, and go to Doda, when, if he had anything to complain of, he might
do so to him : but however much they advised, it had no effect upon
him, so Doda's people, rising, left him, and returning, told all the
circumstances to Doda, He, hearing of this, collected many troops,
and went against this people. Runmul, having also got together a large

force, came out into the plain. The two parties met, and fought for six’

hours, at which time the men of both sides stood resolute. Many had.
fallen in that time of either party. Being exhausted, and night com-
ing on, all the men sat down where they stood, spending the time in
planning operations for the morrow. In the morping, the two forces
recontmenced fighting, when, by chance, an arrow strugk Runmulin the
throat, and his life went to hell. Great fear then took possession ol his
troops because an army without a Sirdar is like a man without a head;
so they turned their faces in the direction of flight, when Doda’s mea,
pursuing them, slew great numbers, and looted extensively. The, force
being put to fight, Rai Sing and Jugmfil “came os ambasSadors, bring-
ing presents to Doda, and they obuined fnrgivcnn;i of theif fauls,
Doda after this went to Nusurpoor, the Zemindars, chiel men, and
Kazees of which place bronght hifh presents, and Doda, aceepting these,
remained there some time, during which period Sahibuh the son of



g
g
S
S
- kg
1k
i
o
~
4
r.\--
<
.

made their Salaam. He then, with confidence in his heart, went to

. _put Chunur, the fon of Oomur’s brother, in his place. Chunur went
 out to make arrangements in his country. Having done this, and placed
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Runmul Sodah brought two fine handsome Kutchee horses as an offering,
and paid his respects to him.  He declared that his brethren had induced
Runmul to turn his heart from, and become rebellions against bim
(Doda) ; so much =0, that these men were even now disobedient, and
that if a foree went from the Sirkar, and punished them, they wounld
not do so again, but would always bring presents. Doda, upon this,
left Nusurpoor, and by forced marches came there ; but after doing m,
he discovered that the brethren of Runmul and others wounld not agree
to have Sahibuh as their Sirdar, so he understood that it was on this-
account that he had brought him there. Doda then summoned all the
tribe, telling them to agree to have Sahibuh as their chief, with all their
hearts. By this order they agreed to do so, when Sahibuh presented
Rs. 20,000 ns & Nuzarana. L

Doda, marching thence, came to Tatta. Remaining there, from
thence he travelled to that other world.

On the death of Doda, his son Qomur, with the aid of the nobles, and.
other men of consequence, sat on the throne.

When his father’s country came into his hands, he took to drinking
wine, paying no attention to the country. On bearing this, the
Summahs, the Sodahs, the Juts, and Beloochees, left off obeying his
orders, becoming rebellions. When Moolah Hamed heard of this, he
told Oomurof it, who, collecting a large force, went towards Kutch. On
his approach, the Summahs, having collected many men, went out =
into the plain to meet him. There was fighting, in which the men of
Summah were the strongest. Seeing this, and that his affairs would =
be ruined, Moolah Hamed called the Sirdars, to whom he gave presents,
saying— Tatta is far distant ; money is scarce : if you fight well, and
defent the enemy, much property will come into our possession, which
‘will be enongh to enable us to return to Tatta.” Hearing this, the spirits
of the foree were raised, and, making an attack on the enemy, they
defeated them, when much plunder of every kind came into their
hands. After this, the men of Summah, bringing Raja J ugunnath
Todah (who had quitted his brethren in anger, and had come to Kutch) -
as their mediator, came to Oomur, making their Salaam, and bringing
prefents. Oomur, returning from thence quickly, went against the
Sodahs, Juts, and Beloochees, all of whom, fearing the consequences,

Thuree, where he died. -
At this tim@his son Doda wasbmall ; therefore the men of consequence

sublesome on the edge of the s¥ord, his heart being at ease, he
At that time Doda attained puberty, so Chunur wished by
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some siratagem to get him into his hands, and to confine him; but
hearing of this, Doda turned his face towards Ghuznee, and crossing
the river, he came 1o a place, Dhuryachuh Naree Sung, close under
Futtehpoor, where he saw a man coming along with a bundle of sticks
for Hookn-snakes on his head. As this man drew near, all his entrails
became visible to Doda. At this he was much asionished, so, calling
the man to him, he lifted the bundle of pipes off his head, when
nothing of the kind was to be seen : so, being greatly amazed, he put
the bundle on the man's head again, when he beheld as before. He
then knew that there must be some device in these sticks, and he pur-
chased them, giving the man some money for them. Then, sitting
down at the river's edge, he put the sticks one by one inlo the water.
All went down with the stream, but one from amongst them went
upwards against it : o, taking this one, he divided it at all the knots.
He then put each knot into the water. All of these went down the
stream, except one, in which the device was, and this one went op
against the enrrent ; so taking this one, he kept it and went lo
Ghuznee. At that time the king of that place, Sultan Mondood Shab,
was ill from severe sickness, which was withont cure ; so, on his arrival
there, Dodn gave out that he was a doctor. Historians write that Saltan
Mondood Shah's sickness was caused in this manner. One day he
went 1o see a Shikargah under some hills, when by chance an animal
started from before him. Tt was then the custom, that whoever an
animal started in front of, he alone pursued it; so, in accordance with
this enstom, the Sultan rode after this animal alone for n long distance,
but he did not kill it. From this exertion, great thirst and hunger came
upon him; so, searching about, he fonnd a stream of water near the foot
of the hills, Having no cup or basin with him, being helpless, he put
his mouth into the water, and drank ; when, in doing =o, he swallowed
two small snakes, which went down into, and remained in his stomach.
In two years these had grown large, and began causing him much pain.
All the doctors of the country had physicked him, but none of them
conld make him well. :

Phe Sultan was approaching to death, when at that time Doda
arrived, saying he was a Hakeem, and that he had come from Sind to
cure the king with his physic. The royal physicians, hearing this,
langhed, saying: * What wisdom has this Sindee, that he should say
he was able to give medicine to the king.” One of the attendants told
the king of the arrival of this Sindee, 4nd how the royal=loctors langhed
at him. The Sultan, hearing of this, called andYeceived him with
distinction, saying “he had snffered from this sickness for a long time;
that many Hakeems had gives him medicine, but all without effeet :
now you have come, [ am in hopes that T shall get well by your physie.”
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. manner, after which the wind of vietory struck the standards of the

 wisdom.

_.hutn became “separated fronr Him, and they plotted t6 kill him.
~ Previous te this, sofie of the Summah tribe, having come to Sind from:

46

Then Doda, stripping the Sultan, he placed that stick on his head, when
he saw that two snakes were in his stomach. Then, removing the stiek,
he told the Sultan that he understood what was the matter with bim,
and that it was a very bad disease. He added thatif he, the Enltall'l,"
wonld give him a written document, to the effect that if he died whilst
under his care no blame shounld attach to him, that he would give him
medicine. The Saltan at once wrote such o doenment, and putting his
seal to it, gave it to Doda. Then Doda did not give the Saltan =
anything to eat for two days. On the third day, tying up his eyes, he
placed the stick on his head, and having got two small fine iron hooks,
he tied a silken line to them, and wrapping them ap in bread, he guve
one to the Sultan, who, having swallowed it, he, Doda, saw a snake take
it. When he saw that it was well in the mouth of one of the snakes,
‘he pulled it up, and brought it out; then again he did the same, and in
like manner he took the other from out of the royal stomach. In about
an hour the Sultan felt much relieved, so, untying his eyes, Doda
showed hin the two snakes, when, being very happy, the Sultan said :
% Ask from me whatever yon wish.” Then Doda said : “ I am a chief]
but by his superior strength, Chunur has taken my father’s conntry, and
on this aceount I have come here ; if the king will give me a foree, [ will
take my revenge on him.” On hearing this, the Sultan gave orders to
collect a force, and when it was ready, he gave it to him. When this
army approached Tatta, being unable to meet it, Chunur sat down in
the fort, which, being surrounded on all sides by the royal troops, they
took into their hands the implements for breaking down foris, and
fighting commeneed. For twelve days they fought together in this

royal troops, and Chupur and many of his men were givento the sword.
Those who escaped the sword ran away and dispersed. By mking this
fort, mueh wealth and property fellinio the hands of those people. 2

When Doda the son of Oomur sat on the throne of his father, this
force returned to Ghuznee. He reigned many years, with strength and

Afteswards, by this order, Ewrgr life will drink the sherbet of deatt!" "“ !
Dn&;dmnk the sherbet of mortality at the hands of the cup-bam.r 9‘«
death : he took the apparatus of his life to the living world.

After him, one named Urruh Mehl sat upon the throne of nulhmij’ =
but he was an oppressor, giving the peupla much trouble: so their

] -.d remained there, becoming kindred with them.
fuential men of Urrnh Mehlsecretly paid hﬂmugetﬂhlﬁd'
~one of this tribe, named Jam Oonnur, who bngmm
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his forehead the signs of goodness, This happened in the morning; when
u body of men, going into Urrnh Mehls house, killed him, and placed his
head over the gateway, when all the people, paying homage to Jam
QOonnur, placed him on the throne of the Sultanat.

Ax Accovst or Jan Qoxxor, Tie Sox or Banuxtvun.

When Jam Qonnur had beeome king, with the sanetion of the men of
power, many people flocked to him. Ie at that time, with great num-
bers, went to take Sehwistan, getting near which, he prepared a plain for
a battle=fi¢ld, on which to fight with Mulik Ratun, the Hokeem there on
[Iie‘putnfthn King of the Toorks. Mulik Rutun came out of hisfart to
this fiald of battle with a well appointed, large force. The fire of buttle
commenced burning between the two armies, and this inercasing, Jam
Oonnur was defeated, bat, by the assistance of his brethren, he again
brought up many men, and recommenced fighting. At that time Mulik
Rutun galloping his horse, the animal’s head eame to the ground, and
he, losing his seat, fell : Jam Oonnur, with his sword, separated his
head from the body ; and he then took the fort of Sehwistan. At that
time Mulik Pheroz, and Ali Shah Toork, were the Hokeems at Bukkur,
on the part of the King of the Toorks. These, hearing of the above,
wrote to Jam Oonnur, to the following effect:—* This presumption is
not becoming in you: now prepare your implements of war, to fight
with the troops of the king, and fix your foot firmly on the field of
valour” This langnage operated on Jam Oonnur, who went awny
towards Thuree. At that time he was tken ill, and went to the muntlj
of futnrity. He reigned threc years and six months.

Some historians write as follows :—

When Jam Oonnur, having conquered Sehwistan, turned back, he
was drinking wine one night, at a pleasant assembly, when news came

that some rebellious men were coming agninst him. He gave orders

to Gahub, the son of Tumachee, who was his Vukeel, #o go and repulse
them. Sotaking a force, and going with speed, he came upon them;
but in fighting, Gahuh, being in liquor, was taken prisoner, and eonfined.

Jant Oonnur, amidst his pleasures, did not bear him in mu:l.d. on which
nccount Gahuh became his enemy, and by some device liberating
himself from his enemies, he turned his head from Jam Oonnur, and
went to Bukkur, where he had gn interview with Ali Shah Toork, who
lived in the fort of Munson Numeg in old Bukkur; and this Ali.Shah
and Mulik Pheroz, collecting many riiefl, came to Buhmmpnm, killing
Jam Oonnur in that fort. - Mulik Pheroz remaining there as’governor,
Ali Shah returned to Bukkuor. Three days after his return, some of
Jam Oonnur’s men, by stratageid), killed both Gahuoh and Mulik Pheroz.

¥
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Ax Accoust or Jooxun Tie Sox or Bapusivun.

On the death of Jam Qonnur, the people of Summah, giving the
Jamee title to Joonuh, placed him on the seat of their Sirdaree. He,
intending to take the whole of Sind, sent his brethren and relatives, with
great kindness, appointing them over different places; then, crossing
the river at Tuluhtee, began beating, looting, and destroying all the
Ryuts, towns, and villages, under Bukkur. The Hakeem of Bukkur
fought two or three times desperately with those people, but the Toorks
had not strength to meet the men of Summah ; so, being helpless, they
left Bukkor and went to Ooch. When Jam Joonuh heard of their
flight, he quickly wentto Bukkur, and made his arrangements. In
short, for many years he reigned absolute, until Sultan Ula-cod-deen,
appointing his brother Ulug Khan to Mooltan, he sent Taj-ood-deen
Kafooree, and Tatar Khan, to expel him. Belore these hostile forces
arrived, Jam Joonuh had died of the quinsey, having reigned thirteen
years,

When the Sultan's troops came to Bukkur, and had taken it, and also.
Sehwistan, at that time the chiefl Sirdars placed Jam Tumachee, the
son of Jam Oonnur, on the throne. Then there was a battle between
him and the troops of the Sultan, who, taking him prisoner, c{mvejed
bim and all his family to Delhi, where he remained in confinement.

g The tribe of Summah remained at Thuree ; but the officials of Jam
s Oonnur, keeping the affairs of state in their hands, exerted themselves
" in every matter. After the death of Jam Tumachee, hisson Jam Khair-
g ~ ood-deen, who in infaney went to Delhi, came to Sind, and, sitting over
F ~  the government, took possession of it. A short time after this, when =
' Saltan Mahomed Shah, by the way of Guzerat, came to Sind, he called
- Jam Khair-ood-deen to come and make his Salaam ; but he did not
obey, becanse he had spent a long time confined in the state prison at
Delhi. Sultan Mahomed Shah died near Taita. -
After his decease, by his will Sultan Pheroz Shah sat on the king's

as Sind in Sehwistan, from whence he tarned back ; but the fact of his
“having followed him remained in the heart of the Sultan. After
Sultan Pheroz Shah left Sind, Jam Khair-ood-deen spread the carpet

of Juntint, and exerted himself to make the Ryuts happy.

- - have mentioned a rare action of this mn.gmﬁcem Jam—
that one day, “with his attendan?, ‘e went for exercise to the jungle.

By chance, as he Sas going along, he saw in a hole the bones of men,
ing the bridle, he stopped his horse, and after looking for a

t the decayed hum he turnéd his head ronnd aml said—+ Do.

throne, and went to Delhi, Jam Khair-ood-deen following him as far ‘
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thieir heads, remained silent. Then said the Jam: *These are inspired
people, and they want justice.” The Jam then turned his attention to
discovering the circumstances of those bones of the dead, and calling
a very old man, in whose hands the land was, he asked him about
them ; when this old man told him that ¢ Sixty years ago, a Kafila came
here from Guzerat, when they were destroyed by a certain tribe, who
took awny their property, much of which is with them now.” When
the Jam heard this, he gave orders to collect that property ; when such
as was found being gathered together, he sent a man of trust with it to
the ruler of Guzerat, desiring that it might be restored to the heirs of
those who had been killed; and, in retaliation, he destroyed those by
whom they had suffered.

Several years after this, he left this transitory world, and went to the
world eternal.

Ax Account of Jam Bavvsivin, tae Sox or Jan Kuair-cop-pEES.

After the death of his father, by the aid of the Ameers he sat upon
the hereditary throne.

When Sultan Pheroz Shah, having settled Hindoostan and Guzerat,
came to take Sind, Jam Babuniyuh, preparing a field of battle, stood up
to fight. The Sultan remained there three months, but when the
inundations, with bad winds, and many musquitoes came, he marched
away, going to Puttun in Guzerat.

After the rains, having collected many men, he again returned, and
fought. In short, in that battle Jam Babuniyuh was taken prisoner,
and all the people and country of Sind came intw the hands of Pheroz
Shah. When the Sultan returned to Delhi, he took the Jam with him,
who remained for a long time in his service, behaving very well ; seeing
which, the Sultan extended to him his royal kindness, and giving him
a royal crown, he placed Sind in his hands nguin, allowing him 1o
depart. So he came to Sind, over which he reigned absolute.

He reigned for fifteen years, when he travelled to the other world.

_His brother Jam Tumachee, succeeding him, sat on the king's throne.
He turned his attention to making arrangements for the country. He
was the friend of leisure, spending his time in pleasare. He reigned
thirteen years, dying of the plagne. .

After the death of Jam Tumaehee, Jam Sulah-ood-deen sat upon
the throne of anthority. His first aat was to put fo rights the border,
which had become out of order by the hands of bad mgen, who did not
obey orders. For this purpose he took a force, and sharply pulled the
ears of those vicious people. Huvin.g given to all sneh correction and
admonition, he torned his face towards Katch. Upon arriving there,
much fighting ensued between him and those people; bulin every

7
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battle the breeze of victory struck the standards of the Jam, and after
this he returned from thence, accompanied by vietory and plunder. He
made the necessary arrangements for the Ryuts, and troops. He
ruled for eleven years and some months, when he departed from this
perishable world for the world everlasting. 3

Ax Accoust oF Jast Nizam-000-pEEN, THE 208 oF Jaum SULAH-00D-DEEX.

On ascending the throne of the Sultanut, after the decease of his
father, with the concurrence of the Ameers, he released Mulik Sekunder,
Kuran Buha-ood-deen, and Ameer, his uncles, who had been placed in
confinement for correction, sending them to a distance; and then,
leaving the affairs of state in the hands of the officials, he spent his time
in pleasure and gaiety. He never paid any attention to any business
relating to the country; so much so, that his uncles, having collected
some men, eame to the city, and began to plot his seizare and confine-
ment, which the Jam hearing of, by the advice of some of his troops he =
left the city at midnight, and fled towards Guzerat. In the moru'ulg,:
when his flight beeame known to the uncles, they went in pursuit of
him. The people, seeing this dissension, brought forth from his
concealment Jam Ali Sher, who, with the concurrence of all the nobles,
was placed on the throne. At this time Jam Nizam-ood-deen became =
a traveller on that rond which leads to the country of life eternal. His =

uncles, oppressed with shame and loss, went to the jungles, and sat
down there.

Ax Accovnt or Jam Arr SuER.

“When Jam Ali Sher, with the assistance of the nobles, ascended
‘the throne, he threw open to the world the gates of justice and libera-
lity. He himself was virtuous, and a great warrior. He first of all
turned his face to putting in order the affairs of the kingdom, making
such arrangements as were necessary for the conntry of Sind.  All the
people were happy dm, and in sweel contentment passed

- their time. Some time , the Jam turned his heart towards
pleasure, being in the habit of going out to take exercise durihg the
moon-light nights. Mulik Sekunder and Kurun, the sons of Tumachee,
 and Futteh Khan, the son of Mulik Sekunder, who was in the jungle,
 hearing of the Jam's going about in this way withant-appr&hmﬁnn.
marching by night, and concealing themselves by day, came to the city,
rhere mr'fndu_ud some 10 join them. One Friday night, the 13th of
month, hearing that the Jam had gone with a few attendants to take
the river, according to his custom, at midnight, as he was returning,

s with. drawn swords wers Yeady, intending to kill him., His

- did all in their power to dissuade these from their purpose ;
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but they would not listen to them, and slew the Jam. Having done
this, they at once went to the palace, where there arose much noise,
and alarm; and all becoming aroused and alert, they were aware that
affairs had passed from their hands; so, being helpless, they bent their
heads before the orders of the opposite party.

Jam Ali Sher ruled Sind for seven years. After the martyrdom of
Jam Ali Sher, the fraternity collecting, placed Jam Kurun on the throne
of the Sirdaree.

He did not agree well with the Amvers, and the men of consequence
of the city. In the early days of his reign, he planned to seize and kill
some of these, and confine others. At that time he gavea large assembly,
to which he invited all, when he caressed and spoke in a friendly way to
them. The dinner came, when they all eat together, after which the
Jam withdrew ; when the slaves of those nobles, having placed them-
selves as insiructed, met and eut him to pieces there. The originator
of this, and of the death of Kurun, was Futteh Khan, the son of
Seknnder, who, with the voice of the army and the Ryuts, ascended
the throne.

Whilst he was on the throne, he gave strength to the rules of justice,
and to the affairs of the kingdom in general. He was very wakeful in
all matters of state,

At that time Meerza Peer Mahomed, the grandson of Huzrut Saheb
Kiran Ameer Taimoor Goorgan, eame towards Mooltan, which he took,
and Qoch likewise. He remained there some time, when, by reason of
not finding forage, many of the horses of the sepoys died. Thus many
men of the Meerza’s army became dismounted. On hearing of this,
Saheb Kiran sent 30,000 horses from the royal stables to him. Meerza
Peer Mahomed, becoming strong from this present, made a Chuppao
upon the men of Bhittee and Ahun, who were stubborn and disobedient,
when he gave to the winds of death these and all their families,  Send-
ing a messenger to Bukkur, he summoned to his presence all the men
of econsequence, all the eyes of that eity. The agent of the King of
Delhi, who was there, being unable to fight, fled by thﬂ way of
Jaisdlmere.

An inhanbitant of Bukkur, named Synd Abdool Ghn, tmnnnf devo-
tion, integrity, and piety, having offered up prayers in the name of the
Sirdar of the Prophets (Mahomegd), and baving besought his interces-
sion, went to meet the Meerza Peur-hluhnmnd.

It is written that one night Huzrot," tfe Sirdar of ﬂ'm Prophets (the
blessing of God on him !) came to the Meerza ina dream, showing to him
Syud Abdool Ghais, saying: “ This is my descendant; open the road
to give him honour and reveren®, and shorten the hand of oppression
on him.” The Meerza awoke from his sleep, and was anxious to ses

9454



52

him whom he had seen in his dream. Eleven days afterwards, Synd

Abdool Ghais arrived, when Meerza Peer Mahomed was sitting in his.

place of aundience, with the Ameers around him on either side, when,
his sight falling upon the Synd, he recognised him. Rising, he instantly

came to the front, and embraced him, placing him near himself with®

much honour and reverence. The Ameers then inguired of the Meem—;i-

the ecircumstances of this Synd, when he explained to them what he
had seen in the dream. On that day he gave the Synd a horse anda
present as an offering, granting him permission to return. The Meerza

settled upon Synd Abdool Ghais, the Purguna of Alore,
After the arrival of Saheb Kimn Meerza, Peer Mahomed turned his

face to capture Delhi. Many days passed by, and many kings of
different castes sat on the throne of Delhi. At that time Mooltan went
into the hands of the Lungahs, and the whole of the country of Sind

was in the hands of the Kings of Sind. Jam Futteh Kbhan was celebrated

for his valour; his conrage was of great repute. He reigned for fifteen
years and some months, when his days reached their latter end, and -

his life, leaving this perishable world, went to the world eternal.

Ax Accoust or Jax TvenLus Suan, Tae Sox or SBegvnpen.

When Jaum Futteh Khan placed his side on the bed of sickness, from

the sensations which he felt he saw the face of death, Therefore, three

days before he died, he seated his brother Tughlug on the throne of the =
Sirdaree, placing in his hands the reigns of the government, and giving
him the title of Jam Tughlug Shah. On ascending the throne of the
Sultanut, Jam Tughlug Shah sent his brothers to rule over Sehwistan,
and the fort of Bukkur. He himself spent much of his time in hunting
and exercise. The Beloochees near Bukkur beginning to cause
disturbances, the Jam, taking a large force with him, went there, and

having given the Beloochee Sirdars severe punishment, he turned back.
He placed Thanas in each Purguna, to prevent disturbances. The
length of his reign was twenty-six years, when he died a natural death.

Ax Accovst or Jam Segunper, Tae Sox oF Jam Tuennus Smar,
When he sat in the place of his father, he was a young man. The
Hokeems of Sehwistan and Bukkur, becoming powerful in their res-

pective districts, ceased placing thg orders of government on their
heads, and began to quarrel with each other. Jam Sckunder, leaving

o “Patta, went towards BukkurT “Te had got as far as Nusurpoor, when

named MooBaruk, who in the time of Jam Tughlug was the com-
- of 2,000 men, started up, and arriving at Tatta, proclaimed
am Moobaruk, and seated himsell on the throne of the
~But he had not the concurrence of the people of the eity ;

-
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on this account his rule did not extend beyond three days, inasmuch as
the nobles of Tatta turned him out, and sent 10 ecall Jam Sekunder.
When this news reached him, he made peaceable arrangements with
thoze Hakeems, and returoed to Taita.

One yenr and a half after this, he took the apparatus of his life from
the ways of this perishable world, to the ample house of eternity.

Ax Accovst of Jam Rovonux.

On the 6th of Jumadee-ool-Awul, Hijree 838 (a.p. 1454), Jam
Roydhun came forth.

In the time of Jam Tughlug, he lived in Kutch, with the men of
whieh country he had become connected.

He placed near his person many of those men, such as were
penetrating, whose hearts he pleased without limit, constantly making
them presents of horses and things of value. These men, perceiving on
the forehead of his acts the signs of rectitude, with all sincerity placed
themselves in his hands.

When the news of the decenase of Jam Sekunder reached him, taking
many men, he went to Tatta, and collecting the men of that city, he
said: *1 have not come totake the country, but I have come to save the
property of the Musulmans. I do not consider myself fit to be king;
he whom you consider fit for the situation, make him king, and I will
be the first of any to give him the hand of homage.” Amongst those
men there was no one fit to be king, so all of them agreeing, placed
hir on the throne of the kingdom. In the course of one year and a
half, he pulled beneath his rule the whole of Sind, from the ocean to
Kajur, Mullee, and Khoondee, the boundaries of Matheluh, and Oobaw-
ruh. After reigning eight years, the wind (idea) of ruling over the
Sulianut entered the head of one of his least esteemed friends, Jam
Sunjur, and other slight acquaintinces consenting, joined him,

Jam Roydhun was drinking wine in private, when Jam Sunjur,
putting some poison in a bottle, gave it into the hands of ome of his
attendants, three days after drinking which Jam Roydhun died. Tt is
alsc*written by some, that a man, a Fakeer, one of judgment, who was
considered in those times as o saint at Tatta, was in the habit of con-
stantly coming to the Jam, who always treated him with great respect,
seating him on his own seat ; and whatever this Fakeer said the Jam
agreed to it.

One day, at an assembly, the Whuzten and nobles =d1d to the Jam—
« Ask that Fakeer, to whom you give so much hoflour, what God is
like, and what is his description.” When the Jam heard this, he placed
itin his heart. Four days afteswards, when this Durwish came to the
. assembly, the Jam did not pay him the usual attention. The Fakeer

T, = o
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understood that there was something in this. The Jam then asked him:
“What is God like, and what description does He bear?’ The Fakeer
replied : “The description of God is this, that three days hence He
will destroy you by means of a horse 16 kos from this, and he will
place Jam Sunjur on your seat.” The third day after this, the Jam
went to hunt, not bearing in mind what the Fakeer had said. By
chance he galloped his horse, when he fell, and his foot remaining
in the stirrup, at the distance of 16 kos from Tatta his life was given =
to God. '

Ax Account or Jax Buxivn.

Jum Sunjur was a handsome young man. Many people went mad
from seeing his face, who did his service without receiving any yearly
salary. Historians also write, that previonsto ascending the throne, Jam
Sunjur was on friendly terms with a Fakeer of deep counsel. One =
night Jam Sunjur went to him, and after the meeting he said : “Itis
my wish to reign over Tatta, if only for eight days.” This Fakeer o
replied—* You “will be king for eight years.” When Roydhun
jonrneyed to that other world, the nobles assembled, placing Jam 3
Sunjur on the throne, placing in his hands the reins of the affairs of
state. He, having been thus seated on the thronegthrongh the prayers
of the Fakeer, all the Hakeems on the borders obeyed his orders withont
fighting with him.

During his reign over Sind, such habits and customs were introduced 3
as had never before been known in that country. The sepoys and =
Ryuts in his time lived in great happiness, spending their time con- g
fortably. Jam Sunjur was mnch attached to men of piety, and '
learning, and to all Fakeers. On Friday he distributed mueh in charity
to Fakeers and the poor. He gave certain salaries to those having just
claims.

Historians have written, that before the reign of Jam Sunjur, the
.Hakeems gave very little to the men holding officé under government.
When Sunjur obtained the sovereignty, there was a Kazee at Bukkur,
named Kazee Munroof, who had been made Kazee in the time ot the
former Hakeem, and he received but little pay. On account of the small-
“mess of his pay, be was in the habitof taking something from the people
by intimidation. This reached the gars of Jam Sunjur, who gave
_ orders for this Kazee to be present.

4 "=r When he came, the Jam sald +% [ hear that you take something from

: ose who quarml'wir.h each other.” The Kazee said;“ Yes, I do ;and
wizh to take something from the wiinesses, but these, having
evidence, gpl_ﬁhg beforz I can ask them for anything.”
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day in the hall of justice ; I have passed my life in this business, and
my children are hungry morning and evening.” Henring this, the Jam
gave him a valoable present, and settled his pay according to his
expenses, giving orders throughont the kingdom, that the salaries of all
the men in office were to be inereased, that they might pass their time
free from anxiety and care. When his reign had lasted cight years, his
life went from this house full of sorrow.

Ax Accovnt or Jas NizaM-00D-DEEN, WHO WAS COMMONLY CALLED Jan
Nixpan, Tne Sox oF Banustyum.

On the 25th of Rubee-ool-Awnl, 866 (a. v. 1461), after the death of
Jam Sunjur, he sat on the throne of the Sultanut. When he was firm
as king, he raised on high the standard of his strong predominance. Tt
is said, that at the commencement of his manhood he sought after
knowledge, spending much of his time in the college and cloister.
His disposition was modest and happy ; he was celebrated for his good,
affectionate temper ; he offered much prayer to God, doing great
abstinence. His excellences are beyond what little I can write. At
the commencement of the reign of Jam Nizam-cod-deen, he went with
a large force to Bukkur, remaining there one year, taking out by the
roots those who thieved and disturbed the country. He placed in the
fort of Bukkur great stores of provision, and requisites of every kind,
appointing over it the son of one of his slaves. The people on the border
were so well under his authority, that travellers went along the roads
without apprehension. Having made all these arrangements in the
space of one year, he returned to Tatta with his heart at ense (about
. 0. 1509). For a period of forty-eight years he reigned at Tatta with
absolute power; in his kingdom, the men of piety and learning, and the
Fakeers, spent their time in great happiness, and the sepoys and Ryuis
were in comfortable circumsiances.

Jam Nizam-ood-deen and Sultan Hoosain Lungah of Mooltan were
contemporary friends. Betweenthem there were many roads of esteem
and friendship ; they were always sending something to each other.

The Jam was in the habit of visiting the stable every week. He
was in the habit of stroking the horses down the face with his hands,
saying—* Oh my wealthy one ! Ido not wantto monnt you, unless to go
against Kafirs, because on all gides the rulers are Musulmans ; do you
ask of God, that I may not go beyond the order of the laws of Mahomed,
and that no one may come against e™ God forbid tfat the blood of
any Musulman should flow, so that I should have shiame before God !”

During the time of his rule, Mahomedan rules attained so much life,
that my understanding does not extend beyond them. The congrega-
tions of both great and small assembled in the Musjids; no one was

el
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willing to say his prayers alone. If any one was not presenl with the
congregation, he repented, begging forgiveness for two or three days.

In the latter days of the reign of Jam Nizam-ood-deen, the forces of
Shah Beg Urghoon, coming from Kandahar, fell upon many villages of
Chundooha and Sideejuh. The Jam sent a large force 1o expel these
Moguls, which arrived at Durnh-i-Kureeb, commonly known as Joolow
Geer, where a battle was fought, in which the brother of Shah Beg was
killed, and his forces being defeated, they turned the bridle of retriat

. towards Kandahar; and during the life of Jam Nizam-ood-deen they
did not come back again.

The Jam spent much time in discoursing on knowledge, with the
learned of those times. -

In his time Moulana Julal-ood-deen Mahomed Dewanee, proposing
to come from Shiraz to Sind, sent Meer Shums, and Meer Mooneen,
both his disciples, to Tatta, to ask the Jam to give him a place to live
in. The Jam fixed upon a very handsome residence for him, settling
the requisites for his subsistence, sending by his two diseiples much
money for his road expenses. But before these came, Monlana had

©  travelled to another world : Meer Shums and Meer Mooneen, recolleot-
ing the society of the Jam, returned back to Tatta.

Some time after this, Jam Nizam-ood-deen raised on high the banner
of his departure to the world eternal.

After his death, much dissension arose in the condition of the people

of Sind.

Ax Account oF Jan Pueroz, Tue Sox or Jau N IZAM-00D-DEEN.

When Jam Nizam-ood-deen went along the road to the other world,

his son Pheroz was of tender age. ' =
Then Jam Sulah-ood-deen, the son of the danghter of Jam ‘Sunjur,
and the relative of Jam Nizam-ood-deen, laid claim to the country,
wishing that he might be placed on the king's throne. Durya Khan
and Sarung Khan, who were the slaves of consequence of Jam Nizam-
ood-deen, having great power and dignity, wonld not agree o this; and
collecting all the men of authority, and the nobles of Tatta, they plieed
Jam Pheroz on the throne of the Sultannt, and Jam Sulah-cod-deen,
who had proposed fighting, being hopeless, went 10 Guzerat, and
petitioned Sultan Moozuffur, of that cogntry. Sultan Moozuffar was
~ married to the daughter of the unclg of Jam Saluh-ood-deen ; on this

- mecount his heart turned to whift f said,

‘When Jam Pheroz, having ascended the throne, had. attained
0od, he spread the carpet of pleasure, spending ‘much of his time
rem, and when he came forth he associated with Jjesters and
- On this account, during his time, the people of the
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Summah tribe, and the Khasul Khails, were in the habit of committing
great oppression on the citizens, and when Durya Khan forbade this,
they treated him with seorn, so taking his leave, he went to his Jageer,
Kahan.

At that time, Moulana Mukhdoom Abdool Azeez Abluree,
narrator  of the traditional sayings of Mahomed, with Moulana
Aseer-ood-deen, and Moulana Mahomed, his two sons, each of them
being learned, came to Kahan, where they remained some time, exerting
themselves to benefit the people, and to spread knowledge. They came
from Herat becanse Shah Ismael hud nscended the throne, in the year
918 (s, p. 1512).

Monlana Abdool Azeez was collecting knowledge of all the sciences,
and of things related. He bad composed very good books on all kinds
of knowledge. Amongst them wasa commentary on the Mishkat (a
book of the traditional sayings of Mahomed), and he had written
marginal notes to many difficult works. He went to the other world at J
Kahan. His tomb isin the burying gronnd there, and it is visited by ]
those people. : - '

When Jam Pheroz spent his time in pleasure, the nobles turned their
heads to ruining the country. The chicfs of the intelligence depariment
sent a letter by a man to Jam Sulah-ood-deen, giving him the news that
Jam Pheroz was debanched, and without knowledge ; that Durys Khan,
the support of the kingdom, had gone to Kahan, with accession ; and
that now was the time for him quickly to convey himself there. Jam 3
Sulah-ood-deen showed this letier to the Saltan, who placed s large
force under his orders, giving him leave to go to Tatta, when, marching
by forced marches, he erossed the river at Tatta, and arrived there. The
men of Jam Pheroz, being all abroad, took him out by snother road, and
Jam Sulah-ood-deen mounted the throne in Tatta. He imprisoned all: 3
the slaves of Jam Pheroz, making them show his property.

The mother of Jam Pheroz took him to Durya Khan, at Kahan, when:
the Jum, weeping, said he had discontinued his former evil habits.
Duryn Khan, recollecting the former kindness of the Jam, &ﬁ’*‘ﬁ a
larg® body of men, and when the troops of Bukkur and &Mﬂ! had
united, they came under the standard of Jam Pheroz. Many Beloochees,
and men of other tribes, also joined him. S

. Durya Khan then turned his face towards Jam Suluh-ood-deen, to
expel him. Jam Solah-ood-deen proposed sendingthe fighting elephants
and troops with Hajee Wazeer, to Tight; <o he'remainedsin the city, and
vent forth the Hajee. When the troops of the two parties met, the fire

g

4= of battle was set on light between them. Many men were killed. At
p length the troops of Durya Khas, being defeated, retreated, when, [rom
!’f'-' the field of battle, the Hajee sent a letter lo Jam Sulah-ood-deen, writing
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as follows: “The breeze of victory has struek your banner; make your
mind easy.” When Durya Khan retreated, the time was not propitious
for the Hajee to follow him.,

By chance, that Kosid, who bore this letter of the Hajee, fell into the

hands of some of Durya Khan's men, who took him to their chiel, who,
quickly investigating the meaning, wrote another letter, as if from the
Hajee, to the following effect: “ Defeat has come upon our army; the
enemy are very strong : do you take your family, and depart from Tatta.
By no means make delay; our next meeting will be at Chachgan.”
When this letter arrived, it was the 9th day of Rumzan (fast), in the
evening, and Jam Sulah-ood-deen, without even breaking his fast, crossed
the river. In short, his condition was that of defeat. He reigned eight
months. When Jam Sulah-ood-deen was met by Hajee Wuzeer, the
Intter reproached him, saying—¢ Why did yon run away ?' Then the
Jam showed him his letter, The Hajee said—*This is not my writing" ;
and they afterwards discovered that it was a trick of Durya Khan's, so
they beeame much dejected: but when a thing has passed from the
hand, there is no use of repentence.
* Durya Khan pursued the Jam for many marches, and bringing Jam
Pheroz to Tatta on the day of the Eed Fitur, they said prayers. After
this Jam Pheroz ruled for many years, until the year 926 (a. p. 1520),
when Shah Beg Urghoon came to take Sind, the circumstances of whose
battles I will relate in their place.

I have not seen any book in which the accoant of the Soomrahs and
Summahs is well explained, therefore I have written their summary.
If any one knows more, he must add it to this,

Esp or Crarrer 11,
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CHAPTER IIL

AN ACCOUNT OF THE REIGN OF THE URGHOONEEYUHS ;
OF THE TIMES OF THEIR GOVERNMENT ; OF THEIR
WARS: AND AN ABRIDGED HISTORY OF AMEER
ZOONOON URGHOON.

Meer Zoonoon was the son of Meer Husun Busree. He was famed for
his valour amongst his tribe. He was in the ranks of the servants of
Meerza Aboo Suneed. During the time of battle, his gallantry was
apparent to all.  On this account, the eyes of the Meerza were always
on him, and he received sq many kinds of valuable presents from his
master, that his fellows were filled with jealousy against him. In this
manner, his rank rose above that of all his brethren. After the battle
of Kura Bagh, he went to his {ather at Herat, where he remained some
tisne in the service of Sultan Yadgar Meerza. From thence he went
1o Samarkand, where the light of the sun of the kindness of Sulan
Ahmed Meerza struck the side of his condition, and he stayed there
two or three years. After this, on acconni of the wars between the
Ameers of Turkhanee and those of Urghoonee, he returned to Khorasan,
when he came under the eve of kindness of Sultan Hoosain Meerza,
who placed him over the countries of Ghore and Dawnr. At this time
the Huzarnh and Nukduree tribes in those borders were very powerfal.
In the year S84 (a. p. 1470), Ameer Zoonoon, iaking a small foree,
went there, where for three or four years he was constantly fighting
with those people ; but by the good fortune of the king, he was the
conqueror in all these fights, and he bronght thal country under his
authority. 'The men of Huzarah and Nukduree, seeing his valous, ben
their heads beneath his orders, and they did not commit such act y again.
Sultan Hoosain Meerza approved of his arrangements, and placed all
the Affairs of Kandahar, Furat, and Ghore in his hands. By this means
Ameer Zoonoon became very powerful, and he wok under his anthority
Shawl, Mustoong, and the countries adjacent to them.

Ax ACCOUNT OF HOW THE Friexpsni® EXISTED BETWEEN Merr Zooxoox
UnonooN, AND Bupess-ooz-Zossx Afgenzs, Tne Sox or SvrLTax
Hoosax Suan. -

It has been previously mentioned that the king looked npon Meer
Zoonoon with the eye of kindnels, giving him a Khilat and a standard,
and placing him over Kandahar, Gurmsere, and Dawur. Three years
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afterwards, Meer Zoonoon eollected together many of the men of
Huzarah, Nukduree, Kubehag, and of the Moguls of Kandahar. When
the news of this reached the ears of the king, he sent a royel Firman to
eall Meer Zoonoon, who without delay arrived at the foot of the throne,
placing there offerings of great value. He also gave to the princes and
men of consequence about court, necording to their degree, various
rarities.  Therefore all the people loosened their tongues in praise of °
him, deeming him a wisher of happiness to the king., Yet, with all
this, the king had not confidenece in him. Meer Zooncon was o wise
man, and, fulluwing the track of knowledge, he determined in  his own
mind to effect his business through Budeen-0oz-Zuman Meerza, whom
Meer Zoonoon was in the habit of Visiting when he was alone, and he
daily presented him with something fresh and new. One night, Meer
Zoonoon =aid to him : ¢ T perceive, from the manner of the king, that
he will not now allow me 1o depart; it is therefore better that I give my
people their leave, that they may go home.” The Meerza, hearing this,
: gave him great praise. After Meer Zoonoon had remained there a year
or upwards, one night, at a private assembly, in the presence of the king,
they were talking of various matters, when his rayal highness himself
said - % What do you think of Meer Zoonoon being a well-wisher of
happiness towards me?” TUpon this, the people at that party became
thonghtinl. Meerza Budeen-coz-Zoman said : & No Ameer agrees (o
take the government of Kandahar; and if any go there, in the space of
two or three years they die throngh some disease or =some quarrel : it
would be better to give Meer Zoonoon his dismissal, for this would not
be in vain, for two reasons—for Meer Zoonoon, on going there, will be
either obedient or rebellions ; il he is rebellions it will not be fraitless,
[or two reasons—for he will either die of the disease of that country, and,
if he does not die, he will not eseape from our hands.”

The king approved of this, saying: % The bridle of the choice of this
~ matter is in your hands.” Meerza Budeen-coz-Zuman took security
from Meer Zoonoon. .

The king then gave Meer Zoonoon a handsome Khilat, a horse with

saddle and bridle, and all the requisites for a force, such as a Nugﬁmh,
and a standard, and he directed the officers of state to furnish him with

AT Firmnn, with the royal titles affixed.
= Meer Zoonoon gave a written engagement to the Meerza, to the
S effect that # when the king’s Firgan arrives, I will attend without

delay.” % T

Meer Zoqnoon,'nuning the kindness of the Meerza, senta man 1o
ahar to call his son Shah Beg, who, with Abdoor Rahman Urghoon,
Tarkhan, Janfur Urghoon, affd Meer Fazil Kookooltnsh, and
en, quickly came to Khorasan. By the arrival of Shah Beg

3
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und these others, the king, the Meerza, and all the government officials,
gained confidence.

On acconnt of Meer Zoonoon's going to Kandahar, Meer Zoonoon
remaeined a long time with the king, when the princes, Ameers, and Wo-
zeer, exerling themselves in his favonr, represented to his highness that
the borders of Kandahar were much distarbed ; that if it was so ordered,
Meer Zoonoon would go there, and putmattersright. The king ordered:
that Zoonoon himself shonld go to Kandahar, leaving his son and nobles
there. On hearing this, Meer Zoonoon, abandoning all his property,
horses, tents, &ec. went quickly to Kandahar, taking with him his son
and all his nobles. Two or three days after this event, the king issued
oriders for Meer Zoonoon to remain until the first days of spring, and
that he might then depart fur Kandahar, The attendants went fo his
house, and secing that only his property was there, they camé to his
royal highness, telling him the eircumstance of his departure. Hearing
this, the king snid : “ Zoonoon having left in this manner, I shall not see
him again.”” The princes and Meers said : “ Why should he not come ?
all his horses, camels, tents, and property are here.”  His royal highness
replied : “This is the stratagem of his eleverness : he has made game
of me, and gone away.” And so it was.

The king then wrote a kind Firman, which he sent by a trusty attend-
ant, named Sarban Ali, who, going with great speed, met Meer Zoonoon
as he was marching out of Furat, when he delivered the Firman to him.
Meer Zoonoon, advancing to the front, took this with great h’ﬂmtlll}',., g
and reading its contents, he was mueh pleased. He Ipﬁlqgimi w l.*"‘ 1
Sarban Ali, saying: “I am two marches from home, I will havea'
meeting with my children, and, having filled my stomach with everything,
I will then sccompany you to the king.” When he got to Kandahar,
he did Sarban Ali moch honour, givin ghim large sums of mnmy
One day he was in a tent with his two sons Shah Beg and H ahomed
Mokeem, anfl hizs brother Meer Sultan Ali, when he ealled Sarban A
After speaking on various subjects, Meer Zoonoon said to him: &
think that if I went to the king, he would not allow me. Inﬂ_

tell me the truth.” Sarban Ali, who had experienced i
of kindness at his hands, replied as his heart MJJTHM Meer

Zoonoon, presenting him with a handsome mh with gold
caparisons, and much money, he gave him his leave. When Sarban
Ali reached the king, he told him alkthg circumstances, gjving him the
letter which he had brought from Meer Zoonoon., The king was
distressed at this; but it is no use 1o be somry for that which has= left

our hands.

-
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Ax AccourxT oF THE Goixe oF MEerza Bupeex-ooz-Zusay, of Kaxpanar.

By reason of the change of temper of the king, Meerza Budeen-ooz-
Zuman becoming displeased, and being hopeless from his brothers,
turned the bridle of his intention to go to Gurmsere and Kandahar.
Before he arrived, Meer Zoonoon, and his son Shah Beg, went in front
10 meet him, being most humble and submissive. They endeavoured
1o meet his wishes as mnch as they counld, saying they were ready to
do all in their power for him. Then Meerza Budeen-coz-Zuman was
married to the innocent danghter of Meer Zoonoon. On this account
he was happy, passing his time agrecably, and great friendship sprung
up between him and Meer Zoonoon and his sons. At that time Ameer
Shaikh Ali Tighaee, who was the private tutor of Meerza Budeen-ooz-
Zuman, fell under suspicion, and was imprisoned. It was in this
way :—One day Meer Zoonoon went to make the circnit of a certain
tomb at Dawuar, when aslave, coming in front of him, as if witha
petition, struck him with a knife. The attendants immediately eut him
10 pieces, as they knew that he had done this at the instigation of Shaikh
Ali, whom Meer Zoonoon and his sons intended to kill ; but he fled to
Meerza Budeen-ooz-Znman, whose house was surronnded by the
Urghooneeyuhs, asking {or him to be given up to them. The Meerza
told them to depart, saying he would send him to them ; but they would
not agree to this. At length, having sworn great oaths that they would
not kill him, he delivered him up to them.

Meer Zoonoon was again satisfied with Meerza Budeen-coz-Zuman,
doing him service as before. Shaikh Ali Tighaee remained confined
for a long time in the fort of Gurmsere: he was then liberated, and told
to go where he pleased. He went to Sultan Hoosain, where he got
service. In the days when Meerza Budeen-ooz-Zuman was at Dawar,
he heard of his son Mahomed Momin having been killed.

A Napmarive o tne Inrrisossmest axp Kiwixe or Manosep Mouns
Meerza, Toe Sox or Meerza Broees-coz-Zusax,

Mahomed Momin was a prince of as great beauty as the snn, At
the eommencement of his manbood, the young tree of his life fell by the
sharp breeze of death. This is an abstract of the stalement.

When, being displeased with his father Sultan Hoosain, Meerza
Budeen-coz-Zuman turned the _bridle of his intentions towards

. _'.'ﬂndahnr, Mahomed Monfin ~ Meerza was at Asterabad. On his

3 ﬁ,therdepurlingrfu:r Kandahar, he sent word to his son, that he had
er accompany him, The prince replied that “it is not praper in you
our face from the hounse of”the Sultanut, and to go beneath
of servants.” Hearing this, Budeen-ooz-Zuman greatly
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praised his son's wisdom, and sending to him some of his most trusty
men, lie warned him, that his uncles were secking his death, that he
must not be deceived by what they said ; that if his grandfather called
him, he should obey the sum mons, and go to him, bat that if nny eame
against him without the orders of his grandfather, he should oppose
them,

Moozuffur Hoosain Meerza npproached Asterabad, hearing of which *

Mahomed Momin wished 1o go and meet him, and, having made over
the conntry to him, to depart himself for some other place. At that
time a letter reached him from his father, filled in this way :—“ On no
account loosen the bridle of your strength from your hands. Collect
Your sepoys, and place your foot on the battle-field.” Upon this,
Mabomed Momin, baving assembled his forees, went forth from Aster-
abad, turning his horse’s bridle in the direction of battle. At that time
Moozuffur, with a large army, also came to the plain of battle, where
the beating of Nugarahs and the blowing of horns commenced on both
gides. In the twinkling of an eye, arrows and bullets fell like min, and
brave men of both sides, mixing together, fought in sneh a manner, that
it appeared as if the signs of the last day had arived. Mahomed
Momin threw many of the valiant men of the opposite side to the
ground of death; but at that time, from the displeasure of heaven,
the girths of the saddle of his horse broke, and he fell from the
saddle to the earth. At that moment a sepoy, one of the enemy,
ran 1o slay him, when Meerza Moozuffur Hoosnin, seeing this,

he himself reached the spot before him, and clasping his uc;iﬁuj'l_r'iﬁljl_if :

arms, he kissed him, and taking him with him, he went to Aul_n‘_.-ﬁb;uﬂ.,'
where he put silver chains upon him. After some days, Moozulfur
Hoosain sent Mahomed Momin to Herat, in charge of the brother of his

mother (maternal uncle), Ameer Mahomed Burnodng Burlas, In ﬁ‘

month of Sufur 903 (a. v. 1497) he arrived there, and placing him in

fort as a prisoner, he turned his face towards the king, whnmh{ﬁi;r
or in whose presence he arrived, on the banks of the Ahb Hugl#hn,
when _‘hn made known to him the above cimummncgq. AL _time
Khodaijuh Begee Begnm, the mother of Moozuifur Hoosai
and it came into her mind that the destruction of M 08
give immortality to her son; so the intent of her hear y
to cast this young tree of the king’sgarden to the gmul‘l_ by the hot wind
of severity ; so she associated hersel® with Khwaja Nizam-ool-Moolk,
who at that time held in his bands all the king's country and property.
One night, when the king had been drinking deeply of wine, she
got his order to kill the prince; and having obtained this, she quickly
sent upen this errand Yar Ali Bukshee, and Abdool Wahid, a Chobdar,
with ten other men of trast. The following day the king, recollecting

{



64

his orders of the previous night, senta swifl courier after these, writing
a Firman to them : By no means cause harm to the cooler of my eyes!"
But those bad men, by the direction of the Begum, had gone with greal
haste, arriving at the place where Mahomed Momin was confined.
The prince, on their coming, arose, asking after their health; when
those of bad fortune, not thinking of the future, killed this youth, who
¥ had not his equal in the whole kingdom. They went that night towards
the banks of the Ab Moorghan, but had only proceeded a short way,
when the courier, with the Firman which was to preserve the prince,
overtook them. But fate had done its business; and except lamenting,
there was nothing else to be done. In the morning, Ameer Sarban
Joonaid, who was in the city, collected many men to place the winding-
sheet, and to give him burial, placing him in the large eollege of
‘Herat. R o e
When the news of the martyrdom of his excellent son reached Meerza
Budeen-ooz-Zuman, he was much grieved, and, with the intention of
avenging him, he gave orders to colleet troops.

Ax Accovst op'rue Marcn or Svrrax Hoosary Towarps KAKDANAR,
AXD OF HI§ TURNING BACK WHEN oX Tig Roan.

When the news reached the Saltan that Meerza Budeen-poz-Zuman,
with Meer Zoonoon, and many troops, which he had collected, was
coming to take revenge for Mahomed Momin on the field of battle, he
unfurled the banner of his intention to march in the direction of
Gurmsere and Kandahar. Meerza Budeen-ooz-Znman nnd Zoonoon,
hearing of the king's coming, jssued orders to all the Ryuts of Furat,
Dawur, and Kandahar, to convey all their grain and articles of

" subsistence to the forts, and when much produce of those countries wns
gathered together, they placed men of strength overit. Meer Zoonoon
went and sat down in the fort of Pishing, which he had previously
made so strong that an insect conld not get into it. Buadeen-ooz-

e Zuman, and Meer Sultan Ali (the brother of Zoonoon), eccupied other

S  forts. Shah Beg remained in the Hissar at Kandahar. Meerza

Mahomed Mokeem went 1o the fort of Dawur. They made an agree-
ment, that if the king fell npon Pishing, Budeen-coz-Znman was to.
_ attack him from the rear, and if he first fell npon the Meerza, Zoonoon

e '_ ~ was toact in this manner. The king, having passed through the country

Sl of Furat, eatered that of Dawury when his army was much distressed

. for want of gro*n, and his sepays were on the point of going overto Meer -
" Zoonoon. When the king heard that there was much grain in the fort”
eest, which was held by Abdoor Rahman Urghoon, and that it would

1 him_without much trouble, therefore the king cast the shadow
‘standard aroun: that fort, when, great alarm entering the breast
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of Abdoor Rahman, before placing his hand on his weapons, he placed
his head on the foot of the king. If Abdoor Rahman had performed
the work of a Kiledar for two or three days, the king’s army must have
dispersed from hunger; because, after this victory, they had but little
grain, and their hunger was as before. The king, thinking it best 1o
return from that place, he returned back towards Herat.

Ax Accornt oF Tig Exrenitios or Meerza BroEes-o00z-ZUMAN, ACCOMPA- .
siED BY Sman Bes Unsuoos, aoaisst Meerza Sourax Hoosan.

Sultan Hoosain Meerza was spending the early days of spring in
pleasure at Alung Musheen, and his troops had gone to their homes, a
few of the nobles of the army remaining near the king. Intelligence
of this reached Budeen-ooz-Zuman, and Shah Beg the sonof Meer
Zoonoon, at Gurmsere, These, perceiving that their time had arrived,
determined to march quickly against the king with three or four
thousand horse, so that the news of their movement should not reach
him. With this intention, they mounted their horses, and withont an
hour's repose on the road, on the fifth or sixth day they arrived near
Subzwar; when Fureedoon Hoosain Meerza, the son of Sultan Hoosain
Meerza, hearing of this, strengthened the fort, and sent successive
runners 10 the king, conveying the news of this matter to himn. On this
reaching Alung Musheen, the nobles fellinto the ocean of agitation,
for the want of soldiers. 'The Sultan sentone of the men of consequence
about him to Herat, with orders to strengthen the fort, and to tell Ameer
Ali Sher to prepare everything there, and that when he should receive
the royal Firman to that effect, he was to send him troops. The king
had ditches dug to save his sepoys, and threw out advanced parties,
the men of which bronght word that the enemy was not stationary, but
that he was coming on like wind and water.

Without doubt, if Budeen-coz-Zuman and Shah Beg bad fullen on.
the royal troops that night, in the same manner in which they had
hitherto advanced, they would have taken the ball of victory from before
the king, and. their affairs would have been according to their desires ;
but frdm the strength of the fortune of Sultan Hoosain, they were not
able to arrive, and they went 1o sleep near Esfuraiyan. In the morning,
when the royal forces began to appear like the stars, bodies joining
the king's camp, Budeen-ooz-Zuman and Shah Beg awoke, and,
thinking as before, they advanced against the king's army. When the
two forces came in sight of each other, the” Nugarahs were beaten, and
the elamonr of the troops began to arise on both sides. Budeen-ooz-
Zuman and Shah Beg, with their men all in one body, came on, and
set on light the fire of battle. Tiley fought very well with the royal
troops, when, at the latter end of the battle, the king himself came upon

9
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the field on his marching throne. At the time of the shining forth of
the sun of the Sultan, the sepoys of Budeen-ooz-Zuman, as the siars
sety s0 they turned their faces in flight. Budecen-ooz-Zuman went in the
direction of Gore, Shah Beg towards Dawur.

The king, having conquered, was happy, and turning his face towards
Herat, he gave praise to God.

This occurred in Shaban 903 (4. n. 1497).

Ax Accoust or THE PEacE-MaRING BETWEEN Svrtay Hoosain axp
Bupeex-ooz-Zumaxs,

When Budeen-ooz-Zuman left Kandahar with Shah Beg to go to
Alang Musheen, Meer Zoonoon was in the Gore country. On this
account Budeen-coz-Zuman, not having effected his wishes against the
king’s troops, turned the bridle of his horse in that direction, when,
Zoonoon going in front to meet him, gave thanks to God that he had
arrived alive. To take revenge for this calamity, he sent men to collect
the troops at Kandahar, Dawur, and Gore. In a short time, a large
force of the Urghoon tribe of the Huzarahs, the Tuokdurees, the
Kubchags, &c. had assembled under the shadow of the standards of
Buodeen-ooz-Zuman and Zoonoon, and they were fully prepared for
war. When this news reached the king, in the opinion that he would
again twist the ears of Budeen-ooz-Zuman, he left Alung Musheen,
going towards Herat. At that time Shaikh Julal-ood-deen, Aboo Suneed
Pooranee, and Moulana Mahomed Soorkh, came to the king from
Budeen-ooz-Zuman and Zoonoon, to make the strong roots of peace.
The king was outwardly not willing to make peace, but inwardly he
placed the happiness of his son before his mind.

- The explanation of this abstract is this :—One or two days prior to
* the former battle, this excellent king had sent Shaikh-ool-Islam, Sail-
ood-deen, Ahmed Tuftazanee, Shaikh Julal-ood-deen, Aboo Suneed
Pooranee, and Syud Ghuyas-ood-deen Mahomed Sudur, towards
Gurmsere, to give advice to Budeen-ooz-Zuman, and to bring him from
the jungle of enmity to the road of peace. When these three arrived
near Furat, they heard that Budeen-ooz-Zuman was coming quickly
with a force agninst his father's head ; then Shaikh Julal-cod-deen and
Syud Ghuyas-ood-deen hadan interview with Budeen-ooz-Zuman and
Meer Zoonoon, when Shaikh Julal-ogd-deen spoke on the subject of
peace to the prince, who replied, that if the king in his kindness would
give him sufficient country” for the subsistence of himself and his

# i:l!_lﬂﬂm, he would follow the road of obedience to his orders, and

Ace the saddle of submission upon his shoulders ; but that otherwise
dnotdoso. The Shaikh and the Syud, receiving their dismissal,
h hllg, telling him what his son had said. Again, after the

\..'_,,_
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battle, these two men, with Ameer Bhaikh Ali Tighaee, went to
Budeen-ooz-Znman, and having conferred with him on the matter of
peace, they returned to the king, representing to him that Meerza
Budeen-ooz-Zuman wished to hold, as formerly, the government of
Seestan and Tumachee, and that then he would not again be at enmity.
The king did not agree to this, and leaving Alung Musheen, he marched
towards Herat. After this, the people knew that the Sultan was going to
fightagainst Badeen-ooz-Zuman and Zoonoon. At that time Ameer Ali
Sher came to the king from Herat, and as he made his Salaam he
received honour from his highness, whom he urged to be pleased with
Budeen-ocoz-Zuman, speaking in favour of reconciliation; when the
Firman was written, placing Seestan and Furat in the hands of
Budeen-ooz-Zuman, and Shaikh Ali Tighaee took this Firman to him
at Gore, when he proceeded from Gore to Seestan. This occurred in the

latter days of Sufur 903 (a. p. 1497).

Ax Account oF Tae Raisine oF TaE Staxparp oF DeparTuRE By Muenza
Bupegn-o0z-Zusman Suan-Zapan, 1o taxe HERAT.

When Suoltan Hoosain Shah turned the bridle of his intention
towards Asternbad, Budeen-ooz-Zuman ecame from Seestan, and Meer
Zoonoon from Dawur, to the Sailaf of Gore; and intending to attack
Khorasan, they collected the men of Huzarah, the Nukdurees, and the
Kubchags. After consultation, with an innumerable host, they marched
against Herat. All the Sultan's nobles’ cattle that they found in the
grazing district they took, and pushed on towards Herat. This news,
preceding them, reached Herat, when Ameer Nizam-ood-deen, Ali Sher,
and the other nobles in that renowned eity, fell into the ocean of anxiety :
they strengthened the towers and parapets, and bringing the men of
Bulookat into the fort, appointed them to remain there. When Budeen=
ooz-Zuman came to the town of Admeeyah, Meer Zoonoon marched in
advance. Some of the men of Bulookat had remained at Baghat, who,
seeing Meer Zoonoon with his large force, those who had the power,
from consideration, brought presents before him, saying they did not
advise his advancing any further, becanse Mahomed Moosoom Meerza
had come from Chichuktoo, Mahomed Walee from Aundghas, Meerza
Abdoola, the son-in-law of Abdool Bayee Meerza, Meer Baba Ali, and
the sons of Khwaja Ufzul, with namerous and well appointed bodies of
horse ; that they were assembled near Baghar, looking for his approach.
Hearing this, Meer Zoonoon retreated a little, and wote word of the
circumstanee to Budeen-ooz-Zuman, who eame up and joined him at
Bukluk. Both of them were sitting in one tent when some from the
advanced parties came in, saying that many men appeared coming
from Baghat. Meer Zoonoon, upon this, mounted with his Urghoons,
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and turned his face to fight. The forces met near Alung Musheen,
when the brave men of either side, drawing their swords, fell upon each
other, fighting in such a manner that the dust from the field of the battle
ascended to the heavens. At that time, the light of the predominance
of the crescent of the victorious banner of Budeen-ooz-Zuman Meerza
fell npon the scene of action. The men of Herat, sceing this, their
hands stopped from their work, their hearts left their places. First of
all, Abdoola Meerza and Ameer Baba Ali fled ; after these Mahomed
Moosoom Meerza and Mahomed Walee. Budeen-ooz-Zuman did not
approve of entering the city, and turned his face in the direction of the
royal army. Those who fled from the battle ran to the fort, the gates
of which they shut, giving into the hands of trasty men the towers and
defences. Budeen-ooz-Zaman and Zoonoon, with victory, returned to,
and encamped at, Alung Musheen. Some daysafier, they went to Pooli
Malan. They did not wish to fight aguinst the city of Herat; their
desire was that the men of that place should give it up to them of their
own accord. On this account, Ameer Ali Sher spoke with great
kinduness, and gave encourngement to the people of the town, ordering
his troops not to fight. In this way forty days went, when news arrived
that the king had left Asterabad, and that he was approaching. Upon
this, Ameer Ali Sher sent many successive letters to the prince, forbid-
ding his fighting against his father, and requesting him to leave Pooli
Malan, and go 1o some other place, so that he might not meet him, and
that the fire of battle should not be again ignited.

The prince, approving of this advice, marched from Pooli Malan to
Pooli Salan ; from thence he returned the bridle of his intention to go to

Ab Moorghan.

Ax Accoust or Broeex-ooz-Zvmax MeERza onrarvise tne SvLTasvr o
Baukn, axp or 1 Berven or Meer Zooxoon axp Sman Bes to
Kaspanan,

‘When Budeen-ooz-Zuman, leaving the vieinity of Herat, went to Ab
Moorghan, many of the men of Badghees and Chichuktoo went beneath
the shadow of his standard, and Shah Beg, coming from Kanlahar,
joined him. In short, a very large force was collected. The prince
‘sent some men to Purindah Beg Bukshee, the Governor of Murn, desiring
him 1o evacuate the fort; but he would not listen to this. o Shah Beg,
taking the Tukdurees, and the Hugarahs, marched against it, and with

o such arms n;ﬁ,E]r had, the¥ went agninst this fort. Purindah fought

om morning till midday, when, his strength failing, Shah Beg took the
of Muru, and making prisoner of the Bukshee, sent him tothe prince,

giving his fanlt, liberated hitn. At that time the king arrived
he heard the prince had & very large and duly prepared
R
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army, at which his highness was much agitated, becanse at that time,
from the constant hnrassing work at Asterabad, his men and horses
had become thin and weakly, and without some rest they could not
fight against Budeen-coz-Zuman and Meer Zoonocon. The king asked
counsel from Moogurub-ool-Huozrutee Suoltan (the minister with his
titles), and they determined to conciliate the prince. They sent
Moolana Fusech-ood-deen Asterabadee to Ab Moorghan, to arrange this
matter. Monlana Saheb, meeting Budeen-coz-Zoman and Zoonoon,
communicated to them what he had to say, inviting the prince towards
the kindness of his father. The prince, looking at the rights of his
parent, agreed to make peace, and after many men had come and gone
between them, it was settled to give 10 Budeen-ooz-Zuman the Sultanut
of Balkh, and its dependencies ; and that in that country the name of the
prince should follow that of the king. The prince, after this, left to go to
Balkh. On the road, Khwaja Shuhab-ood-deen Abdoola Murwarced
overtaking him, delivered the Firman of the Sultanut of Balkh to him.
After his arrival there, Bodeen-ooz-Zuman bestowed great hononr and
distinction upoor Meer Zoonoon and Shah Beg, and then gave them
leave to depart for Kandahar. He gave Seestan to Ameer Sultan Ali,
the brother of Meer Zoonoon.

In short, Meer Zoonoon and Shah Beg, raising the banner of govern-
ment, arrived at Kandahar.

Ax Accovst or Iax-1-Hoosarx Merrza corxe To Sererax: or tue Marcn
or Mieer Zooxoox To Tne Assistaxce oF m1s BrotueR ; axp or' THE
BarrLe sErwEEs THE PArRTIiES.

In the year 908 (a. p. 1502), Hajun Boordee, and Khoda Kulcr.,
Kotwal of the fort of Lush, became rebellious to Meer Sultan Ali
Urghoon ; and wishing the happiness of the king, they senta petitions
to his highness, to the effect that if one of the princes threw the pre-
ponderance of his shadow over that country, us a matter of course
Seestan would be conguered without dificulty. The king then sent
Ibn-i-Hoosain with 10,000 horse, and he arriving at, looted the borders,
ruising the standard of his residence at Oog. When this news reached
Meer Zoonoon, he, on hearing it, marched with his son Shah Beg
against him, and he got over the road very quickly. One morning,
when Ibn-i-Hoosain was asleep, and his troops here and there, Meer
Zoonoon drew near Oog. The Meerza, hearing aof this, with 300 horsemen
who were ready, went to meet him. "Mcer Fazil Kookdoltash, and his
uncle Magil Atkub, were the leaders of the advance of the Urghoons,
They formed their line in front of Ibn-i-Hoosain. The men of both
sides quickly took in their hanés their swords, bows and arrows, and
spears, Things were in this state, when Meer Zoonoon, with many
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men of Tarkhan and Urghoon, came up on one side, and Shah Beg,
with the Yukkuohs, Tukdurees, and Huzarahs, on the other; and
in rear of these Bagur Urghoon, and Beg Ali the son of Meer Sultan
Ali Urghoon. These quickly came on the field of action ; thus Ibn.i-
Hoosain became surrounded. In this condition the Meerza fought for
one hour, when, reeeiving a spear wound from Meer Fazil Kookooltash,
he turned the bridle of flight towards Herat, and Meer Zoonoon forbad
pursuit of him. After this victory, Meer Zoonoon went to Seestan, and
met his brother Meer Sultan Ali. In 909 (a. n. 1503) he returned to

Kandahar.

Ax Accoust or tae Carrure or Kasoor sy Mamomen Mokees, T
Sox or Meer Zooxoox, axp orner Incioests.

Stability and perpetuity are peculiar to the inscrutable essence of
God !—To make migration from this bad world belongs to men, who are
the inhahitants of one quarter of it!

In the year 907 (a. p. 1501), Meerza Ulug Beg, the son of Sultan
Aboo Sunced Meerza, found the merey of God in Kabool. His son
Meerza Abd-oo-Ruzag became ruler there, and sat on the throne of his
father ; but on account of the youth of this prince, enmity arose amongss
the Ameers, and Shere Ruzm Zukkuh took into his hands all the affairs,
large and small. At that time Ameer Yoosoob, and Mahomed Kasim
Beg, Ameer Yoonoos Ali, and some other nobles, having left the city,
were walching a favourable time. In short, on the day of the Eed-i-
Koorban, in the morning, when Shere Ruzm was drinking conjee, these
entered Kabool with 300 armed men, and drawing their swords of
enmity, they cut the roots of his life.

On this account, mnch destruction came tipon the men of Kabool.
Intelligence of this reached Mahomed Mokeem, the younger son of Meer
Zoonoon, at Gurmsere, who, in the last day of 907 (. p. 1501}, colleet-
ing the Huzarahs and the Nukdurees, placed the intention of taking
Kabool before his mind, and he went in that direction. Meerza Abd-
oo-Ruzag, being unable to fight, led ; and Mahomed Mokeem, taking
the country, married the daughter of Meerza Ulug Beg. News of"this
reached Budeen-ooz-Zuman and Zoonoon, when they were on the
banks of Ab Umweeyuh. They were pleased at it, but their anxiety
exceeded their joy ; and Meer Zoonoon from thence wrote a letter to his
~ #on io terrify him, saying: “ This business of yoors iz not good : itisnot

© Bood, because Jou have done"that which you onght not to have done-:
. fit is necessary that you are not careless of yourself, and do no place

the Ameers of Kabool near you.” Then Mahomed Mokeem dismissed
: iabool many of the people who Iad always been connected with
near himself his own people ; and he ruled Kabool.

e——
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After this, at the commencement of 910 (. n. 1504), Huzrut Zaheer-
oos-Sultanut Wulkhitafut Mahomed Babur Badshah, returning from
Samarkand, took the road to Kabool, and passing very quickly over
the intervening space, he shed honour around this city, fortunate by the
sacredness of his ¢ blessed feet.” Mahomed Mokeem, not having
strength to go out to fight the army of Mahomed Babur Badshah, sat
down in the fort. After Kabool had been surrounded some time, the
men of Ooloos and Eemag were inclined to make their Salaam to the
victorious Babur, and the men of the city were also well wishers to the
king. Mahomed Mokeem, being unable to remain, wrote to him for
quarter, requesting leave to come to him to deliver up the keys of the
fort. Huzrut Badshah Mahomed Bahadoor consented to this, and he
took oath that when Mokeem opened the gates he would show him
such kindness as he might merit.

Then Mahomed Mokeem, being an expectant of the kindness of the
king, cuame forth from Kabool, and found the virtue of kissing the royal
carpet; and he made suitable offerings to the king.

Huzrut Babur, agreeably to his promise, showered upon him royal
kindness, and then gave him leave to go to his country. '

Ax Accovst or Tue Manrvrpom oF Meer Zooxoos Urcnoown,

The moon of the month Mohurrum 913 (1. p. 1507) had appeared, when
Mahomed Khan Shaibanee Oozbuk, with forces out of number, like ants
or locusts, crossing the Goorg, turned his intention towards taking Khora-
san. At this the royal family of Sultan Hoosain Meerza became greatly
alarmed. Budeen-ooz-Zuman sent a courier to Meer Zoonoon, showing
the circumstance to him. Meer Zoonoon consulted with those of his
family who were near him, all of whom had different opinions. At
length, Zoonoon said : It is necessary that I should go, for my man-
hood does not give me leave to sit quiet. I do not expect that I shall
return, because the army of the Oozbuks is very formidable and strong,
and it appears that the rule of the family of Sultan Hoosain turns its
face towards declination.” In short, Meer Zoonoon, taking with him
the treops of Urghoon, departed to join Budeen-ooz-Zuman. He had
only gone two or three marches, when he received the news that his
danghter Chochuk Begum had given her life to God at Herat.  Although
deeply distressed at this, he opened the tongue of thanks to God, that
on the approach of these troublesome times he bad become free from

anxiety on that side, T ~

At that time he sent a messenger 1o Shah Beg, tellirg him to proceed
to the seat of government, Herat, taking with him the innocent ladies
of the family, to give to those thejr food, and to remove their garments
of affliction ; adding that after this he was to return quickly to Kandahar.
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He ordered Mahomed Mokeem to hold Dawnr, Ameer Sultan Ali
to stay in Seestan, and Ameer Janfur Urghoon, Abdool Ali Turkhan,
and others, to remain at Kandahar. He impressed upon all these to
place great care and watchfulness before their minds, and not to be
careless. Meer Zoonoon then quickly marching on, joined Budeen-ooz-
Zuman, whose hand he had the honour to kiss. All the princes and
nobles took conncil with Zoonoon ; but they were aware that the deli-
berations of man could not be a shield to the arrow of the fate of Gad,
when it should be the desire of the perpetual Master of the earth that
the kingdom of Khorasan should go into the hands of Mahomed Khan
Shaibanee, and that the end of the reign of the family of Sultan Hoosain
should arrive ; that there would be no avail in assembling the troops of
the cities, and that there was no advantage in asking the aid of the
deliberations of the nobles. At that time the sepoys of the Qozbuks and
Mawuranunhur, had passed the waters of Umweeyuh, when the prinees
and nobles of Khorasan fell into the sea of care, and again commenced
consulting with each other. Meer Zoonoon, from his natural valour,
thought it best to fight ; Ameer Mahomed Burnodug Burlas deemed it
best that they should remain in the fort at Herat, Before the minds of
all were united upon one of these two opinions, one morning, the signs
of the elose approach of the army of Mahomed Khan became as apparent
as the misfortunes of heaven, and the royal troops of Mahomed Khan, the
Burangurs and the Juwangurs, all prepared, came upon the field of
battle.

The princes, turning their attention to drawing up their troops, formed
them in a line upon the places for fighting. On both sides the elamour
of the brave, the beating Nugarahs, and the shouts of the horsemen,
reached above the planet in the seventh heaven. Meer Zoonoon, with
the tigers of the jungle of battle, fell upon the enemy, and by the
striking of the swords of the design of the erocodile, numbers of the
enemy who trod the path of valour were thrown into the waters of
mortality. [n this manner he several times fell npon them. But the
forees of the Oozbuks were donble those of Khorasan ; they followed
ench other like the waves of the oeean : therefore the two conld rot be
won in fight. In short, the princes lost all heart in fighting with them,
and they turned the bridles of their intention towards the jungles of
Bight; and all the bodies of their troops, with great dispersion, fled
towards Khorasan. Zoonoon fixed his foot on the battle-field, assanlted
the enemy o the right andleft ;"from the strokes of his sword the
dust on the plain-of battle had become red from the blood of the bravest
Of the enemy. He behaved with the greatest courage, till at length the
Oozbuks, coming on all sides of thas noble ruler on the field of battle,
ivi g many wounds, fell from his horse, The enemy wished to
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take him alive, to convey him to Mahomed Khan, but Meer Zoonoon did
not give his body up to inactivity, but remained fighting until he died.

Ax Account or soMe oF TAE Circumstances oF Suan Brs, axp Manosen
Mokeew, Urenooss.

After the death of Meer Zoonoon, these two brothers united at
Kandahar, performing properly all the forms of lamentation, At this
assembly Mahomed Mokeem, with all the Sirdars and troops, agreed to
accept Shah Beg for the Sirdaree. On that day, in the afternoon, Shah
Beg ordered the Nobuts and Nugarahs to be beaten as formerly, and
he confirmed in their situations all who held office under Meer Zoonoon.
He did not oppose any, therefore all were happy to remnin in his
service. Bhah Beg had given the ornaments of knowledge and respect
to the commencement of his manhood. He found a great share of
wisdom, always associating with men of learning. When Mahomed
Khan had taken Khorasan, he went to Fumat.  From thence, proposing
to take Kandahar, he turned the bridle of his intention that way. When
he reached Gurmsere, Shah Beg and Mahomed Mokeem sent am-
bassadors to him, saying they wounld obey his orders; the sermnon and
coinage were altered to the name of Mahomed Khan Shaibanee ; and
they proposed réceiving the honour of making their Salanm to him,

Mahomed Khan, being pleased with them, returned to Khorasan,
sending three horses, a handsome Khilat, and a teat, in charge of Abool.
Hadee and Khwaja Taimoor Tash. Shah Beg hearing of the approach
of these, thonght, by two coming, thatit would be for two matters: either
that they were to make a treaty, or else that they wished to see the
‘extent of the city and his troops. At that time he sent men in all
directions to collect his people, and taking many men, he went forth in
front to meet them. He remained with them three days outside the
city, and having pleased them, guve them their leave,

During 913 (1. n. 1507), Mahomed Babur Badshah, mising on high
the standard of departure to take Kandahar and Dawur, left Kabool and
(Ghuznee with many victorions troops. Shah Beg and Mahomed
Mokeam went out to meet, and fought with him on a field of battle.
After many men had been slain, the breeze of vietory struck the tassels
of the banners of Mahomed Babur, and Shah Beg and his brother fled.
All the countries of Kandahar and Dawur eame into the hands of Babur,
who took all the treasure which Zoonoon bad collected with so
much labour, dividing it amongst his"soldiesy. Appointilg his brother
Sulian Nasir-ood-deen Meerza Governor of Kandibar, he himself
retumed to Kabool, taking with him Mah Begum, the daughter of
Mahomed Mokeem. Some monthe after this, Shah Beg and his brother,
with a numerous force, full of bravery, came upon Kandahar, frecing

10
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that country from Nasir-ood-deen, who retreated to Kabool. Shah Beg
and Mahomed Mokeem tumed their hearts 1o putting to rights the
arrangements of the country.

At that time the angel of death came upon Mahomed Mokeem, who
passed from this to that world. ' Afterwards Mahomed Babur married
Mah Begum to Kasim Kokuoh, agreeably to the rules and forms of
Mahomed.  After a space of time, she bore a daughter, to whom was
given the name of Naheed (Begum. Kasim Kokuh was afterwards
Eilled, fighting against the QOozbuks,

Ax Account oF Suan Beo coin6 10 Taxe Ssenrg, axp or tae Fronr
or TuE Descesnants or Peee Wurnes Bunpas,

When Shah Beg came to Shawnl from Kandahar (Kunudhar), Meer
Fazil Kookooltash and Abdool Ali Turkban went to meet him, taking
and showing to him for service many tribes of the neighbourhood, to
the Sirdars of which Shah Beg gave encouragement, and they became
expectants of his kindness; but the tribes were afraid of the army, not
knowing where it was going. At length, they discovered it was going
against Seebee, and by degrees this néws reached the descendants of
Sultan Peer Wullee, who governed in that country, npon which they
sent some of their confidential men with presents to Shah Beg, nssuring
him that they were his most sincere well-wishers. After some time
they were allowed to return, Shah Beg remaining at Shawul, to make
arrangements, He spread the earpet of consultation before his nobles,
all of whom were of opinion that it was best to go against Seebee: and
Shah Beg thought so too, becanse in the year 915 (4. p. 1509), Shah
Ismuel had taken Khornsan, and Sultan Babur was at Kabool, and
between these the door of warfare was constantly open; and if in this
dissension Kandahar should pass from their hands, where shonld they
go to? So Shah Beg sent a body of troops from Shawul towards Seebee,
and following these, he by sueeessive marches arrived there, and took
the fort. Of the men who were in it, some made their Salaam, others,
‘who had houses there, fled to Futehpoor. After this, Shah Beg sent
Meer Furced Urghoon and others to Kandahar; he himself went
towards Futehpoor, 50 kos from Seebee, in the direction of Sind, now
deserted, but the fort and houses still remain,  When the descendants
of Peer Wullee heard of this, they advanced ta give him battle with
1,000 horse and two or three thousand men of the Dowlutshaces, the
~ Burgudaees,"the Koozpae=s, the Noorghaeces, Beloochees, and other
-~ castes. Inthe balﬂE, Shah Bﬁg was victorions, Some of the enemy were

e rest fled to Sind.  Shah Beg, after making the needful armnge- -
returned to Seebee, where he stayed some time, giving orders to
ouse and to make gardens. He builtanother fort, placing in it
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some of his veternns, and he himsell then returned to Kandahar. Afier
his return, he went to take exercise in Dawur, and lowards Gurmsere,
giving encouragement to the inhabitantsof all the places he visited. On
arriving at Dawur, the mother of Mah Begum, named Beebee Zureefuh,
placing a coarse black woollen cloth round her neck, stood before the
door of his honse, and on Shah Beg's arrival, she placed her hands'on
the hem of his garment, saying : % Mah Begum is the memorial of your
brother; it is necessary that by some means or other yon bring her back.”
On hearing this, a fresh burn of the affliction of separation fell npon the
heart of S8hah Beg, who, towards the recovery of Mah Begnm, consulted
secretly with those behind the curtain. Fatima Sultan Begunm and
Khanuzod Begum, the two wives of Shah Beg, advised that Dowlut
Kutuh, who was a slave girl in the Harem of Mabomed Mokeem,
should be sent to Kabool, and that by some device she should meet Mah
Begum, and bring the news ; that after this, a party of their trusty near
relations should go, and seeretly taking her out of Kabool, and proceed-
ing by the road through the Huzarah country, bring her to Kandahar,
Shah Beg, approving ol this advice, married Dowlut Katuh to Dowlut
Khan, and sent her to Kabool. By great ingenunity she got into Mah
Begum’s house, passing herself off as one unknown ; but when there was
no one else present, she spoke that which was in her heart. But Mah
Begum wounld not agree, fearing for her life, becanse she had been taken
away by Babur Shah, saying: “God forbid !—but after my arrival at
Kandahar, my relations, for the sake of their reputations, may destroy
me.” To remove this dread, Dowlut Kutuh was constantly taking oaths
of weight before her, when she at last agreed to eseape secretly.
Dowlut Kutuh conveyed this news to Shah Beg, who, on hearing it,
was very happy. He sent Baba Meerkai Sarban, Dowlut Khan, and
others to Kabool. These, going throngh Huzarah, took more men from
thenee, and arriving at Kabool, they put up outside the town. In two
or three days, having rested their cattle, and having shod their horses
with reversed shoes, they were all ready to depart. One day Mah
Begum went to the bath in the afternoon; at sunset she left it, and
with "Dowlut Kutuh she joined her friends. But she did not bring her
daughter Naheed Begum, then a year and a half old. -Aler joining
her friends, she remembered her child, and was mueh aflicted ; bmt
these thought it a great blessing that she hergell had come, and at onee
mounted, taking her with them. Tihr.'j’ marched 'lhal entire migh,
halting in the afternoon of the following Gy to eat fuod After going
another night and day, they got over the path of fear, and arrived in the
Huzarah country. Here they stopped somie days to refresh, and then
proceeded to Kandahar. Shah Beg came to “the ‘door 16 meet her,
showing great kindness (o ber, and taking her in his arms, he carried
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her into the house. He gave horses and Khilats to those who attended
her, making them all happy. Onme year after the death of Kasim Kokul,
Mah Begum was married to Shah Hoosain,

Ax AccounTt oF soME oF TuE CIRCUMSTANCES OF Sman Bes.

When Shah Ismael in 917 (a. n. 1511), took Khorasan, the star of his
sovereignty shone forth brightly. He killed Mahomed Khan Shaibanee
Oozbuk, after which he attained great strength. Those who were near,
and those who were far away, when they heard of his army, they all
feared. Atthat time Dermish Khan, coming towards Farat and Beestan,
raised the standard of his anthority on high. Shah Beg, on hearing
this, was alarmed, and took counsel with his friends, saying: “I am
fallen between two kings such as fire and water: on one side is Shah
Ismael, on the other Babur Shah.” His friends in their wisdom settled
that he should go to Shah Ismael, through the introduction of Dermish
Khan; and that it was necessary to make friends with Babur Badshah.
8o he sent Kazee Abool Hoosain with many presents to Kabool, declar-
ing that he was the very great friend of the king, and he himself, through

. Dermish Khan, went to Shah Ismael, who was very kind to him,
excusing him from bowing his head, and ordering him to make his
Salaam in the manner of Chughtiyuh, bending the knees.

Shah Beg remained in attendance a long time, the king promising
that he should have leave to depart on the first day of spring. Dermish
Kban was sent to the fort of Ekhtiyar-ood-deen, when the flatterers
turned the temper of the king from Shah Beg by evil words. As the
spring drew near, on the plea of some pretended business, Ismael
withdrew his face from Shah Beg, and confined him in the fort of Znfur.
His attendants, being helpless, some remained seeretly there, others went
to Kandahar. When Shah Ismael went to remain at Irag, Mehtur
Soonbool, a slave of Shah Beg’s, went to Zufur, setting up a sweetmeat
shop underneath where his master was confined. Through his sweet-
meats he became acquainted with all the prisoners, and sometimes he
ventured inside, when by signs he understood what Shah Beg wanted,
and it was arringed between them, that twelve of his trusty men shonld
come, and taking him from thence, convey him to Kandahar. Mehtur
Soonbool told these men to come, and then he cooked some sweet-
meat, with which he mixed intoxicating things, which he gave according
to custom to the door-keepers, who, after eating it, loosened the bridle of

~ alertness from their hands™ Alter this, the twelve men came to the
~ slave's shop, and he, taking two of them, went to the tower where Shah
 Beg - was kept, and with a rope they lowered him down: but the rope

ing sh : he let go, and fell to the arth, when, on account of the irons :

legs, he fell on his face instead of on his feet, breaking one of
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his teeth. He then mounted a horse, and after marching all that night
and the next day, he by some means got another horse. In this manner
he arrived where there was no fear. The keepers of the prison, on
coming to their senses, made great search, but not being snceessful,
with great vexation they returned back again.

Ax Account oF Manonep Basvr Bapsunan coixo acaixst Kaxpanan,

When Babur Badshah heard of the imprisonment of Shah Beg, he
determined 10 take Kandohar; but from many impediments which
existed in the direction of the towns of Mawrauh, Unur, and Bodukshan,
he conld not bring forth that which was on his breast. But when he
had puat his heart at ease with respect to those, with a very large foree,
he raised on high the standard of march against Kandahar, Shah Beg
collected in the fort ull the necessary articles of subsistence that he
conld find, and making up his mind to hold and fight the city, he
repaired the towers and defences, placing men of trust over these. He
sent spies into the royal army, to discover and let him know daily fresh
news as to their condition, strength, &c. WWhen these arrived there,
and saw the army, they sent word that the king, with a large force, and
greal munitions of war, had turned his face that way. Shah Beg, with
much valour, declared it as his opinion that they onght to go out o
fight on the plain; and he consulted with his friends on this, all of whom
decided that it was necessary for them onee to try their strength on the
battle-field, where, if God showed the face of victory in the | ing-
glase of their desire, it wounld be as they wished ; if not, they ¢
return to the fort and fight there. But, as Babur Badshah drew near,
he became indisposed, so much so that his sepoys’ hearts left their
places, and their hands let go their work. Shah Beg, hearing of this,
sent a valuable present to the king by influential men of the city, laying
the foundation of peace between them. Babur sent a horse and a Khilat
to him, and then, turning his face, be took his army back to Kabool.

Shah Beg went to Seebee, remaining in that country some ftime,
telling his nobles that ¥ Babur Badshah had come this time to see
the ivad to Kandahar : it is probable that be will again raise on high the
banner of march against it next year; for until be has turned me oot of
my place, he will not find repose.” To confirm this, he advanced two
proofs, one of which was, that* Mahomed Mokeem having done that
which he ought not to have dﬂne,‘lhn.t thorn rankled in his (Babiir's)
heart. On this account he took away Mokeem's dailghter : he also
thinks that if he does not take Kandahar, the Urghoons'(God forbid !) may
aguin do as Mokeem did. The other proof is, that the king has many
princes, who have not sirength 1 fight the Oozbuks and Kuzulbashees,
but they are strong enough to war against me: on this accouni, some
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day they will take Kandahar; so it is necessary for me to be alert, and
careful on all sides.”

In the early days of the cold scason, he sent 1,000 horsemen from
Seebee towards Sind. These looted the villages of Kahan and Bagh-
banan in the month Zilkut 921 (s. ».1515). Mukhdoom Janfur, who
was one of the well known men of learning of Sind, says that he heard
from Meerza Eesa Turkhan, that in this expedition 1,000 camels
belonging to the wells of the gardens fell into the hands of that force.
From this the produce and cultivation of that country may be nnder-
stood. This force remained a week in the vicinity of those places.

During that year, as Shah Beg had foretold, Babur Badshah came
upon, and surrounded Kandahar. He commenced digging mines, on
account of a famine that season. This siege caused very great distress
1o the citizens. In short, peace was made. In the early days of
the month Peer, on account of fever attacking his troops, Babur
was forced to return to Kabool. During this year, Shah Hoosain, being
displeased with his father, left Kandabar, going to Babur Badshah, who
received him with the eyesof kindness. He stayed two years near the
king, during which period Babur was constantly saying that he had not
come for service, but to learn the customs of kings from him.

In 922 (a. 0. 1516), before the collections of tribute in grain were
made, the standard of march of Babur Badshah arrived at Kandahar,
when he encireled it. By his coming at that time, Shah Beg became
mw: distressed, so he sent Shaikh Aboo Suneed Pooranee to make
terms of peace, upon which Khwaja Abdool Uzeen came into the city,
when a treaty was written, to the effect that in the following year Shah
Beg should deliver up the city to Babur Badshah, who returned to
Kabool after this was settled. :

Shah Beg then strengthened Shawnl, and he remained there and at
Seebee. 1In 923 (a. ». 1517), agreeably to the treaty, he sent the keys
of the royal palace and fort of Kandahar to the king, who much approved
of this conduct. Shah Beg passed the next two years in Shawul and
Seebee, with great difficulty : one season his sepoys had nothing 10 eat
but carrots and turnips. At length, being helpless, he tarned his face
towards looting Sind, and a second time his troops came to the fortof
Machee, and to the country of Chandooka. During that year, Durya
Khan, who was called the son of Jam Nindah, the raler of Tatta, taking
alirge force, arrived near Seebee. At this time Shah Beg was not

~ present, having gone on arexpedition against Seestan. There was

. mmch fighting bétween the Moguls (of Seebee) and the Bindees, in
ch. Aboo Mahomed Meerza drank the sherbet of martyrdont.
and the few men of the Usghoons and Huzarahs who were
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In that year Jam Nindah, laking the articles of his heing, went to
the world of everlasting life, and Jam Pheroz sat in his pluce ; and this
I have mentioned before,

During the life-time of Jam Nindah the men of Dowlnishace and
Noorghaee, coming to 'l'atta, weunt into his presence. Rai Beg
Urghoon, with some followers, also came there, because he had Bpilt
blood with his hand : to these the Jam assigned a quarterto live in, called
Mogulwara. Meer Kasim Rubkee also came in secret, and stopped
gsome time in Tatta, and having made himself acquainted with all its
circamstanees, he went back to Shah Beg, to whom he gave temptation
to go and take it, and on what he said Shah Beg prepared a foree for
that purpose, in the latter days of that year. Historians say, that when
be began to collect men at Futehpoor, great numbers joined him ; that
from thence he sent o large body under Beg Albee Meerza and other Sir-
dars, to Shawul, to protect his family and the fort ; he left Sultan Maho-
med at Seebee, and placed some men in Futehpoor and Gunjabeh.
He placed under Meer Fazil Kookooltash 40,200 brave men, sending
him in advance towards Tatta, he himself following.

When Shah Beg halted at Baghbanan, the head men came and paid
their respects to him. It was the wish of Shah Beg that all the people
should come of their own necord and obey him, but these would not do
so; then he marched upon Tatta by the way of Goondee, and by sueces-
sive marches he arrived on the bank of the Khanwah (canal), 3 kos to
the north of Tatta, where he halted. Shah Beg remained some days,
considering how to cross the canal, where one day a poor man was seen
coming over on foot. He was seized by the men on chokee (guard), and
through intimidation he agreed to show the way, and Abdoor Rahman
Dowlutshaee, putting his horse into the water, followed him, and
after having crossed over he came back agnin, and gave the news to
Shah Beg.  On the 11th Mohurram, 926 (a. p. 1509), leaving many to
take eare of his camp, he himself put his horse into the canal, his army
following him. In short, the whole crossed over, and arrived near
Tatta. Durya Khan, leaving Jam Pheroz in the city, went forth to the
fighs, with many men. The battle began between the two armies, and
they fought to such an extent, that it eannot be deseribed by the pen.
At length victory came to Shah Beg, and Jam Pheroz, turning his face
in the direction of flight, crosseq over the riverto the other side.  Durya
Khan, afier being made prisoner, wis slain with the men of Sammah.

Shah Beg gave Tatia up to plunder lill e 20th Mohurram, his troops
throwing the dust of villany on the heads of the inhabitants.

It is true that “ when o strong king culers o towa it becomes desolate I
(Koran.)

ShnhBegﬂlmdmdwnﬁnnd many of the families of the men of
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note of the city, for he was angry. His anger ceased through the
exertions of Kazee Kazin, who was the Kazee of the town, in this
manner :—His family was confined, and he, like one out of hie senses,
went about the streets seeking, as if looking for something he had lost.
In this condition he wrote a leiter, in which he showed forth the
unhappy state of the people. This was given to Shah Beg by Hafiz
Mahomed Shureef Emam. On reading it, Shah Beg's heart was
affected ; he gave ordera to have it promulgated by tom-tom, that none
of his men were to lay hands on the citizens, and taking an arrow from
his quiver, he gave itto Kazee Kazin, and sending a man with him,
directed that such people as he should point out were to be made over
1o him.

Previous to this, Jam Pheroz; with a small body of followers, went to
the village of Perar, where he sat under great affliction, for his family,
and that of Nizam-ood-deen, remained in Tatta, and he knew that his
affairs conld only be improved by his attendance on Shah Beg. So he
sent a well-spoken man to him, by whom he conveyed a most humble
verbal message: 4 My degree is so small, that T could not fight with
one of your sepoys. This business, which has come to this result, has
been brought about by fear for my life, and by the instigation of others:
if the water of your kindness and forgiveness washes off the dust of my
faults, T will place the ring of submission to your orders in my ear, and,
as long as I live, my foot shall not swerve from the pathway ol
obedience to yon ; and when yonr honorable troops shall leave, and
eneamp outside the eity of Tatta, I will eome to your presence, and give
light to my eyes, which are clear-eyed by the dust of your doorway.”
Shah Beg, with great kindness, which was in his original nature, at
this humility, pitied him greatly: to those who came from him he gave
Khilats, sending messages [ull of kindness. ThenJam Pheroz, with his
brethren, came to the water side at Perar, and suspending his sword
from his neck, he made humble submission. Shah Beg direeted Ula-ood-
deen, the son of Moobarnk Khan, 1o permit the familivs of Jam Pheroz
‘mnd his relations to go to him. In the latter end of Sufur, Shah Beg
left Patta. At his first eneampment, Jarm Pheroz sent him many aceept-
able presents,-and, through the introduction of the nobles, he attnined
the honour of kissing the hand of Shah Beg, and, in his presence, the
Jam much lamented what he had done. Shah Beg gave him a large

Fde. sum of money in a present, and also the Khilat which Sultan Hoosain
 had conferred npon Meer ZoSnoon ; on receiving which, Pheroz became
vy happy. He also gave to him all the chiel buildings in Tatts,
him to go there, and take his people to their homes. 3
! ﬂunlmld consultation with his chiefs, proposing—+ Sind is
niry ; many men will be required to take care of it—a few
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eannot do so; it seems proper to make one-half of it over to Jam Pheroz,
and to leave the rest under our men of trnst.” 1t came into the wisdom of
the couneil, that it would be preferable to make over to the Jam the
country from Lukee, near Sehwan, to Tatta, and that the country
above Lukee should remain in the hands of his (Shah Beg's) slaves.
After settling the treaty, Shah Beg, by successive marches, arrived at
Sehwistan, the men of which, before his arrival, had gone off to Tuluh-
tee, where numbers were collected—among them, many of the tribes of
Shuhta, and Sodah, all of whom had agreed that they would not with-
draw the hand from war as long as they lived. Shah Beg took the fort
of Sehwan. He then sent Kazee Kazin to the sons of Durya Khan, to
try and induce them to leave the jungle of enmity, and to bend their
heads in the path of submission. When he came to these, they wonld
not agree to what he said. Shah Beg then came, and halted opposite to
Tuluhtee, and three days after, n man, coming from thence, showed
him the strength of the enemy, saying Mahomed Khan and Muton Khan
(the sons of Duryn Khan) proposed coming to his presence, but that
Mukhdoom Bulal, the chief priest of that conntry, had prevented them
from doing so, instigating them to fight. This was in this manner—
when Shah Beg conquered Tatta, he placed a fine on this priest.

Shah Beg that night collected boats, and in the morning Meer Fazil
Kookooltash crossed the river by these, and the Urghoons, the Turkhans,
and the whole army. At breakfast time Shah Beg followed them. All
the men of Tuluhtee came forth from their fort, Ronmul and Todah,
Sodah, being in advance. Meer Fazil, with the vanguard, began the
attack, breaking the enemy’s force ; and when Shah Beg came up, the
battle was taken 1o the gates of the fort, and his men, falling upon the
enemy with great impetuosity, many of the Summahs were killed.
Some, throwing themselves into the river, drank the water of the occan
of death ; some fled to Sehwistan. Shah Beg remained three days in
Tuluhtee, giving to the winds of death the harvest of the lives of those
men. In this battle the Sodahs fought well, fixing their feet of valour

on the battle-field. Most of them were 1_:_r_h:\in,
-~ s J

Ax Accouxt or Suan Beo sexping ms Sox Saan Hmul;!lcll Snawur
AND Seepee 1o EXPEL JaM SULAR-O0D-DEEN.

When Shah Beg, having conqugred Tatta, gave the government of that
country to Jam Pheroz, and mlnmn‘d towards Seebee I-tll! Shawul, and
when those men of the Jam's who throvgh $ar had fled were now again
collected near him, at that time Jam Sulah-ood-deen (who formerly
hoisted on high the standard of war against Jam Pheroz, alfter the death
of his father, and who for some =hort time raled over Tatta, and was
defeated by the stratagem of Durya Khan, and went to Guzerat) again

11
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turning the desire of government on his head, with 10,000 horsemen (com-
posed of the three scets of Jharejus, Sodahs, and Kungurs) tarned his
face towards Sind. Shah Beg had left in Tattn Meer Aleek Urghoon,
Sultan Mahomed Beg Lar, with others, to give confidence to Pheroz,
who, hearing of this, wrote a letter to Shah Beg, which they sent by a
Kosid. The Jam also sent with much despatch Ula-cod-deen the son
of Moobaruk Khan, saying he needed aid.  'When this news came, Shah
Beg called his nobles, asking their advice. They said it was best that
he should send his son Shah Hoosain with a good force, and that he
should arrive quickly to the help of Jam Pheroz. On the 14th
Mohurrum, 927 (a. p. 1521), Meerza Shah Hoosain left Shawul, and in
twenty days he got over the road, and arrived at Tatta, and Shah Beg
sent other troops and supplies after him. When the news of the
arrival of Shah Hoosain reached Sulah-ood-deen, he retreated, and going
1o Joon, halted there. Jam Pheroz left the city, and went ont to meet
Shah Hoosain, bringing him presents; and baving an interview with
him, Shah Hoosain, according to what his father had told him, showed
much kindness and distinction to the Jam. These two, collecting
as many men as they could, marched agninst Sulah-ood-deen, and when
they had got some marches, he also got ready, sending his son Haibut
Khan, the son-in-law of Sultan Moozuffur Guzeratee, in advance.
Meerza Shah Hoosain had in front Meerza Eesa Turkhan, nnd others,
and the fight commenced. The Mogul sepoys stoutly fixed the foot of
hravery on the plain of battle, slaying nambers of the men of Jam Sulah-
vod-deen, and Shah Hoosain, coming up, broke his army. The son of
Sulah-cod-deen fell, hearing which his father, with many men, fell
upon the forces of Shah Hoosain, fighting gallantly ; but at length he
also was killed, and then those who eseaped the sword fled to Guzemnt.

Meerza Bhah Hoosain, the congueror, remained three days on the
field of action. He then turned back with Jam Pheroz.

In the month of Rubee-oos-Sanee, Shah Beg, coming with all the
families to Baghbanan, wrote a Firman to Shah Hoosain, calling” him
and all the nobles. With Shah Beg were some of his relatives, and
taking these alone, he went against the men of Machee (thosé who
were disobedfent), all of whom he killed, looting their property, cattle,
&ec. and razing their houses and fort to the ground.

Ax Accoust oF Sian Bes's Sa.lm.rm'n BAcHBpaxAN, AND oF WIS GOING

L o FROM #HESCE TO SERWISTAN.
.~ When Shah Beg was in Baghbanan, Meerza Shah Hoosain came with
 wietory : his father embraced him with great affection, showing him every
ess, He also directed Kindness to the chiefs of the army. He
there some time after the urrival of Shah Hoosain, that he and
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the troops might have repose. Then, leaving him there; he himself,
with the chief Sirdars, and a large force, and having the principal men
of Baghbanan with him, went to Sehwistan. Having inspected the
fort at Sehwan, he placed a Thana there, under some of his men of
experience, directing that all the tribute paid in kind should be col-
lected in it. He told the Sirdars remaining there to build houses for
themselves, dividing such as were there among them. He then returned
to Baghbanan. From thence he strengthened the bridle of his intention
to go to Bukkur. At that time Kazee Kazin came : he received a large
present in money from Shah Beg. On his first march from Baghbanan,
men from Jam Pheroz arrived, bringing petitions from him : they placed
in front of Shah Beg offerings of a horse and presenis sent by their
master. Shah Beg, giving them Khilats and presents in return, gave
them leave to depart, giving them a letter for the Jam, writing as fol-
lows: «It is my intention to take the country of Guzerat. When it

shall come into my hands, I will certainly leave Sind in your posses-

_ sion, as before.” He then went towards Bukkur,

Ax Accovst oF tae Destruerios pr riae Peorue oF Tae Trise or
DuAREIA.

When Shah Beg arrived at Chandooka, which is 30 kos west of
Bukkur, Sultan Mahomed Khan, the son of Meer Fazil Kookooltash, sent
Baba Chochuk Ulkuh to his father, telling him all the eircumstances of
the country under him (Bukkur). Meer Fazil made this known to
Shah Beg, who gave him leave to depart, with 200 horse. So leaving
Chandooka, he crossed the river opposite to it. ‘T'o all the head men of
the villages who came to him he gave great encourngement, taking them
with him. When he got to Bhiryaloe, Sultan Mahomed proposed
going to meet his father, but he, hearing of this, sent word 1o his son:
“0On no account put your foot outside the fort; aect like a brave man,
get into your hands all your enemies, and imprison them in Bukkur.
When Sultan Mahomed Khan was placed in anthority over Bukkur,
the Soduts (Synds) became surely for him, and Shah Beg direeted that
the chief men of the Dharejas should live in the fort; but these, from
want of wisdom, broke these orders, and withdrew, andy opening the
gate of war, they wished to annoy Mahomed, exerting themselves to

get him out of the fort. Thgy ceased paying tribute, and when

Mahomed’s men went to them, they were treated with indignity, and
sent back again. Collecting many meil, they prepared i field of baitle
near Loree (Roree). Al that time Sultan was twelve years of age, and
being young and hasty, he wished to go against them; but the Syuds
forbade this, and would not permit him to go to fight, giving him
encouragement and confidence. The Dharejas twice made great eflorts
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to eross the water to take him, but the Soduts, finding this, stood up to
fight, manning the towersand gateways; but the Dharejas did not agree
to fight with them,

Meer Fazil arriving near Bukkur, Lalee Muhur, the head man of the
Zemindars, with his brethren, came to pay his respects: he received
honour. The head men of the Dharejus, being helpless, also came in
to him, to such an extent, that on reaching Bukkur there were forty-
seven of these with him. Sultan Mahomed received honour by kissing
his father's foot, telling him his grievances, in revenge for which he
(Meer Fazil) slew twenty-seven of the Dharejas. When Shah Beg
heard that Meer Fazil had reached Bukkur, he quickly started, and
halted on the plain near Sukkur. Sultan Mahomed had an interview
with him, kissing his feet, and receiving great kindness from him.
Kazee Kazin, who, previous to Mahomed coming, had spoken to Shah
Beg, now arrived, bringing some of the town’s-people with kim. Sultan
Mahomed told Shah Beg of the conduet of the Dharejas, on hearing
which he turned his face towards Kazee, who said : % This country of
Sind becomes inundated, and from the waters many thomns arise : to
root these out, it is necessary that You take an axe in your hand.” On
hearing this, Shah Beg gave orders for the destruction of the Dharejas,
and Mahomed, going to the town, in that night he struck the necks
of those people, casting them out from a tower which was called
Khoonee Burj (the bloody tower). The following morning, taking the
Syuds with him, he went to Shah Beg, obtaining an andience for them,
speaking to him favourably of their good will. Shah Bey, on hearing
this, addressed them kindly, asking after their families, and giving them
honour. When the assembly broke up, he called Mahomed on one side,
asking him about these Syuds. He repeated what he had said, adding
that although well-wishers, still it was not proper that so many of one
caste shonld remain in the fort. Shah Beg langhed at this, saying he
had given a good recommendation for them. He then sent word to
these Sodats by Haumza Beg, that the Moguls had all brought their
families with them, and that these must be placed in the fort; that
it was necessary, therefore, that all the Syuds should go and live in one
or two of the largest houses, and that all the other buildings must
be given up to them. The Syuds did not see fit to remain in the furt,
making it known to Shah Beg that, they wounld leave it, 1o which
he agreed, giving them ground in Roree to build upon,

 'The Syuds ire inhabitant=thére fo this very day.
o : ~ After this, Shah Beg went into the fort, and was pleased on seeing it

i,1- *"' distributed the houses amongst his chicls and soldiers. He then
s *:""?i“-' red out the fort, and dividing it into separate parts, he allotted
| - FAT .>__- r to his nobles, that they might each build from hand to hand
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(quickly). These, breaking down the fort of Alore, which was formerly
the seat of government, brought the burned bricks from thence. They
also pulled down many houses of the Toorks and Summabhs, which
were about, and with these materials they built the fortifications of the
fort of Bukkur. When the foundation of this fort was about to be dug,
Shah Beg said to Shah Hoosain: “ Those two hills which are to the
south are against this fort : first of all we must care for them, and then
put our hands to building this.” In about an hour afterwards, having
thought upon it, he remarked : It is best to build the fortifications of
this fort at once, in the first place, for the river being on all four sides
of it, it is not necessary to have mueh fear for those hills, becanse the
king who is powerful to take this fort, he will not surround it, and the
king and chiefs who are defeated will do nothing.” Inshort, after some
time, the works of the fort reached their end, and he arranged that Shah
Hoosain and himself shonld live in the citadel. He also gave room
there 10 a few of his nobles, such as Meer Fazil and his sister, Sultan
Beejah, Mulik Mahomed Kokuh, Meer Mahomed Suvhan, and Sultan
Mahomed Mohurdar.

Those fortifications are standing at the time of writing this book, 1009
(». D. 1600).

One year afterwards, when Shah Beg had put his heart at rest
regarding this {ort, and by his arrmngements with the Ryuts, he turned
his attention to punishing those Beloochees who would not take their

hands out of dissension, and he determined that the fire of their discord
the water of the sword. He saw the face of this

ass of deliberation in this manner : to place in
f his tried men, who should
should be fixed upon, when
should destroy each of

must be quenched by
business in the looking-gl
every village of these Beloochees bodies o
stay there some time ; that a certain perind
at one and the same time those bodies of men
those villages.

In short, as he proposed, he sent these troops to every village of these
Beloochees, and going there, these waited for the appointed time: when
it arrived, all taking their swords in their hands, they brought the affairs
of these people to an end. In these encounlers, forty-two villagers
were killed and wounded. -

In the beginning of the cold season of 928 (a. ». 1522), leaving
Payundah Mahomed Turkhan a3 Governor of Bukkuor, Shah Beg, with
a very large force, marched to take Guzerat. At every halting-place
he punished the disturbers of the pﬁw‘nnhﬂl sides of the river, clear-
ing the country of them. He then arrived at Chandodka, where Meer
Fazil beeame sick from fever, so, obtaining leave to return, he went
back to Bukkur, and Baba Ahmed, his som, also had permission to
accompany, and attend uspon him. Shah Beg, secing the sickness of
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Meer Fazil, became very sorrowf{ul : in this affliction he became aware
that Meer Fazil had heard—* Oh my qniet people, return to your God
with pleasure !" (Koran) ; and that he had joined the people of Paradise,
Shah Beg and Shah Hoosain, on this account, became much dejected ;
and that night Sultan Mahomed Khan, and all the near relatives of
Meer Fazil, had leave given to them, and these, in the hope of finding
him alive, went with great haste, arriving at Bukkur the next morning,
when they found that he had left this world, so, putting on the winding-
sheet, they placed him in his grave. On the third day, Shah Beg came
with haste, performing all the customs of mourning, taking off the clothes
of affliction from the members of the family, saying : “ The death of Meer
Fazil shows me the road to death, I shall follow him!” The people of
the assembly, hearing this, begged for mercy, saying—* May you live !
He went from thence to the Harem, to the attendants of which he said
the same. These exclaimed as the others had done, saying—% What
words are you bringing upon your tongue ?” In short, Shah Beg, with
Shah Hoosain, and all the Ameers, having done everything that was
necessary, marched away, and punishing those on either bank who were
troublesome, he zet his heagt at ease, and by the way of Tatta he went to
take Guzerat. By successive marches he arrived at Akhum, from
whence, sending to call Jam Pheroz, he remained there some time.

An Account or Tae Depantune oF Snan Bee rrox s Worep, 1x waion
THERE I8 TROUBLE.

The decree—* Upon every one death will come!” (Koran) is ap-
proaching all; and the decree— All that breathe are the drinkers of
the sherbet of death!” (Koran) is coming down on each.

When Shah Beg had set his mind at ease with respect to the affairs
of Bukkur and Sehwistan, he proposed to take Guzerat. After leaving
Bukkur, the news reached him that Babur Badshah had arrived at
Bheeruh, and Khooshab, and that he intended to take Hindoostan.
Shah Beg, on hearing this, said to those at the assembly: « Babur
Badshah will not even permit me to remain in Sind. Some day he
will take this country from me, or from my descendants : it is fit for me
to go away to_some other place.” When this care fell upon him, some
disease was bad within him: such medicines as were given made no
impression upon him, and he made the journey to that world before
reaching Guzerat. It is written, that when near death, he called Hafiz
Mahomed Shcreel, saying oto kim=¢ Read a chapter of the Yascen.”"

3 Fhen Hafiz came to “ It is not proper for me that I should not read

to Him who created me, to whom we all shall go,” Shah Beg
e revived, saying—* Oh special eader of the Koran, read that over
Hafiz did so, and when he came to “Said it would be good

o
o

1o}
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if my people knew what kindness God shows to me,” he (Shah Beg)
made over his life to God. 'This occarred on the 22nd of Shaban, 928
{a. p. 1522). On that night the Ameers and all the men of consequence
agreed to obey the orders of Meerza Shah Hoosain, as they had those of
his father. Shah Hoosain and his {riends performed all the customs of
monrning, and took his corpse to Buokkur. Three years afterwards his
coffin was taken to Mecea, where it was placed in the Monulla, and a
tomb was built over him. After the death of Shah Beg, the news
arrived, that on hearing of it Jam Pheroz was very happy, beating
Nugarahs. When Shah Hoosain heard this, great perspiration of
enmity came upon him, and the fire of anger became lighted in his
body. The Ameers did not think it right to go to Guzerat then, and
the standard of taking Jam Pheroz out by the roots, and of conquering
Tattn, was raised on high.

A ssorT Accoust oF somE of ToE CirouvmsTaNcES oF Suan Bre.

At the commenceément of his youth, Shah Beg went into the presence
of Khwaja Abdoola, saying he was a humble man, and he repented
before him. At that time he brought perfection to himsell, spending
much of his time in prayers to God. When he was with his father at
Herat, he always attended the assemblies of the learned, and he was
in the habit of calling these to his house twice a week. The results of
his good sense were ¢ An Explanation of Kaffeeyuh” ; # Marginal Notes
to the Commentary of Mutalim”; also “ Marginal Notes to the Com-
mentary of the Furayuz of Meer Synd Shureef”; and he #lso wrote
notes to other'books.

Some AccousTt of ThE Woxpues or Sepses.

One of the wonders of the country of Seebee is, that to the north of it
is seen a cupola, which is called, in Sindee tongue, Maree, or Gurliee,
and when any one goes there, it disapprears from the sight. One time
Sultan Mahomed Bukree, taking two or three thousand people, went
all over those hills, but he could not see anything of it ; he did not find
this Supoln. Itis said that it is a talisman, made by former people,
and that beneath it there is treasure. A Durwish onee went there,
when he fonnd something : after that, on the strength of this many
people went there ; but none af these found anything. The fort of
Seebee is upon a small hill, the stones on which are all ronnd ; and as
mueh as the earth is dug, such round Sones are ‘found. In Kore
Zameen, which is a part of Secbee, the cotton plants are as large as
Bheree trees, and the men there, getting on horseback, pluck the cotton.
On each of these plants there are always one or two bundred snakes,
which are knocked off by sticks, when the cotton is gathered : if a
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person is bitten by one of these, the part is pricked at the time with the
point of a knife, and the blood drawn out, and he generally recovers.
A small river near Seebee ran over brimstone : if any one drank the
water, he became sick—many have died of this sickness; but it did
not affect the inhabitants, becanse it had become habitual to them.
Sultan Mahomed every year sent people to try this water, and the
greater part of them always died. In the time of Khilafut Punahee, 2
great flood of waters came, and taking this brimstone out by the roots,
washed it away ; from which time the sickness has been less. The
water of this river runs 50 kos beyond Seebee, collecting at Saroh,
where it is taken away for the fields ; that which is in excess flows
into the lake of Munchoor, which is near Sehwan. On the banks of
that lake there are many snakes, the bite of which few survive. The
men about there wear very long, wide drawers, to defend themselves.

I went there, and saw the men irrigating their fields ; and as I was
going along, I saw snakes at every step of my horse. I wished to dis-
mount, but for fear of these I did not do so, going off to a distance
inthe plain for that purpose. In the country of Secbee, there were
formerly many forts, and much eunltivation ; but all has now become
deserted. The hot winds blow there. The country between Seebee,
Dehra, and Kushmoor is called Bargan, the horses of which are not in-
ferior to those of Irag: when a foal is born, they place it upon gravel,
upon which it walks for one year, and its hools become like stone ; so
much so, that it is not necessary to shoe, and these go amongst the hills
without shoes.

A tribe remains at Chanttr, called Knheree. The reasonof their having
this name is this : Kuheer is the name of a tree, on one of which one
of their ancestors mounted, and striking it with his whip, it moved like
a horse : in this manner the name Kuheree originated. Near Gunjabah,
which is part of Seebee, there is a place where water comes forth, and
with this, fishes ; much ground is occupied by this water. Amongst
the hills at Gunjabah there is one very high and perpendicular : from
this hangs an iron cage, in which, it is said, there is something—the
hand cannot reach it : if any one, by getting to the 1op from theTother

% side, tries to g=t hold of it, it goes far from him, and if one attempts to
get up toit from below, it rises, or goes to one side, the earth underneath
appearing to recede far away. Seebeg and Gunjabah are in this way:

iy the hills of Eltmu and the river Ab Kuseedah (drawn water) from Seebee

~ and Gunjabah'run to the ri=er Sind. All this country is desert. The

- wadtw Kandahar lays over this Rhunn, which is 100 kos in Iength
: m the river to Seebee, and it is 60 kos in breadth. For four months

: lnflhnsnn,tiu- hot winds prevail here.

.
-
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An Account or Tue Wonners or Kaxpauan,

At 10 kos to the west of Kandahar there is a village ecalled Bekh-
nahee, near which there is a hill, in which there is a eavern, with
running water on all sides. Bats, like rats, are véry numerons here: a
room has been cut out of the rock, and other rooms appear to those who
go forward; but it is so dark that no one ean go withont lights, and
when these are taken, these bats come upon you, and the lights, in sach
anmbers, that it is very difficult fora person to proceed. They say
there is talisman there, and a revolving wheel, aronnd which there are
bricks of gold ; also that Baba Husan Abdool went there, and throwing
n hide upon the wheel, he went forward, and bronght out ene gold brick.
I will presently relate the cireumstances of Baba Husan.

Another curiosity is, that by the order of Babur Badshah, at o hill
called Seepoozah, the rock was cut, and a recess made, which he ealled
Peshtag. It is a very lofty recess: for nine years eighty stone-cutters
were employed, and then they finished the work. Certainly it isa spot to
delight the eyes, close over the Urghoondab, with many fields and
gardens about. On this account, during the spring, many go there;
but the recess is very high up, on which account no one goes there,
being afraid of falling. In the inscription in this recess are written the
names of Mahomed Babur Badshah, Meerza Kamran, Meerza Uskaree,
Meerza Hundal, and that these were all men of good spirit, &e. - But
Hoomayoon Badshah, not being of the kings there, his name was not
written, and of all his country Kandahar alone appeared. When I went
there, seeing that the names of Hoomayoon and Ukbar Shah, and their
countries, were not mentioned, and this when thounsands of conntries like
Kabool and Kandahar were in the hands of their slaves, it came into
my heart to write the names of their countries and cities. For this
purpose, I called from Bukkuer good writers and stone-cutters, who
wrote the names of Hoomayoon Badshah, and Huzrat Shahun Shah
Ukbar, and also of their countries and cities, from Bengal to Laheree
Bunder (Tatta}, and from Kabool and Ghuznee 1o the south. In four
years this was finished, and it certainly was well execnted, so that
many went 1o see it. Near the hill in which this recess"is, there is
a cavern, the end of which God only knows. This is the cavern from
whence, it is said, Baba Huosna brought the brick of gold. The
distance between these is seven or eight kos. On thg hills near
Kandahar, Mookhtisuh is fonnd, which saves Trom' the poisonous bite of a
snake, and from other poisons. This is not fonnd anywhere except on
these hills. On the top of one of these hills there is a fire-temple.
This building is made of sun-busnt bricks, each of which is 2 guz
square, and 1 span thick. It is there now, nolin the least decayed.

12
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In Kandahar there was formerly sickness every year, when Shah
Tuhmasp ordered Sultan Hoosain, who was governor there, to plant
canes on the banks of such rivers in the vieinity whose waters the inhabit-
ants used for drinking and other purposes. He did as he was directed ;
after which the wearly sickness abated much, but in some seasons it
broke ont worse than before. Many people die from passing blood,
which also comes from the mouth, nose, and ears. In the time of
Khilafut Punachee Ukbar Shah, when I went to Kandahar as governor
in the year 1007 (a. p. 1598), 200 men, horse and foot, of the Thana,
died of this disease. .

The men of Huzarah in Kandahar are not in the habit of wearing
clothes coloured red, blue, &c.; they are plain men, wishing only for
simple cloth and shoes.

About Kandahar there are many graves of the workers of mirncles.
Amongst these is that of Shah Musnood Abdal. On the hill side (at the
base of which is this grave) vines, apple trees, quince trees, pome-
granates, and many other fruits grow of their own accord: there are
many springs of water running there. Such as this is only to be found

at Kandahar, nowhere else. Shah Musnood planted a vine there, =

which remains still. Near this hill there is a tract of land called
Tunhbeel, where the melons and water-melons are particularly fine ;
they are watered from Kareezes. Wherever these are sown, half of the
fruit, more or less, have insects in them, the fruit becoming on that =
side as hard as a stone; but this is not the case with those grownat
Tunbeel. .
Another grave is that of Baba Husun Abdool, of the true family nf
the Synds of Subzwar.
At the beginning of his life he had an inclivation towards God. He
made a journey to Mecea, performing the pilgrimage toboth that shrine
and Medina, remaining there some time. He eame to Subzwar in the
time of Shah Rookh Badshah, who placed great faith in him. On this
account he took him with him on his journey to Hindoostan, and when
he returned Baba Huosun remained at Lungur of Kandahar. When
there, he said to his diseiples : * From this earth the smell of fricndship
comes to me " He remained there all his days, dying there. His
grave is on high ground, beneath whieh is the Urghoondab, with many
villages; and on Fridays the men and women, the little and big, the
good and the bad, all flock there on pilgrimage : but few remain in the
~eity on that da:—a.i] go teere” Ttcertainly is a delightful situation, and
_those who come from other parts say there is no place like it. g
His (Baba Husun's) miracles are many; from amongst them these
—I have related how he went into the cave, bringing out the
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In front of the door of his tomb there is a temple of & conieal shape,
made of stone, but the stones are not cut, and each weighs 5 Kanda-
har maunds; there is not any plaster or mud between them. They say
this was his cloister, and that with one disciple he built it in one night.
The stones are so joined, that water does not pass between them ; and
yet, what is most extraordinary, the sky is to be seen between through
the erevices. On the peak of the hilly on the base of which stands this
tomb, there is a temple built by Baba Husun Abdool. All who see it
say it is one of his miracles, because there is no way for 2 man to get
there, and it must have been most difficult to convey materials for
building there.

Syud Meer Hoosain Zunjeer Rai is also of the true family of Subzwar;
tliere are nineteen generations between him and Imam Moosa Kazim.
His mother was the sister of Baba Husnn Abdool. When Baba Husun
returned to Subzwar from his jonrney to Mecea, he married hjs sister
Fatima Beebee to Syud Unin-ood-deen, who was of the chief family of
the Syuds of Subzwar. It is said, that nineteen years after this marringe
Meer Hoosnin Zunjeer was born, and that at the age of seven years he
disappeared from the sight of his friends, who ran about in every
direction, but they could not find him. On this account great sorrow
came upon his parents. After seven years all at once he came to their
door, erying out. When this reached their ears, with great happiness
they ran out, and cared their eyes of the tears of separation. They
asked him why he had left them: bhe replied that the Musulmen
Genii, at the desire of his maternal uncle, Baba Hnsun, had enrried
him away to him in Hindoostan, where he had remained one year with
him, when he gave him leave to depart, and the Genii bronght him back
10 a priest’s monastery, where he stayed six years, finding inclination to
learn the traditions of Mahomed, and the ordinances of God. Afier his
return home, he followed the path of the jungle of theology of the
Soofees : he chose to go about, wandering, gathering from each harvest
{of their travels) one ear of corn; from every corner (of inguiry) he
found bread. When the fire of the love of God m#m
in his breast, he began to seek a perfect priest : in this search he came
to his unele Baba Husun. LRI 1

It is said that one forenoon Meer Synd Hoosain was coming to visit
Baba Husun at Lungur, who became lost in raptare, saying to his
disciples: @ | perceive the scent of @ man from whese cqming the eye
of my heart will receive light; do you go inJront to meget him-:' These
Fakeers had gone but a short way, when they met Syud Hoosain, whom
they brought to Baba Husun, who embraced him, kissing his face and
head, and seating him in his own place. Hearing of I.hl!.arrirn] of
Syud Hoosain, all the priests of Kandahar came to visit him ; many
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were collected to see him. Then Baba Husun said to him : ¢ Oh son !
many good people have come to see you; it is necessary that yon give
them something to eat.” MeerSyud Hoosain arose, and placing a vessel
on the fire, he put into it five seers (Khandaharee) of meat, and ten seers
of flour, which began to cook. When it was done, Baba Husun snid—
“Are you ableto fill the bellies of the Fakeers with this?” Synd
Meer Hoosain said he could, and he got up. '

Many men of truth state that from this vessel he took out 150 dishes
filled ; that the stomachs of all were satisfied, and the vessel remained .
foll as before. a

It is also said that he was one day standing on the road near Lungur;
when a man with a londed camel passed by, going towards the town.
The Syud asked him what there was upon the camel. The man, in fear
that he would beg something of him, replied “ stones.” The Synd
exclaim ‘It will be s0.” When the man got to his house, and
unloaded the camel in his enclosure, he opened the load, and fnund
that it had become stone ; 20 he took it up, taking it to Syud Hoosain,
excusing himself, and plm:ing these stones at his doorway. These
stones were placed over his grave by his disciples, and they are there to
this day. His praise is beyond what I can write: I have left all, having
written but a little.

Ax Accovst oF Syuvp Manomep, carten Syop Suere Kvrexoog.

Syud Mahomed was the son of Meer Syud Hoosain Zunjeer Rai.
From infancy he ran in the direction of the ways of abstinence; he
brought himself to a very high degree. He spread the earpet of the
ways of God, to show them to the people. He quenched the thirst of
the jungle of desire from the fountain of the knowledge of God. His
miracles are beyond the geometrician of knowledge, who eannot encom-
pass them. I mention a few of them. 3

This is the reason why he is called Syud Shere Kulundur, because
he changed his appearance to that of a tiger, in this way :— -

When his. miracles became well known, the men of Kandahar,
Bulookat, and Huzarah, became his disciples, giving him offerings and
presents.  At-that time one Syud Kushnuoh spoke against him before
Meer Zoonoon, who became so angry with him, that he sent a man to
eall him. Meer Synd Mahomed, coming from Uskulchuk, met Meer
Zoonoon in the Jamin Musjid on F‘nday On going away, Meer Zoo-
- moon ordered Eu.m to be con®ned” Those who received this order placed
im in an empfy house, where many took care of his safety. Meer

oom, on reaching home, became vexed at having acted as he had
llnttl!h;'ln[ﬁ:mdmhlm AVhen the bearer of these reached
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seeing which they came to Zoonoon, telling him. He said they were
afraid, and sent two of his attendants. These going, saw the same, and
returning, told Zoonoon ; who then, taking his children, went there, and
saw it with his own eyes. He then begged for forgiveness of his fault,
and was very submissive, when this tiger changed its appearance, and
Zoonoon gave him leave to depart.

It is said that Sultan Ali Korjee, who was also called Lug Dug,
was opposed to Synd Mahomed. One day, for the sake of examining
his mirncles, he went to the Syud, sitting down like one without respect,
when the Syud looked towards him with earnestness, upon which
Sultan Ali arose, tearing his clothes. He shaved his beard and head,
going about naked for some days. His sister Beejuh Junnut and her
husband went to the Synd, asking his forgiveness of Sultan Ali, when
he gave them the water which remained after performing his ablutions
previous to prayer, for him to drink. On drinking this, he became as
before, and a disciple of his. As long as he lived he bronght firewood
on his head for his kitchen. Sultan Ali says, that one very cold night
Meer Syud Shere went ont for exercise with his disciple; that he slept
an hour, when he had a dream. Awaking at the time, he told Sultan
Ali that such had happened to him, and to take off his clothes. Meer
Syud then placed a cloth around him, and breaking the ice on the
water, he went into the canal. At this time, says Sultan, ¢ I was
shivering all over, when the Syud said to me—* What, are you cold ?
Come and behold the seerets of the men of God " So I arose, and went
10 him, when I found the water so warm, that my body ceased to shiver,
and getting out, I did not find it cold.” One day, this Synd went to the
village of Sofaidruwan, where the air was warm. Khwaja Shohub-
ood-deen Sofaidruwanee, who was one of his disciples, says that on
aceount of the heat he went forward to meet him, requesting him
to come to his garden for an hour: the Syud, agrecing to what he said,
Khwaja went in advance, lo prepare a place for him near a water
reservoir. He says: “On account of the smallness of the doorway,
1 proposed tying his horse under a tree outside; wheg I saw him
entering on horseback. At this I was much astonished. How had be
come in on his horse, through so small a gatewny ?  The Synd said—¢It
is nothing at all ; there is no occasion for surprise I offered 1o bring
him any fruit that he might choage. (I had, previously to his arrival, in
the morning selected, and placed in a corner, two baskets full of fenit,
1o send tothe ministers.) 'The Synd said—<OhShuhub-God-deen, bring
1o me those two baskets of fruit which you picked is the morning to
send somewhere, and send others there ” Much wonder came upon me,
and in just faith T kissed his hands and feet.” Meer Syud Shere came
from Dawur to the village of Sarbangilla, where his disciples went
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into the houses of the Rynts, wishing to remain there till the alternoon. -
These not allowing them to do so, it was made known 10 the Syud, who
said : “Go from oot of this village, for it will burn.” When they had
gone outside, this village wasburned. He found death during the days
of Washoora 933 (a. ». 1526). His tomb is at Uskulchuk, 10 kos to
the west of Kandahar, the people of which and Dawnr make pilgrimage
10 it, bringing offerings and presents for his descendants, giving goats
and ewes for the kitchen ; and all Fakeers and travellers receive food
there. The people of Kandahar, Huzarah, and Bulookat, are his
disciples. The entrance 1o his tomb is never empty ; it is always filled
with people.

Ax Accouxt or Knwara Mvuix,

His tomb is on the bank of the Urghoondab; it isa spot to ravish
the heart. The inhabitants of Kandahar call it Peer Wulayut. The
Ryuts at the time of cultivation agree to give a share of the produce to
his descendants, and when the crops are gathered, they take this share
to them : if, at the time of sowing, they do not agree to give this share,
some misfortune comes upon their erops.

Ax Accovnt oF Kuwasa At Narraz,

He was a master of miracles i his tomb is at Kundkan. This is why
he is called Naitaz :— .

One day, riding on a reed (Nai), he visited some person, to whom
he said—“Give barley to my horse.” Thinking he was joking, this
person threw the reed into his granary. 1In the morning, he found that
all his grain was gone, and that horse-dung was there.

Ax Accovnt oF Knwara At Naismapoorss.

He was a great friend of God’s. His miracles are numerons. One
day, many men of consequence were going 1o see him, some on foot,
some on horseback. Hearing of their coming, he mounted a wall, on
which he went forward to meet them, on the road. That wall remains
to the present day. i

Ax Accoust o Kewasa Warvoon Uxsarer, wno was tae Brornzg oF :
& : Kuwasa Asvoora Ussanee.
Zg';. ~ On Mondays many people collect at his tomb, which is on the base
- of the hill of Ukkuh. It imcusiomry to burn lights there on Sunday
~mights, when theie are always 220 torches burning.
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Ax Accoust or ToE Sitrise ox tie Turoxse or vhe Kixcpon or Mergza
Snan Hoosamx ; axp of e Reamise tue Nams or Basve Bapsuad
1% THE SERMON.

When Shah Hoosain ascended the throne of his father at Nusurpoor,
the Syuds, Kazees, and the chiefs, represented to him that it was right
to have his name read in the sermon. Shah Hoosain said it was not
proper for him to do so, as long as any of the descendants of Saheb
Kiran were remaining, and the name of Babur Badshah was read.
After the days of Eed, Shah Hoosain went townrds Tatta. Jam
Pheroz, hearing of this, sent presents by Hafiz Rustreed Khoosh
Nuwees, and others, to him, showing forth his extreme submission,
saying how much he was afflicted ; but these ambassadors, in private,
said that this was all outward show; that inwardly he was different,
and ready for war. Shah Hoosain sent these men back, marching
himself in that direction by the stages. When the Jam heard of his
approach with a large force, being unable to fight, he made up his mind
to run away, and shertly afterwards he left the city, and crossed over
the river to the other side. Meerza Shah Hoosain ordered his troops to
cross the river, and to enter the city, When they were doing so, Manik
Wuzeer and Shaikh Tbrahim, the son-in-law of the Jam, came on the
waters with many boats full of men, with gnns, and bows and arrows, to
oppose the passage; but numbers of Shah Hoosain's brave men going
against, fought with them, sending them all by the way of the river to
annihilation. Jam Pheroz then fled to Kuteh, where he collected
many men. o5

Ax Accouxt of Tae Comixo or Jam Purroz To Cracusas, AND OF TRE
Vicrony oF Soan Hoosun oveER @M.

When Jam Pheroz, having got together some 50,000 men, horse and
foot came to Chachgan to fight, all the people in Tatta became mueh
alarmed. Meer Mahomed Miskeen Turkhan, and other nobles, weat to
Shah Hoosain, telling him of these cirenmstances. He sent these back,
appcinting them to take eare of Tatta, going himself to expel the enemy.
Crossing the river, he made successive marches, and get near the
foe, he put his troops in order, and ﬂmﬁwm ‘When the
two armies came in sight of each other, the men of Jam Pheroz dis-
mounted from their horses, and taking off their Pugrees from their beads,
they tied themselves one to anothet by thecorners of théir ﬂ.ﬁt:ﬂlﬂ!ll,
1t is the oustom of this Sind, that when the people mike up their minds
to die, they get off their horses, bare their heads, and tie themselves 1o
one another with the ends of their sheets. ; .

Shah Hoosain, seeing this, gave the congratulations of victory to his
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Birdars, directing all his men to take their bows and arrows in their
hands. He himself dismounted from his horse, and having performed
the previous ablutions, said his prayers, making supplication for vietory.
The arrow of his prayer struck the target of consent. He then mounted
his horse, and all his troops, drawing their swords, rashed upon the
enemy. The fight lasted from morning till evening : 20,000 of the foe
were slain. Jam Pheroz, with ill fortune, went to Guzerat, remaining
there till he took his life to Paradise. Meerza Shah Hoosain remained
three days on the field of battle, and such properly as was found was

~divided amongst his soldiery. He showed great kindness to his
Ameprs, :

From thence he returned to Tatta, with victory, remaining in
Tughlugabad. Six months afterwards he left to go to Bukkur, by the
way of Halakhundee. When he arrived opposite Sehwistan, the Sirdars _
then brought presents, offering their congratulations on his victory. *
The Arbabs and Zemindars of that country also came, and having
offered their congratulations, they received permission to return. The ©
men of Subtuh and Doorbeluh also arrived to make their Salaam.
This last place he gave to Meer Furookh, and hunting on the way, he
arrived at Baburloe, which is 3 kos from Bukkur, where the nobles and
men of consequene®, coming in front, met him. He spoke with great | ]
kindness to the men of Bukkur, making them presents. During this
year Shaikh Meeruk Pooranee came from Kandahar to Sind. The
following year Shah Kootb-ood-deen, a descendant of Shah Tuyub,
arrived at Bukkur from Herat. He had an interview with Meerza

Shah Hoosain.

AN Accoust oF Bapa Anwmep BRING SENT BY Snan Hoosaiw To punisa
tan Dunvnrs axp Macuess,

In the beginning of 928 (s. ». 1521), Shah Hoosain heard that the
Duhurs and Machees of Oobawrnh and Bhittee Wahun were always
fighting with the Muhurs and other Rynts of Matheluh. Upon this, he
directed Baba Ahmed, the son of Meer Fazil Kookooltash, to take a force
to punish them. Preparing his troops, he made forays npon Oobaw-
ruhabad and Bhittee Wahun, looting both places. He then returned to
the fort of Matheluh. The Duhurs then said to the Beloochees in the fort
of Sewraee: “The Moguls have come ,upon us, taking our cattle and
property ; if you do not stretch forth your hands upon them, this will
always be their road.” These Beloochees, then, collecting their men,

m against the “Muhurs ; hearing of which, Baba Ahmed went in
Pursuit of, and came up to them close to Oobawruh, where a battle took
" "whieh the Beloochees were defeated, many of them fell, and
Jubtrs being taken prisoners, were confined. Shah Hoosain -

-
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afterwards sent another force as far as Koodhee and Darawnr, who
punished the Beloochees severely.

As Baba Ahmed was returning, he killed and confined many
Machees of Qubawrah, severely twisting the ears of these last. This
tribe then gave him a present, and one of their danghters; and having
put that country to rights, he left some men there, and returned to
Bukkur, During the inundations, the camels belonging to Shah Hoosain
were sent to Matheluh to feed under Mahomed Forash, and the Duhurs
and Muburs were called upon to tend them. The Beloochees of
Sewraee, and the Juts of Darawur and Futehpoor, hearing of this,
assembled and looted the whole of them. The news of this reached
Bukkur, when Baba Ahmed started with 300 horsemen. He reached
Darawur with great speed, killing many of the people, and recovering
: the camels, When he arrived near Bhittee Wahun, the Beloochees of
. Sewraee and the Duhurs took possession ol his road ; there wasa severe
fight between them, when Baba was severely wounded. He withdrew
from the field, and had nearly reached Matheluh, when he fell from
his horse, and the bird of his life flew away from his body. When Ab-
dool Futeh, the son of Meer Fazil, heard of the death of his brother, he
was greatly afilicted, and dejected. He received permission from Shah
Hoosain to go there, and he sent with him Meer Kasim Kubuk Posh,
who was his father-in-law, that he might not rush headlong on the
enemy. Abdool Futeh arrived, and scnt the body of his brother to
Bukkur; he himself waited there for an opportunity of revenge.
One day he found this, falling upon Rahman Duhur's host, many of
whom be slew, pursuing them as far as Mow, dispersing the
whole. Men then came between them, and peace was made, the
border of Sind being extended to Bhittee Wahun, where Abdool Futeh
remained some time. He placed near himself Meer Mahomed Kootee,
the son of Baba Ahmed. One day the news reached him there, that the
sattle of Oobawruh had been looted : he at once girded on his weapons,
and went forth. At that time the hot winds were blowing, which
entered his nature, so much so, that by the time he got home he was
dead,, i

After these two deaths, in the year 830 (a. D. 1523), Shah Hoosain
Ameers to Bukkur, when he gave them orders to
against Mooltan.

summoned all his
prepare every requisite for two years, 10 g0
Soue wextion of Basrr Bapsiiap GOING TO HixDODSTAN ; ALSO OF THE
Hoosais ~1TH Gooustis Beeus; anp

Manriace or Meerza Saan
Kixos or MooLTaxs.

ax Accoust or Tas CiRCUMSTANCES OF THE

When Shah Hoosain had strengthened his intention of going to
Mooltan, he wished in the first place 1o mnke arrangements with the

13
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men of Urghoon, Tukdoree, and Huzarah, who had broaght their
lamilies, and lived at Secbee.

In one week, with 1,000 horse, he arrived at Seebee, the fort of which
he repaired arui strengthened, placing it in the hands of twenty men ;
and then, with his mind at ease, he returned by the road of Luhree and
Chauttr, looting the Rindhs and the Mugsees on the way, taking many
of them prisoners, all of whom he released after having made strict
arrangements with them. Their Sirdars he took with him to Bokkur.

When Shah Hoosain heard that Babur Badshah was going against
Hindoostan, he sent ambassadors to him with valuable presents. He
also wrote a petition to him.

At the time when Shah Hoosain went (as formerly related) to Babur
Badshah, he made the friendship of, and was betrothed in the relationship
of son-in-law to, Meer Khuteeluh, who was the minister and Dewan
Begee of Babur Badshah, who approved of the proposed connection.
To renew this engagement, he sent Shah Sultan, the grandmother of
Abdool Bakee, of the family of Syud Janfur, to Babur, to make this
known to him. Huzrut Babur becoming the cause of the union,
Goolburg Begum, the danghter of Meer Kateefuh, was given in marriage
to Meerza Shah Hoosain, being sent with her younger brother, Hoosain-
ood-deen Meeruk, to Bukkur, where Shah Hoosain received her into
his house, giving to Hoosain-ood-deen the Purguna of Baghbanan for
his expenses during his stay. Shah Hoosain then proposed going
towards Mooltan. Babur Badshah gave in marriage 1o Mohib Ali
Khan, the son of Meer Kbateeluh, Nasheed Begum, the daughter of
Mah Begum, whom I have previously mentioned as having been left
behind in Kabool when her mother secretly fled from thence. 'This was
brought about to strengthen the friendship on both sides.

It will not be secret that the conquest of Mooltan was effected by
Mahomed the son of Kasim Sukafee, in the time of Hujjaj the son of
Yoosoof. After this, it was again taken from the Tupihls by Sultan
Mahomed Ghazee, and it remained a long time in the hands of his
‘descendants. When the rule of the Kings of Ghuznee had reached its
limit, Mooltan went into the hands of the Kiranntah. From these, again,
it was wrested by Sultan Munz-ood-deen Mahomed Sham, and it
remained under the Kings of Delhi till 800 (a. p. 1397), from which
time, there being dissension amongst these, the Hakeem became
rebellious, and it passed away from Defhi.

After this various men ruled over that country, such as Shaikh
Yoosoof for two .years, Sultan Kootb-ood-deen for thirty-four years,
then his son Sultan Hoosain for twenty-seven years ; Saltan Mahomed
for q.ome months ; after him Sultan Hmsmn

When Sultan Ula-ood-deen, the son of Mahomed Shah, the son of
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Pheroz Shah, the son of Moobaruk Shah, the son of Khizur Khan,
became King of Delhi, troubles arose in the affairs of that state, and in
the country of Hindoostan there became many kings.

On acconnt of the oppression of the Moguls, Mooltan became without
any ruler : thronghont that conntry, with the great and humble, there was
much faith in the family of Shaikh Buha-ood-deen Zukreeya. On this
account all the good and weighty men assembling, placed at the head
of the state Shaikh Yoosoof, who was the superintendent of the Monarkees
of Shaikh Buha-ood-deen Zukreeya, and his name was read in the sermon
in the pulpits of Mooltan, Ooch, and other cities. He turned his atlen-
tion to put in order the affairs of the kingdom. In the first place, he
inereased the forces, he brought the hearts of the Zemindars beneath
his orders, and he gave ornament to the matters of the state and couniry.
One day, by chanee Rai Suheeruh, the Sirdar of the Lungahs, and who
lived at Ripree, sent this message to Shaikh Yoosoof:—* My father and
grandfather formerly placed faith in your family: now there is mueh
dissension in the kingdom of Delhi; so much so, that Mulik Boohlool
Lodhee has taken it, reading his own name in the sermon: if at this
time you will take into your service some of the Lungahs, I will be
your servant, and in such duty and business as you may show to me,

" I will not excuse myself from giving my life. To show you my faith
I now =send to you my danghter, and I accept you as my son-in-law."”
The Shaikh, hearing this, was very happy, and married his danghter.
Rai Suheeruh occasionally came to Mooltan to visit his child, bringing
handsome rarities for Shaikh Yoosoof, who did not fix upon any place
of residence for him in the city, but was in the habit of encamping
outside, and leaving his people there, he went in alone. One time,
assembling all his people, he went there, with the intention of seizing
Shaikh Yoosoof, and of becoming king himself. When he got near the
city, he sent word to the Shaikh, that on this occasion he had bronght
all the men of Lungah that he might inspeet them, and give serviee to
such as were fit. Shaikh Yoosoof, being free from suspicion of treachery,
with carelessness treated him with attention, and Rai Suheeruh showed
him his horses and men. Atnight, leaving his men outside, he eame into
the city, attended by one servant, whom he told to bring a kid, which he
was to_ kill in secret, and bring the blood to him ina cap. The slave
did as he was ordered, and Rai Suheerub drank the blood. Inan hour
afterwards he began crying ouf'that he had pains in the stomach. His
cries increasing every minute, at mjdnight the Vukeels of Yoosoof, who
were in attendance upon him, went and cailed their aster to come and
hear hislast will. On his arrival Rai Suheernh vomited blood in the
presence of all, and explaining his last wishes, he eried the more, request-
ing that bis relations and servanis might be called to forgive him, The

L
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Vukeels, seeing his state, did not prevent these from coming. When
many of his men bhad entered the fort, he lifted his hand from the bed of
false sickness, sending men of trust to the four gates, to be alert, and not
to allow admittance to the men of Shaikh Yoosoof. He himsell went
to the private sleeping apartments of the Shaikh, and seizing him, turned
him ouat of the fort, and he went towards Delhi.

Rai Suhecruh, styling himsell Sultan Kootb-ood-deen, had his name
read in the sermon.

Ax Accousnt or Meerza Snan Hoosaix TURNING HIS FACE TOWARDS
Moourax.

In the year 931 (a. p. 1524) Shah Hoosain, marching towards
Mooltan, passed over the intervening space, and arrived near Sewraee.
He then gave the orders to plunder ; so his troops looted, and wherever
they found an enemy they put him to the sword. The Beloochees,
hearing of this, fled to Qoch: some few went to the fort of Sewree,
where they determined to fight. This was the strongest fort in all that
country. - Shah Hoosain encamped near a tank, and Soltan Mahomed
Bukree, galloping to the front, towards the fort, commenced fighting

with those men who were near, and outside of it. At that time he had

with him eighty men. I have mysell heard, from the tongue of Snltan
Mahomed himself, that in this battle of Sewraee thirty men fell to his
sword alone, and that his men behaved most bravely, slaying two
hundred of the enemy.

When the Beloochees saw this, they fled from the fort. In the mom-

e N

ing, when Shah Hoosain heard of i, he gave credit and praise to

Sultan Mahomed, but ealling him in private, he struck him three times
with a stick, rebuking him, saying: #This bad gallop of yours, and
your going in advance, was not good.” The next day he marehed,
coming near Sewraee, the destruction of which he ordered ; and in seven
days it was level with the ground. He went from thence to Mow,
encamping al a tank near it,

Shaikh Roo-ool-lah, the son of Shaikh Himad Koraishee, a great
Musulman saint, eame to visit Meerza Shah Hoosain, saying in his pre-
sence, that the men of Mow were very weak, and had no heart to fight.
Shah Hoosain ordered Meerza Mahomed Miskeen Turkhan to take some
men and go into the fort, and see what was in it in the way of provi-
sions, and not to raise the hand of \riofence agninst any Lungahs and
Beloochees whom he might find there. He went as directed, and he
did not tonch these ; but he seized and sent bound to Shah Hoosain
all the other mem whom he .found there. Shah Hoosain remained

- outside 1till the third day, when he entered the fort, making pilgrimage
10 the tombs of many saints there, He arranged with the Shaikhs of
-
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the place, that if any of his men passed to and fro, they were not to
annoy them, and that they were not to admit amongst them any of his
enemies. Shaikh Roo-ool-lah afterwards requested him to forgive the
faults of Rahman Dahur. Shah Hoosain replied that Sultan Mahomed
Khan knew him, as two of his brothers had died through the opposition
of him and his people. At length, seeing advantage, he called him, and
Rahman presented himselfl with his sword suspendéd from around his
neck. Sultan Mahomed Khan forgave him the blood of his brothers,
and after this Rahman said he would give the daughter of his brother
in marriage to him, which was agreed to. So he presented to him the
sister of Jan Jeewnn Dahur.

Mohib Ali Turkhan, with 500 horse, was appointed to lead the van
in the march from Mow, and Shah Hoosain, following him, encamped
near the border of Lar. Here one called Bunduh Dahur, who was the
bravest of all the men in Mooltan, came to Shah Hoosain, who gave him
a Khilat and a present. He then made him over to the care of Sultan
Mahomed Khan. From thence he marched to go to Ooch.

Ax Accoust oF Meenrza Snan Hoosax FIGHTING WITH e LuNcans
at Qocn,

On the morning of the following day, Shah Hoosain mounted his
horse, and marched, with the expectation of a battle, He exerted
himself in arranging his troops, putting all in their proper positions.
He placed in command of the right Mahomed Miskeen Turkhan, and
Meerza Eesa; over the left he put Meer Furookh, and Meer Abeek
Urghoon ; he gave charge of the advance to Sultan Mahomed Khan,
Meer Mahomed Sarban, and Meer Aboo Mooslin.

The descendants of Rai Suheerah, the Beloochees, and all the sepoys
of Mooltan, advanced to meet him, placing the men of Nahur in their
front. The forces of Mooltan were double in number 1o those of Shah
Hoosain. : ;

When the two forces came in front of each other, the Maoguls began
to light the fire of battle, and the Lungahs and Beloochees raised their
hands to shoot their arrows. At that time Shah Hoosain fell upon, nnd
put the enemy to fight. In that attack numbers of thgm were slain.
Boohlool, a descendant of Rai Suheernh, and many others, were taken

prisoners, all of whom Shah Hogsain ordered to be giﬂrl_! to rtlm sword.
From the field of battle Shah Hoosain advanced, coming in sight of
Ooch. He broke down the gate of 1l ford, tnd eommenced fighting.
The Lungahs, standing on the walls, threw armwuﬁem}y stones, The
Moguls, then, maising on bamboos the hieads of their Sirdars, showed
ing which fear seized them, and they fled,

them to the garrison, on seel - :
casﬁng “IEIII‘I-EI-VH down from I}I-Eﬂl“-i ﬂ& bastions. !El‘hll‘lg a way to



102

save themselves, but spch as fell into the hands of their enemiecs were
slain, agreeably to the orders of Shah Hoosain, and the people of the
city were looted by the Moguls. Then Junab Zain-ool-ula-bideen
Bookaree and others went to Shah Hoosain, telling him of what was
going on in the city. He gave orders to his attendants, that from that
time there was to be no violence offered to any one, that such as had
been taken prisoners were to be released, and that the heads of those
who disobeyed their orders were to be raised on high on bamboos, He
directed the fort and chiel buildings in Ooch to be destroyed, and
placing the timber of these latter on boats, he sent it to Bukkur.
When the news of the strength of Meerza Shah Hoosain, and of his
capturing Ooch, reached Sultan Mahomed Lungah, the King of
Mooltan, he sent men, through his country, to collect the Beloochees, the
Juts, the Rindhs, the Dodaces, the Koraces, the Chandeeyuhs, and all
fighting men. In the space of one month he had assembled 80,000
men, horse and foot, in Mooltan. With this large force, Sultan
Mahomed Lungah, with great arrogance, went forth from Mooltan
towards the field of action, intending to fight. Shah Hoosain, hearing
of his collecting troops, encamped on the Ghara, looking for his
approach. Saltan Mahomed spent one month near his city, putting his
materials for war inorder. Having prepared this, he marched from thence
with greater pride than before : he did not know that # The Creator of fate
makes His decrees behind the curtain.” Certainly no one has gathered
the flower of fortune from the garden of the unkindness of heaven until
the thorn of the non-obainment of his desires has pricked the foot of his
heart : what man has drank one sip of good fortune in the pleasure-hounse
of this world, without finding the sickness of bad fortune ? The produce
of this is : Shaikh Soojan Bookaree, the son-in-law of Sultan Hoosain,
held in his hands all the affairs of the state. On some account he
became treacherous with the attendants and slaves of Sultan Mahomed,
who, on hearing of this, became very wrath. These, secing that their
lives depended on his death, girded their loins to kill him, aud forget-
ting his kindness, gave him very potent poison, which was in the
treasure cheet for some one else, and he, drinking half a cup of this,
became so intoxicated, that his eyes did not again see the face of
wakefulness. ~ When the mother of Sultan Mahomed heard of this, she
said in her heart that it was right for her to remain there, and to get all
the troops to her side. This was kept secret for twoor three days, when
it beecame knewn, and all_the, Beloochees and Lungahs assembling,
placed Sultan Hoosain, the son of Sultan Mahomed, on the throne of
the kingdom; and they did not find any other medicine save to make
peace. In short, they placed between them as mediator Mahomed
Shaikh Buha-ood-deen, which honorable Shaikh had an interview with
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Shaikh Hoosain on the Ghara. The Mecrza received him with great
distinction, bowing before him, and showing him much veneration ; and
on what the Shaikh said, he agreed to make peace. He wrote a treaty
1o this effect :—* The boundary of the country of Mooltan is the water of
the Ghara: from this day no ruler of Mooltan i= to go beyond that
limit.” He then gave the Shaikh his dismissal, presenting him with
nine horses, a string of camels, with some ready money, and he returned
full of happiness. Shah Hoosain gave orders for another fort 10 be built
with great expedition at Ooch, which was done as directed, and that
building is standing at this time. After this, leaving men of trust there,
he prepared to return. At that time Ikbal Khan, the servant of Sultan
Mahomed, came and made his Salaam to him, saying he wished him
happiness. Shah Hoosain showed him kindness, agreeing to meet his
wishes,

Ax Account or Merrza Sman Hoosaix coixe To Take Tue Fort o¥
Diawur, axp acaiNsT Grazee Kuax.

Ooch having been taken by the Meerza, Ikbal Khan came to him,
saying that there was much treasure buried in Dilawur; that the wealth
collected by many kings was concealed there. Shah Hoosain wrole a
letter to Ghazee Khan, saying: “Now I have come to the country of
Ooch, it is proper for you that yon and all your people, putting the
rings of obedience to me in your ears, present yourselves before me
without any delay.”

But Ghazee Khan wrapped his foot in the sheet of independence, and
gaining support from the strength of his fort, he did not go to him. The
result of this was as [ollows.

On the morning of Friday the 1st of Rujub, the Meerza issued orders,
that it was necessary for the troops to provide themselves with grain and
water for one month’s consnmption. This being prepared, he turned
the bridle of his departure in the direction of Dilawur. Soonbool Khan,
with horsemen, gunners, and footmen, and slaves, got there in advanee,
and making places for his tenis abont the fort, he dinh'ihﬂtud batteries.
e toak a great deal of labour in sarronnding and attacking the place.

Certainly this fort is such, that its walls are equal in height to Alex-

ander’s wall, and it is built in such a desert, that the qﬁ of the birds

of the air, on account of there not being one drop of waterin that desert,

always look towards the elouds of heaven. :
These men, working hard, made theraa hundred wellain that desert

in three days, and there was an abundance of waten On the fourtlr
day, Shah Hoosain arrived, and surronnding the fort, made it his centre.
He commenced doing everything that was necessary to lai.r.a it, and there
was fighting on both sides. Alfter some days had passed in this manner,
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agitation came upon the hearts of the garrison; from no place did aid

arrive, nnd many days had been passed in fighting, and thiz still continued.
Their distress for food was so great that a boiled skin wasnot to be had,
thongh wished for a hundred times, Soonbool Khan, having made mines
on two sides, blew np the town in front of a gate. The garrizon, see-
ing the face of death, began to throw shells and fireballs. When the
battle was raging very fiercely, the brave men, losing their heads,
ascended the towers, killing and wounding numbers of the garrison;
making prisoners those who escaped from the sword. Having taken
the fort, S8hah Hoosain placed men of trust over the treasure, and the
following morning he divided much money amongst his sepoys; and
placing his own share in the treasury, he m‘d his bridle in the direc-
tion of Ooch and Bukkur. He arrived at Bukkur in fifteen days, and
getting there, he was very happy.

p=
Ax Accoust o Merrza Suan HoBsaiy cove .m.unrrkmn Carrunine
Moouran, axp oF Tug Massacre oF Tue INgABITANTS.

In the latter days of 932 (a. p. 1526), on account of the death of
Sultan Mahomed Lungah, quarrels and dissensions arose amongst the
Ameer and his relations. Every one strengthened himself in his own
place, and all took themselves away from listening to the orders of
others. At that time Sultan Hoosain was young, and in the hands of
Shaikh Soojan Bookaree, and the ladies of Lungah : he was unable to do
anything. On this account, much discord, violence, taking away other
men's wives, &c. arose. Beeing this, the inflnential men amongst the
Zemindars wished for some other ruler. At that time Lungur Khan
went to Shah Hoosain, describing to him the state of the country.

The Meerza had previously considered how he could throw the noose
of conquest over the parapets of Mooltan ; and on hearing what Lungur
Khan said, his wishes on this subject were strengthened.

Having made up his mind to march against it, he sent Mahomed
Miskeen Turkhan in advance,

The Lungahs, hearing of the approach of the Urghoons, alter delibera-
tion, sent Shaikh Ismael Koraishee to make peace. He arrived at Mow,
where he had an interview with Shah Hoosain, who showed him all
the honour and reverence he conld, giving Him money for his entertain-
ment. The Shaikh spoke to strengthen the root of peace, but no benefit
arose from this. He then said to Luniur Khan: “ My relations are at
Tatta; send me there.” Lungur mentioned this to the Meerza, who
complied with the request; and the Shaikh obtained leave to proceed
10 Sind, and a village near Tatta was given to him in Jageer. From
thence Shah Hoosain proceeded towards Mooltan. When his forces
drew near, much anxiety fell upon the men of Lungah, all of whom
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betook themselves inside the fort. At that time Luongur Khan, wlho
was with the Urghoons looting Thuttee Khulwan, brought mueh grain,
cattle, and other things to the army. Mooltan was surrounded, and
fighting commenced on both sides. The king sent one of his brothers
to Shal Hoosain, with Shaikh Soojan, saying that he would obey orders.
Meerza received him with much kindness, saying—* Tell your brother
to come out of the fort to visit me, to agree to obey my orders, and 1
will show him every kindness. I will then leave the fort in his hands,
and tarn the bridle of my intentions to return back.” These, returning,
told what had passed ; bugthe Lungahs, with much pride, would not
leave the fort, and they geliberated how to get rid of their enemies.
They lighted the fire of war by throwing open the gates, and taking in
their hands their bows and arrows, and swords. They fought very well,
killing some of_the Urghoons. Thus the fire of anger became ignited
in Shah Huo.uiu he pitched hiwfnt to the eastward of the fort,
opposite the Shams gate, erecting batteries around the city. From
buth sides the fire of battle blazed, and the arrows and bullets began to
fall like rain. There was fighting daily. During this time, grain
became very scarce in the eity, so much so, that one maund (Mooltan
weight) of it was priced at 100 Tunkahs, and one cow the same ; in this
manner things were sold. Many men eat the hides of caitle, which
were not fit to eat, and if the flesh of dogs and eats fellinto their hands,
they looked upon it as the meat of kids. Shaikh Soojan Bookaree had
placed Jaduh Mahehee in command over 3,000 foot soldiers, (Kusba-
tees, fighting men of the town,) who were the garrison. This man of ill-
fortune, withont consideration, entered those houses where he even
snspected there was grain, looting them. On account of this conduect,
the poor people raised their hands in supplication : “ Change is good,
l‘lﬂ"l:l."u\*e:r it comes IEI]J'D.II I.'IH-! " Thl‘}" F-l'l.fel]. fDI the dcr.'.line ﬂf the ﬂ]lﬂ'
of the Lungahs. 3

In short, the men of Mooltan strengihened themselves for death,
casting themselves from the walls into the diteh below. Shah Hoosain,
hearing of this distress on account of hunger, forbade the destruction
of thoze who acted in this manner. =

By reason of the scarcity of supplies, the Ameers of Mooltan prohibited
any from eating to the full ; they ordered the people to subsist them-
grain was cooked. When they hf“]
been besieged for one year, they became close upon d‘:th__‘h" knife
had reached the bone. On the Illh'of‘!umndu-mﬂ-s_ﬂllﬂ; in the year
933 Hijree (. p. 1526), the brave men of the Urghoon army emptied
many of the bodies of theirenemies of lif, by the blows of their arrows,
and in the morning, putting fortl great strength, they h’:“h-' down the
Loharee gate, and gained an enlraace into the city. The hands of
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selves upon the water in whichs
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plunder being then drawn forth from the sleeves of violence, commeneed
looting and massacreing.

All the inhabitants of the town from the age of seven to thatof seventy
were confined, and such oceurrences befell the Mooltanees, that it
reminded them of the last day: they secreted themselves in the
monasteries of their most sacred saints.

Ten or twelve days after the place had been given up to plunder,
Mohib Ali Torkhan, taking some men with him, went to these monas-
teries of the saints, looting the people, and setting fire to the buildings.
The blood of many was spilt in these. Numbers of the Lungahs and
Mooltanees were destroyed in that general slaughter. In the plunder,
many precious jewels, and money not 1o be counted, fell into the hands
of the Moguls. After this, the fire of anger was cooled in Meerza Shah
Hoosain: he showed pity to those who had escaped, giving orders to
take up the bodies of the dead from the streets, and to bury them
in pits, and from that time none of his men were allowed to lift their
hands against them. Mukhdoom Shaikh Buha-ood-deen bronght Sultan
Hoosain and his sister to Shah Hoosain, who made them both over to the
care of Mahomed Miskeen Turkhan, who married the lady, taking her
brother into his bosom, as if he had been his own son.

Two months after the conquest of this city, intending to return to
Bukkur, Shah Hoosain placed as governors over Mooltan, Dost Meer
Akhoor, and Shums-ood-deen Nakhwanee, with 200 horsemen, 100
topechees (men with fire-arms,) and 200 footmen. He fined Shaikh
Socjan Bookaree, and the slaves of consequence of Sultan Mahomed
Lungah, taking from them all the money they possessed. He then
torned towards Bukkur, where, after his arrival, a petition arrived from
the Ameers of Tatta, with these contents: * Khungar has the inten-
tion to bring a force against Tatta” On receiving this news, the
Meerza marched to go there. Dost Meer Akhoor and Shums-ood-deen,
who were left at Mooltan, remained there nearly eleven months, when
Lungur Khan, separating himself, went away to the presence of
Mahomed Babur Badshah, who reeeived him with honour. After this,
Shah Hoosain wrote a petition to Babur Badshah, making Mbuoltan
over to him asa present, and Dost Meer Akhoor and Lis companions
came to Bukkur. Babur Badshah placed Mooltan in the hands of
Mahomed Kamran. -

Ax Accoust™or Suan Hogsain®s War wita Kavxear, 15 THE DIRECTION
o orF Kuren.

1 bave before mentioned, thit at the time when Shah Hoosain had
retarned to Bukkur, a petition came from the Ameers of Tatta, saying
that Khungar was preparing to come against them. Shah Hoosain

| e
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immediately went in that direction with expedition. On arriving near
it, ambassadors came to him from Khungar, saying: “My relation
Ameer Amravee was formerly, slain in your quarrels: my people
collected to take their revenge, but you had gone to take Mooltan, and
I preserved your reputation in not coming upon your families at that
time. Now it is necessary for you to make peace, and to give me a
portion of Sind; if not I will make war with you.” Meerza Shah
Hoosain replied : “There is no other langnage for me except war.
The plain which I coloured with the blood of Ameer Amravee still
retains the mark of the blood of him, and before your arrival, I am
coming there.” Shah Hoosain, leaving some troops at Tatta to protect
the families, marched against Khungar. Having passed the intermediate
space, he came near Kuteh, where the failure of grain came upon his
army, from which his people became much distressed.  Shah Hoosain
and all his chiefs agreed that it was advisable for them to attack
Khungar from four directions, and that whoever by chance first felt him,
those who were near should come to his assistance. The first of these
bodies directed mpon the enemy was that of Sultan Mahomed Khan
Bukree ; the second was that of Meer Furookh; in the centre was
Shah Hoosain himself; and with the fourth were Meerza Eesn and
Meer Abeck. Khungar only received news of Shah Hoosain along
coming with a weak force, so he marched with 10,000 men, horse and
foot, in his direction. By chance, marching along, the noise of the
beating of Nugarahs reached the ears of Sultan Mahomed, who said
to his men: “The noise of the Nugarah comes tomy ears.” All expressed
their wonderat such being heard in the jungle. He thenagain heard the
noise, and sent some people to the top of a hill, to look about, and
bring the news. These bronght word that Khungar was moving with a
large force towards Shah Hoosain. The Meerza, having heard of the
approach of the enemy towards him, marched quickly with his troops to
meet him. In the mean time Sultan Mahomed, baving come across,
arrived in front of Khungar. He then senta stirrup-holder to Shab
Hoosain, saying : * Do not advance from where you are ; God willing, 1
will flot allow him to come upon you.” He also sent a Kosid to Meer
Furookh, to come up quick. When Khungar's forees came in sight of
their foes, they dismounted from their horses, forming lincs, and taking
their shields and spears in their hands, tied themselves to each other
by the ends of their waisteloths. Soitan Mahomed direeted the brave men
with him to take nothing in their hfnd¥ buktheir bows abd arrows. Tn
this manner there was Eugd ﬁgh[iug for two or three Ihurs. Khungar's
two leading lines became food for the emgles of the brave men of Sulian
Mahomed like pigeons; the remainder of his troops placed their faces in
the direetion of flight, and those, running away, came upon Meer Furoukh,
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who made grass of them with his sabres. The troops remained there that
night ; the next morning the whole went forth to plunder the villages and
country, making many prisoners, and, numbers of horses, eattle of all
sorts, and property of varions kinds, fell into the hands of the sepoys.
Shah Hoosain, returning with victory, arrived at Tatta,

Ax Accouvst of Hoomavooxn Bapsuan coixe AcainsT GUZERAT, AND OF
TaE Marcu or Megrza Suan Hoosaix 1% THAT DIRECTION, AGREEABLY
to ms Orpers.

In the year 942 (a. p. 1535), Hoomayoon Badshah, taking numerous
forces from Delhi (especially against Infidels), marched npon Chittore,
near which were made fixed places for the royal tents. At that time
Sultan Bahadoor Guzeratee wrote a petition to the Badshah in behalf
of the Raja of Chittore, showing forth his sineerity ; but at the latter end
of this, some harsh words appeared ; seeing which, the heart of the king
was offended, and he turned the bridle of the intention of his horse
towards warring with S8ultan Bahadoor in Guzerat, and getting over the
country, he arrived there, looting and killing as he went. On this
account Sultan Bahadoor went to a bunder.

During Hoomayoon's progress, he wrote a Firman to Meerza Shah
Hoosain, telling him to preserve the ways of friendship, to turn his face
in that direction, and to halt near Puttun, from whence he was to write
a petition to him, when he must do as he might be ordered. Shah
Hoosain, with a very large force, marched from Nusurpoor by the way
of Radhunpoor, on Pattun. Khizor Khan, who was the Hakeem in the
fort there, on the part of Sultan Bahadoor, retired within his fortress;
seeing which, the Ryuts drove their flocks and herds to a distance.
Sultan Maohomed, taking 500 horse, procecding in advance, arrived at
7 kos from Puitun, where he halted, sending Jan Ali back to Shah
Hoosain. He also sent Jonaid and Joonuh, Dharejas, to Khizur Khan in
the fort, saying : “ Shah Hoosain has come with a vast foree ; it is betler
for you to go and make your fort over to him, and remove your families
wherever yon please.” Khizur Khan sent back word, that Sultan
Bahadoor was alive at Gurnal (Joonagur), and that he did not se@ how
it was necessary for him to give up the fort of Puttun to the Moguls of
Sind. These two then went to the mother of Khizur Khan, telling her
what Sultan Mahomed had said, adding that they did not think it proper
for them to return without taking some present from her to him. The
mother of ls;h{;:u.r Khan said—® What is your advice 1" These replied
that it was fitting for her to send one lakh of Ferozshahees for the en-
tertainment of Shah Hoosain, and thirty thousand for Sultan Mahomed ;
and, if you will give this, we will take away the army. In short, she
=ent one lakh and thirty thousand Ferozshahees by her men of trust.
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The following morning Shah Hoosain arrived at some high ground
near Puttnn, when Sultan Mahomed eame to him, requesting permission
to proceed in advance. Shah Hoosain replied that it was preferable to
send some one to the king, to acquaint him of their arrival there, and
that we will go wherever he orders ns. He sent an Urzee by Abdool
Koodoos to the king. At that time men arrived, bringing presenis
from Khizur Khan to him. He remained there fifteen days, in which
time Sultan Mahomed went to Mahomedabad, plundering the country,
when much money and valuable property fell into the hands of the
sepoys. Meer Furookh at that time represented to Shah Hoosain that
«When the royal orders arrived for us to go and encamp with his
highness’ armny, there will be no other medicine for us but to do so, and
it is not proper for us to go there, becanse the Badshah gives much
money to his troops from the wealth of Gnzerat, and there is much
valuable property with the Chughtteeynh Ameers. If our Urghoons
and Turkhans see this, they will not remain with us, many rfen will go
away. Itis better that we turn the bridle of our intentions back to
Sind. This was approved of by the Meerzas and all the chiefs, and
determining to abide by it, he sent an Urzee to the king by Meerza
Kasim Beg, saying: “I came here with a large force; now 1 have
received a petition from the Ameers of Tatta and Bukkur, who tell me
that the Kulumtees and Guttooees (Zemindars) having assembled, men
are looting the country, and much discord has arisen ; for this reason
my return there is necessary.” Hoomayoon was plundering the country,
and twenty days previous to his arrival at Ahmedabad Shah Hoosain
had turned back from Pattun. This was in the early days of 945 (a. v.
1538).

HJ.E retarned to Tatta by Radhunpoor, looting and slaying the
Jharejas and Sodahs as he passed.

Ax Accoust or Bapsuan Hoomavoox (rue Sox oF Barvn Bapsuan)
Goixa To Sixn, axp oF Megrza Suan Hoosaix’s ENMITY WITE NIAL

When, in the year 947 (a. p. 1540), Shere Khan Afghan, commonly
ealled Fureed, the son of Husun Afghan, became rebellious in the
eastern conntries, on the 10th of Mohurrmm of that year, Hoomayoon
marched against him. There were two or three battles between th:zm
on the river Joosa. In short, thgroyal army was defeated, when the king
turmed the bridle of his intentions towards Juwunpoor, whence wifh
expedition he went to Agra. In tHe pfevions year (946, Ehlh I‘?Ionmtu
sent Meer Abeck Urghoon to Badshah Hoomayson,™ offering his
congratulations on the conguest of Guzerat l!l-ﬂ Bengal ; he also sent
Meer Khoosh Mahomed Urghogn with a similar message 1o Meerza
Kamran on his conguest of Kandabar, and the destruction of Answar
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Khan. Both of these were good sepoys, men of wisdom and couneil,
When Meer Abeek presented himself to the king, seeing his carelessness
and pride, he understood that the foreign sepoys in a short time would
write in their hearts the words of mutiny. Without asking the
permission of the king, he left his army, conveying himselfl with great
diligenee to Shah Hoosain, who, on hearing of his arrival, became
anxions, When Meer Abeek had an interview with him, he asked what
had oceurred ; he replied : “ I found the king in snch disorder, that ina
short time the rebellions people will find strength against him;
underneath him there will be roads of discord ; and I have come to give
this news, that you may be on the alert.” Shah Hoosain several times
summoned his nobles to the assembly, to deliberate with them. At that
time the news of the defeat of Hoomayoon arrived, when all gave great
credit to the wisdom of Meer Abeek, praising him much, It was
decided upon to leave the country, and destroy the enltivation from Ooch
to Bukku®on both sides of the river.

When the news of the flight of the king was confirmed, he erected
buildings in four gardens at Baburloe, and placing in these all the
requisites, with munitions of war, he caused all the country and towns
about Bukkur to be entirely deserted. In the minds of Shah Hoosain
and his people it became fixed that the king would come to Sind, be-
cause Meerza Kamran and Meerza Uskuree had left the paths of friend-
ship towards him. When, on the 1st Rubee-ool- Awul, 947 (a. p. 1540),
the king arrived at Labore, all his brethren and nobles were collected
there, but these had not gained knowledge, though they had seen what
had occurred ; and they did not bind the girdle of truth around the
loins of spirit; so much so, that one day Khwaja Kodawund Mahomed,
Meer Abdool Buga, and other men of consequence in the kingdom,
assembled together, and wrote a bond of friendship between themselves,
to which all those Ameers put their signatures as witnesses. When this
bond was perfect, they collected to deliberate, but their language was not
from their hearts : on this aceount the assembly broke up, and the matter
on which they were deliberating was unfinished,

In the latter days of Jumadee-oos-Sanee 947, Hoomayoon Badshah,
Meerza Mahomed Kamran, Mahomed Humdal Meerza, with other
princes and nobles, and all the army, erossed the river at Lahore, and
Shere Khan drew near that city. The Afghans stretched forth the hand
of violence against the Moguls wherever they found them, looting and
destroying thei: families ang préperly ; for this reason the whole of the
Moguls, having joined Hoomayoon, went towards Kabool. When they
reached the Chunab, Mahomed Kamran Meerza, and Mahomed Uskuree
Meerza, with Khwaja Kodawund Mahomed and Khwaja Abdool
Huk, without the permission of the king, turned their faces towards
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Kabool. The king, being helpless, went in the direction of Bheruh,
when Mahomed Sultan Meerza, and Ulug Meerza, &c. also separating
themselves from the king, joined Mahomed Kamran Meerza. Hooma-
yoon, seeing the enmity of his brethren, on the 1st of Rujub of that year,
turned the bridle of his intentions towards Sind. In the last days of
Shaban, the royal arpny arrived at QOoch, near which lived Bukshoo
Lungah, to whom the king sent by Beg Mahomed Bukawul, and Kochulk
Beg, a handsome Khilat and Firman, granting to him the title, of Khan
Juhanee, and presenting him with a standard and Nugarah. On this
account he sent to the Badshah many boats full of grain, but he did not
take the fortune of an interview with the king. Hoomayoon, with his
nobles, nnd some of his forces, proceeded towards Sind, and the places
for the tents of his troops were made about Roree. He himself, with
much happiness, went to reside in the gardens (Char Bagh) of Baburloe,
which have no fellows in verdure and elegance. Previous to this Saltan
Mahomed had cleared all the country about, strengthened the fort of
Bukkur, underneath which he had collected and secured all the boats.
When the royal army came to Roree, the king sent a Firman to Sultan
Mahomed to this effect: * You must come and find fortune by kifsing
the royal threshold, and deliver up the fort to the king's sepoys.” He
replied: “I am the servant of Meerza Shah Hoosain; until he comes
to the royal presence, my going there wonld not be in accordanece with
the rules of eating #alt, and without the order of Meerza Shah Hoosain,
it is not proper that I should give up this fort.” The king held him
excused. Grain beginning to become scarce in the imperial camp,
Mehtar Ushruf, the Meer Bazar, went to Sultan Mahomed, informing
him of this circumstance, who then sent 500 kurwas of grain for the
army, and something for the consumption of the king, who approved of
this attention.

In those days Hoomayoon sent Ameer Tahir Sudur and Lumundur
Beg, who were in his confidence, to Meerza Shah Hoosain at Tattm,
writing and pointing ont the strength of his good willtowards him, “_d
bringing to his recollection his sincerity to Babur Badshph. On their
arrival, Shah Hoosain received them with much honour u&&ﬁmt!nn.
He determined in his heart, that as the king had come in,this direction,
it was proper for him to make over, for the expenses of the royal family,
the conntry from Halah Kundeeso Batorah,® on the opposite side of the
river, and that after arrangements were made, it would be proper for
him to present himself to Hoomay®fon “Badahab. He tﬂu-prﬂpolﬂd o4
himself, after the settlement of affairs, and his visit to fhe king, to take a
force to conquer Guzerat, and then [ retarn back again. IHaving

< .
« The country of Meerpoor, in Lower Sind.
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arranged matters in this way in his own mind, he sent Shaikh Meeruk
Pooranee and Meerza Kasim Tighaee with valuable presents to the
king. These reccived honour by making their Salaams to his royal
highness near Bukkur, representing to him the good faith of Shah
Hoosain, and delivering his petition. Its contents were these :—*% The
country of Bukkur affords small produce; the territory of Chachgan is
superior to all in enltivation : it is proper for the kingdom (king) to turn
the bridle of intention that way, and to take possession of it, as there the
sepoys and animals will experience no distress, and I shall be in
the vicinity of the king. Wealth and fortune are my friends by your
coming to this country: in a short time, removing suspicion from
my breast, I will gather fortune by kissing your stirmp.” Badshah
Hoomayoon in the first instance gave orders to write to Shah Hoosain,
to inform him that he will act as he snggested ; but afterwards, in
private, the ministers petitioned him in opposition to what Shah Hoosain
had written, saying : ¥ What is the meaning of this, that he mentions
the names of towns and villages 7 If he wasat heart the well-wisher of
the king, why does he not make over forts as a present, that we may
leaverin them our families, and go to conquer Gnzerat 7 Does he not see
that Shere Khan, our encmy, is sitting over onr heads at Lahore? That
which he proposes is distant from rectitade and concord.” Hoomayoon,
after this, turned his face towards surrounding Bukkur, on hearing the
news of which, Shah Hoosain remarked : « My heart is at ease with
respect to Bukkur, because the king will not quit the gardens at
Baburloe, the givers of contentment to the heart, and of happiness to the
brain, to sit down before and conquer it himself, and nothing will
be done by those nobles whom he may send to besiege it."”  Prior to this,
Sultan Mahomed, leaving Meerza Janee Turkhan, and other ehiefs of
confidence, in charge of Bukkur, had proceeded to Schwistan, causing
that part of the country to be deserted, as the others had been collecting
all the grain and other things together under cover of the fort there.
About that time the remainder of the royal troops having come from
Matheluh, arrived at Roree on the 28th of Ramzan, 947 (a. . 1540),
encamping near the hills there. Such of the Dharejas and Soofyenees,
who had remained ontside about the country, came and received honour,
by bowing their heads in the presence of the king. On Friday he went
to the college of Meerzaee ; the day following he returned to the
gardens, by the light of the sun of his countenance upon which, jealousy
was caused to Paradise. _  + - .
- The king-highly approving of those gardens and their buildings, all
it Harem agg his nobles resided there, and in the vicinity, Meerza
gar Nasir remained in the college at Roree, between which and
loe there are about 3 kos. In this space all the royal forces were
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encamped. We hear from men of weight, that these numbered two
lakhs of men. On Friday Hoomayoeon went to the Musjid, saying the
prayers of the day there. His name was read in the discourse in the
Musjid. On that day a poet in that assembly presented to the king this
Kytah, by which gift he found much honour :—

“When the impression (on coin) upon its heart wrote the name of
Hoomayoon, the sun, for [riendship of him, filled the face of the
impression with gold.

“That pulpit which from the naming of his titles receives ornament,

“ On the top of that pulpit, Jupiter seatters pearls 3

From the presence of the royal army, and other circumstances, grain

became very dear in the cold season of that year about Bukkur, so much
so, that the people gave up their lives in the search for bread; hearing
of which, the king gave much money from the treasury to his sepoys.
One thin bread (Chupatee) cost 1 Miskal, i. ¢. 4 Mashas and 31 Ruttees,
or abont 6 annas. When grain had become so searce as not to be pro-
cured in the Lushkur, Hoomayoon sent Meerza Hindal towards
Pattur, he himself remaining at Char Bagh for five or six months,
because he thought the Shah Hoosain would come and make his salaam,
and do that service which it was proper for him to do, since he had
in the first instance pursued the path of submission. But the Urghoon
nobles who were about Shah Hoosain, did not allow him to go near the
king, turning him away from the road to friendship; and seeking the
ways of deliberation, they found that the arrangement of their affairs
laid in enmity to the king, so they pursued that road which leads to war.
Hoomayoon, leaving Baburloe, went 1o Durbelah. After remaining there
some time he proceeded to Pattar, when he married Homeeduh Banoo
Begum, the daughter of Shaikh Ali Ukbar Jamee, one of the Meerza
Hindal’s Sirdars. She wasequal to Bilkees (the Queen of Sheba). When
all the grain and supplies were consumed, the king again turned the
bridle of his intention towards Bukkur. From not obtaining gmin,
much distress fell upon the troops. After this Meerza Hindal, leaving
the king, went towards Kandahar. At the instigation of 'ﬁ!ﬁmm
there; Kurachuli Khan, he wrote 1o Meerza Yadgar Nasir; inviting him
to go with him, saying that he should expect to see hign on the road.
On Tuesday the: 15th of Jumadee-ool-Awal, 948 (. p. 1541), the king
went to the house of Meer Aboal Bugs, sending him to Meerza Yadgar
Nasir, giving him advice to quit the paths
of friendship. Meer Abool “ﬂ;i :: e
brought Meerza Yadgar Nasir within :
i Hf:'mﬂq Meer Abool was returning, of which
circumstance the men in Bukkor becoming cognizant, they sent some
of their people in boats in bis front, who showered their arrows upon

15 2
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binmt. [In this attack Meer Abool Buga reccived many deep wounds:
The next duy he passed from this world of death to the world of life.
From his death great sorrow came upon the king. The following
Wednesday, Meerza Yadgar Nasir, crossing the river, came to the
presence of Hoomayoon, finding fortune by his interview with him,
At that time the king gave his permission for the departure of Meerza
Shah Hoosain's ambassadors, Shaikh Meeruk Pooranee and Meerza
Kasim, sending by them a Firman, on which he wrote with hiz own
hands—* After Salaam to Meerza Shah Hoosain : In this matter I will
agree to your proposition, when you come to my presence with a clean
heart.+ My Salaam to you. Enongh!” Meerza Shah Hoosain was
inelined 1o visit the Badshah, but the wisdom of the Urghoon nobles
was averse to such a proceeding. Shah Hoosain considered much on the
subject, thus delay ocenrred ; so much so, that the king, leaving Meerza
Yadgar Nasir near Bukkur, returned towards Sehwistan, close to which
his standard full of victory eame. At that time Fuzl Beg, the brother of =
Momain Khan, and Tursoon Beg, with about twenty followers, going on -
a boat, preceded the king; seeing which, some of the men in the fort
sallied forth agninst them, who, disembarking, attacked and drove them
back to the Killa.

On the 17th Rujub, Hoomayoon Badshah encamped round the place,
where there were no buildings, trees, or shade for the sepoys; as, previous
to his arrival, those who had charge of it, namely Meer Saltan Koolee
Beg, Meer Shah Mahomed Urghoon, and others, had cleared away all
the gardens and buildings about it. The king having beleaguered the
fort, the inhabitants became much confined—theiratfuirs were overtorned.
Hearing of this, Shah Hoosain, marching (rom Tatta, came to Sunm,

- where he made entrenchments, and collecting many boats, he encamped

“there, sending Meer Abeek Urghoon to Sehwistan, who in the night-

time, with some men, passing through the royal army by the bazar road,

reached the fort. The news of his having arrived reached the king's
forces, after he had gained the fort : he went so secretly, that information )
of his approach did not precede him. In the morning, Hoomayoon gave

orders for mines to be sunk ; in short, one 'bnmian. Mhlnwn um: blﬂ -
the garrison, as it fell, threw up another &ul‘gm p .
- The king then knew that the resources n£ the Us 0
. 'atrength Besides this, the apparatug for g the fort was not
. " present.  In short, having besieged it for seven ml:lnlhs the time of the . :
. inundation, adid the season for bnd winds, were approaching; moreovef,
 8kah Hoosain hal closed all the roads by which supplies conld come.
reasons many sepors had deserted ; and even some of the
quence, such as Meer Tabir ﬂudu.r, Khwn]a. Bhn,u.m’é-‘ j* :
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Hoosain, who gave them much honour, and then sent them to Tatta: Moer

~ Kasim, and Hoosain went off to Meerza Yadgar, and the king heard

that they would go off with him to Kandahar. After the king leflt Yadgar
Nasir near Bukkur, the men in that fort twice went forth, and aitacking
his troops when unprepared, slew Malhomed Ali Kaboochee, and
Shere Dil Beg, besides killing and wounding many others. - These two
affairs were condneted by Kokuh Turkhan, Dost Mahomed, and others.
The garrison sallied forth a third time against their enemies, falling
upon them on the sandy ground, near Roree ; but this time Meerza
Yadgar, going forth himself, stretched forth his hand in such a manner,
that the attacking party turned their faces in flight, some throwing
themselves into the waters of the river. Many got on boats, which they
loosed, and allowed to go with the stream. When the news of this
defeat of his men at Bukkuor reached Shah Hoosain, he scnt Ameer
Koolee Mohurdar to Meerza Yadgar, shaking the rope of [riendship,
sending this message to him: a1 have become old, and with the
exception of one daughter, 1 have no other children. 1 make the
betrothal of her with you ; for a short time 1 may have to live, and after
my death all this country will be yonrs. I will give you much wealth
new, and both of ns, uniting, we will go and eonguer Guzerat.” In
short, Meerza Yadgar Nasir from this deceit of Shah Hoosain,
becoming misled, tnrned his heart in enmity towards Hoomayoon, who,
seeing the rninons state of his army, had sent many snccessive times to
call him ; but he always sent back the messengers with some excuse
or other. When the news of his enmity reached the king; he stones
left Sehwistan, proceeding towards Bukkur, and on the way Kunbur
Beg Urghoon, leaving him, returned 1o Sehwistan, and many Sepoys,
from getting mothing 1o eal, quitted the royal army. Hoomayoon,
arriving at Rorce, encamped there. Meerza Yadgar Nasir, being
helpless, paid his respects to the king, giving up to him all the groin he
had ; but this was not sufficient to satisly the um'rin.gsﬂf the mynlllﬁl-
When the extremity of hunger came upon them, the king sent some
of his confidential people to Sultan Mahomed, who came in front 1o

meetthem, giving Khilats to Mahomed Buknwul,-n_!ﬁ_ s other | ts
of the king, and presenting money and guinumw he gave
thern thets leave. . Adle {be départure of these ehiefsthe nobles of
Mecrza Shah Hoosain, assembliog in the receptionsroom, discoursed on
the searcity of gruin in the royal camp, each saying what he thonght.
Saltan Mahomed afterwards cent 800~Kuraras of graiff for the use of

the royal household ; but the Pup]ﬂ, from getting '::..l:nﬂ'fng. left the
kiﬂ-g'l eamp, &ww s‘iﬂﬂ- Hnr ﬂrmpll'hﬂ foUnWEd one
route, numbers perishing from hunger. The royal troops often came in
_eontact with the men of Shah Hoosain, who were always beaten; but as
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there was no apparatus for opening forts, on this account he could not
conquer these. When the will of God's power, the wish of the Eternal
Wisdom, (which shows the countenance of misfortunes in the midst of
happiness, and which brings in the midst of these the apparatus of
happiness,) agreeably to the desire of the king, had not placed upon the
stool the painting of his wishes in the country of Sind, and upon the
test of fortune the gold of Hoomayoon had proved counterfeit, he saw
the infidelity of his army, and the unkindness of his brethren. Then he
wished to place upon himself the dress of separation from others, and
placing his foot on the road of those who love to walk after God, to go
and seize the knocker of the door of Kunbuh (the Temple of Mecea),
and there to remain sitting in a corner. But his confidential nobles
represented, that althongh this wish which had entered his breast was
very proper, yet the king was aware how much hardship and distress
had befallen his people ; that with these evils they were still. at his
stirrup ; that if he placed his foot on that path, they would be entirely
deserted and roined, and that with g0 much distress they conld not
accompany him to Hijaz. Their opinion was, that he should remain
where he was some days.

The king, on account of the absence of grain, determined to leave
that place. At that time a petition reached him from Mal Dewe, the
Raja of Jodhpoor, saying:—* Unknown to you, I place the ring of
submission to your orders in my ear. I wish that the fortunate foot of
the king may come to my house. If the royal army will do honour to
this country, by coming to it, I will attend in service to you with
20,000 Rajpoots, and wherever the king goes, I will be present with my
life and fortune.” After the arrival of this petition, on the 21st Mohur-
ram, 949 (a. 0. 1542), the king marched upon Ooch, and passing over
the intervening space, he arrived there. On the 20ith Rubee-ocol-Awul
of the same year, he proceeded, and, on the, 14th Rubee-cos-Sanee, he
reached the fort of Dilawur, and on the 20th of the same he arrived and
encamped at Beekanere. Some of the royal troops went into this city,
and ratuming from thence, they informed the king that the language of
respect was not heard among the inhabitants. Upon this, the king sent
Sumundur Beg to Raja Mal Dewe, before whom he arrived, and return-
ing with great expedition, he represented to Hoomayoon, that # Although
Mal Dewe openly speaks strongly of {tiendship, yet underneath he does
mot place the light of truth.” Then the royal army, going by the way
.of Phutodee, Tent on two or thrae fiarches, and encamped on the banks
‘of a tank. “From this place the king sent spies to bring intelligence-
These returning, showed the perfidy of the Raja, to the effect that, at the
nstigation of Shere Shah, and seeing the strength of his forces, Mal

-sending an army to loot that of the king. Hoomayoon, on
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hearing this, became much astonished, and full of anxiety. Spreading
before his chiefs the carpet of deliberation, he then decided that it was
necessary by all means to turn the bridle of their intentions from
Jodhpoor.

In short, the king retreated towards Phutodee, from whence he was
going to Sambur, giving orders fo his chiefs whom he left behind to
bring up his rear, to take care that the Raja's army did not come upon
him. But another force from another direction enconntered the king,
when he himself mounting, and going against the enemy in person,
with only a few men, showed such bravery that he routed and dispersed
them. He then with great expedition turned his face in the direction
of Jaisulmere, where he arrived on the lst Jumadee-ool-Awul, 949
(a. . 1542). Here the Ameers, whom he had left behind to bring up his
rear, closed up, and joined him, but many of their people bad perished.
Sonkurun of Jaisulmere, from badness of disposition, forbad their taking
water from the tank, placing his men on the banks for its protection;
thinking that, as the king’s army had come dragging hunger with them
from the jungle of mirage, it was better for them 1o die there for want
of water. The nobles and sepoys, collecting, attacked and drove off
those men, encamping on the banks of the tank, and the thirst of the
royal host left them there. After remaining some days, Hoomayoon
marched towards Omurkote, reaching it on the 10th Jumadee-ool-Awunl,
with great difficulty and distress from the wantof grain. Rana Bereesul
with his men came forth in front with his people to meet the king,
finding riches by kissing the royal stirrup, He evacuated the fort for
Hoomayoon to reside in it, but he remained some days outside, placing
in it Humeeduh Banoo Begum.

One day, the sun of glory arose from the horizon of good fortune ;
that is to say, on the night of Sunday the 5th of Rujub, in that same
year, the shadow of God, the king of kings, Julal-ood-deen Mahomed
Ukbar Badshah (Oh God, do you always preserve his country and his
rule ') was born. Mahomed Badshah Hoomayoon was highly pleased,
and greatly increased in size on the birth of this child, _

In-the early days of Mohurram of this same JEAR mftdsll'
Nasir, depending on what Shah Hoosain had said to him, becoming
seditious, left the royal camp, and crossing the river, went (o Sukkar;
but that promise on which he trusted had not the strength of a rotten

thread, and nothing came of it. Such guns as he bad, he sent 1o

Meerza Shah Hoosain, by Haluh,"ané Omaur Shah, tﬂ'd__uthu nobles
the Meerza. When Snnh Hoosain

who were with him belonging to
huudthuﬁndnhhﬂmmwhﬂmmhﬂupnﬂmh. he came
with great speed to Bukkaur. The nobles went out in front to meet him,
mﬂmmmmhu&mﬂihﬁﬂ- He became very much
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displeased with Sultan Mabomed Khan, for having given away his
grain ; he hung Moolla Durwesh Mahomed Anbardur, snperintendent,
of grain, in front of his (Sultan Mahomed's) house, and he skinned alive

Haluh and Omur Shah, between the two gates of (in the centre of)

Snkkur. All who had remained at Roree after the departure of the

king fled. Meerza Shah Hoosain, in the beginning of Rubec-oos-Sance,

went to Sehwistan, remaining there a week, repuiring the broken parts
of the fort. He then proceeded to Sunn, where he slayed some time.
On hearing that the king was coming back again, he quickly wenttﬂ
Tatta.

On account of the conntry about Omurkote being unable to mppi}

the royal host with the necessary supplies, it appeared advisable im the #

wisdom of the nobles to go to Sind, and in a few days the whole went
to Joon, the cultivation of which is on the banks of the river. There
are many gardens there, such as the heart rejoices in, with fruit trees,on
which account it raises its head above all the other towns of Sind.
There are many other things pleasing to the heart there. Hoomayocon
remained at this town a long time. Shah Hoosain, with his forces,

came and encamped on the opposite side of the river. Abont that -

time the king was informed that there was much grain and other sup-
plies in a fort in the Purguna of Buthoruh, and that it would fall
into his hands withont much tronble. The king sent Shaikh Ali Beg,
Taimoor Sultan, and Turdee Beg Khan against thisfort. Shah Hoosain,
hearing of this, named Meerza Fesa Turkhan to go there, but he
had not the mind to agree to this, because he was aware that
people had told the Meerza that he was favourably inclined to the
king. Shah Hoosain did not insist upon his going, and called Sultan
‘Mahomed Khan, who was sitting in sorrow on one side, by reason .'
of the displeasure of his chiel, and giving him much encouragement, he
sent him on this expedition to aid Moolla Boohlool and the garrison in
this small fort. There was constant fighting between parties of the
royal troops and those of Shah Hoosain abont Joon. The forces of the
latter were assembled on the land, and in boats opposite to that piaﬂh
ready to attack the enemy. L
By chance, one day, Taimoor Snltan Shah, Ali Beg, and Turdee
Khan, arrived with their men at this fort where the grain was, bat
Sultan Mahomed had previously reacbed it, and he had assembled the
- Lunduruhs, the Manduruhs, and the Sakurs. The royal troops approach:
-~ ed, withont IIErmg heard af this, Toming upon them unknowingly.
hting _comméneed, in which Turdee Khan behaved negligently.
h Ali Beg, with his brethren, fixed his foot firmly on the battle-
ling there. Shaikh Taj-ood-deen was mortally wonnded, and
mn{‘titwyalumyiﬂththuletmk thnnppnmu!ﬂf
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their lives to the other world. Of Shah Hoosain's people, there were also
many slain. When the news of the destruction of Shaikh Ali Beg, Taj-
ood-deen, and his other brave men, reached the king, he became full of
sorrow. Other matters pressed heavily npon him also; thus his heart
cooled towards Sind, and he strengthened his determination to go to
Kandahar. About that time, on the 7th of Mohurrum, 950 (a. . 1543),
Buhram Khan came alone to the king from Guzerat: he placed salve on
the wounded heart of his royal highness, and he bronght about negotia-
tions for peace between him and the Meerza, who, deeming this good
fortune, became satisfied in his heart. He sent to Hoomayoon Badshah
one lakh of Misgalees (about 6 annas each), 300 horses, 300 camels, and
other. requisites for marching, and he threw a bridge over the river
opposite to Joon. At the time of making peace, and when this bridge
was completed, Hoomayoon became aware that 950 Urghocns had
vexed his royal highness and his imperial troops, as to subsistence in
Sind, for the space of two years. By reason of this making of peace,
the Urghoons were so pleased, that they extended their hats of happi-
ness to the heavens, looking upon itas an unexpected blessing, making
many excuses for their conduct, and sending all things needful for
marching to the Badshah. On the 7th of Rubee-pos-Sanee of this same
year, the king, leaving the town of Joon, erossed the river by the bridge.
This occupied lwg'dn:rs. and on the 9th, he commenced his march upon
Kandahar.

Ax Accorst o Tue Exprmiriox of Brksnoo Luxoan acaissrt Bukxue.

When Bukshoo Lungah had built a fort in Mooltan opposite to Jun-
poor, he caused the city of Mooltan to be deserted, gathering people
of all deseriptions in that fort, such as the men of Lungah, Beloochees,
Nahnrs, and all kinds of factious men were collected within his ring.
Then, making up his mind to attack Bukkar, he was constantly sending
spies there ; so much so, that at length a succession of these arrived,
bringing intelligence 1o him of the unprotected state of that fortress,
and that Shah Hoosain was at Tatia, with all his nobles and troops. On
hearing this, Bukshoo Lungah, placing his men on board boats, he
started, sending fifty of these in advance, ordering them to arrive at
Bukkar in the middle of the might, and by some device to convey
themselves upon the walls, and, by breaking down the gates, 1o open
a road for him to enter by. When these arrived at midnight of Friday
at the foot of the fortress, they lighted 3 fire beneath thegate opposite
Sukkur, and eommenced shouting. The people in the iort, hearing
this, were aronsed, and mounting the towers and walls, commenced
throwing stones and arrows. There were but few sepoys there. At this
time the mother of Sultan Mahomed Khan, coming over the gateway,
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having bad a large mat soaked in oil, cast it down upon the heads
of the assailants, who by this were separated and broken. Meer Janee
Turkhan, Humzuh Beg, and Kazee Fesa the son of Kazee Kazin,
exerted themselves greatly, so much so, that some of their enemies were
burnt, many drowned, and a few, throwing themselves into the boats,
thns escaped. Early on the following morning, Bukshoo Lungah, with
Nugarahs beating, approached, with the thought that his men had taken
the fort; but when he drew near, and the garrison commenced firing
cannon and guns upon him, he then knew that his people had not
succeeded in their work, so he turned and landed near Roree, where he
remained three days, looting the country of Bukkur, after which he
retired. When Meerza Shah Hoosain received this news, he sent
Shah Mahomed Urghoon, with Kazee Kazin, to take care of Bukkur.
The above attack occurred on the night of the 14th Jumadee-oos-Sanee,
950 (a. . 1543).

Ax Accoust or TEE Coming oF Meerza Kamrax To Sixp.

When, in the beginning of the year 951 (a. . 1544), on account of the
unkindness of his brethren, Hoomaycon Badshah proceeded to Irak,
then. Meerza Kamran sent Shaikh Abdool Wuhab Pooranee, Meer
Eelah Dost, and Baba Chochuok, on a mission to Meerza Shah Hooesain,
making known his wish to form a connexion with his danghter. Shah
Hoosain agreed to this, giving leave to the messengers to return.

When Hoomayoon returned from Irak to Kandahar, Meerza Uskuree
retired to the fort, becoming submissive to the king, who then marched
towards Kabool. Meerza Kamran stood up in enmity, but his chiefs
deserting him, went over to the king. Thus his strength to fight left him,
80 turning the bridle of his intentions f[rom war, he put his face in the
direction of flight, and by the way of Herat he came to Sind. Hearing
of this, Shah Hoosain made a place of residence for him at Pattar,
sending Durwesh Mahomed in front, to meetand escort him. Arriving
there, Kamran shook the cord of marriage. Shah Hoosain sent Meer
Furookh to make the arrangements in this matter, and he gave in
marriage to Meerza Kamran, Chochuk Begum, the chaste danghter of
Meerza Shah Hoosain. Three months after his marringe, Kamran left
Sind, proceeding towards Kabool, Shah Hoosain sending with him
1,000 well appointed horsemen, repairipg and fornishing whatever was
required by him. Meerza Kamran first went to Ghugznee, which he
took; he thef marched agairnst Xabool, reaching and entering it

- without the kno®ledge of the garrison. At that time the king was awsy
~ at Budakshan. -

* Six months afterwards, Shah Hoogain’s horsemen returned to Sind.
¥ to this, the king with many men came back to Kabool,

. v
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throwing his forces around it; at which Kamran becoming alarmed, he
left it, going towards Hindoostan. He had an interview with Islam Shah
Afghan, asking his aid ; but he meant to seize him, hearing of which he
fled, going to the men of Kokur, who protected him for a long time. At
length, when the king heard that he was concocting mischief in his
head, he had him caught, drawing a Mil (a wire instrament used to
blind people) over his eyes. ’

In the year 957 (. 0. 1550), Meerza Kamran arrived at Bukkur.
Shah Hoosain gave to him for a residence the small hill of Shad Beluh,
which stands in the midst of the water, 10 the westward of Bukkur. He
afterwards settled upon him for his house expenses the Purguna of
Buthoruh, giving him Futeh Bagh for a residence. After remaining
there some time, he left for Hujj (a pilgrimage to Mecea), and Chochuk
Begum prepared 1o accompany him, sending to her father for his
permission ; but he made denial to this, enlarging npon it. Nevertheless,
Chochuk Begum, without her father’s consenl, went on board a boat,
wishing to go alone to Meerza Kamran; but Sultan Mahomed
Mohurdar, and others, coming in front, mrmed her back. At that time
Shah Hoosain arriving, went on board her boat, reasoning much with
her; but she was not affected by this, saying: “ When Meerza Kamran
had his eyes right, you gave me to him ; now that he is blind, do you
intend to separate me from him? The world will say the daughter
of Meerza Shah Hoosain at such a time turned her head from associat-
ing with her husband, and they will give me reproach!” The Meerza
was pleased at this, and giving her valuable things, allowed her to
depart.

Meerza Kamran and Chochuk Begum, after performing the pilgrim-
age to Mecca and Medina, lived at the former place two or three
years. One year, on the day of Hujj, alter standing on Urfat (a
mountain near Mecca), and before sunset, the sun of his life went into

the corner of death. BSeven months after his death, Chochuk Begum

passed from this world to the world everlasting. This occurred in the

year 964 (a. p. 1556). &
; sp TURKHANS BECOMING REpELLIOUS,
Meerza SEan Hoosals.

s of MeerzsShah Hoosain, he was struck with the

men of low origin were his confidants.  The
and allP men ok character, deing exclnded

d in their own honses ; ané those low people

day by day ascended in degree, acting <without respect and with oppres-
N urds the Moguls. In theyear 960 (1. 2. 1552-53), Urabee Gahee

had charge of the treasury at Tatta, and Ismael Bhuttiryuruh issued
16 o

Axn Account oF THE URGHOONS A

In the latter day
palsy. At that time many
Urghoons, the Turkhans,
from his presence, remaine
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all orders to the conntry and Ryunts. Whatever truth or falsehood these
men spoke, it was approved of by Shah Hoosain. On this acconnt all
the men of respectability sat sorrowing in corners. Things came to
such a pass, that the sons of Urabee Gahee stretched forth the hands
of oppression upon the Urghoons and Turkhans. One night, one of
these kicking a woman of the Urghooneeyuhs who was in the family
way, cansed her to have a premature delivery. The Urghoons conveyed
this to the ears of Shah Hoosain, who paid no attention to it. When
they greatly enlarged upon it, the Meerza wrote a note to Shaikh
Meeruh Pooranee, the chiel of Islam, at the time in Tatta, saying:
“Inquire into this quarrel agreeably to the law, and after it has been
proved, punish whoever is worthy of punishment.” Shah Hoosain gave
charge of the fort of Musratabad to Shunbahand Rufeez, who were
his purchased slaves, and he himself turned the bridle of his intentions
towards Bukkur, and in the early part of Zilhuj of this same year he
arrived at Baburloe, remaining there twenty-five days. On the 7th
of Mohurram, 961 (a. p. 1553-54) he entered Bukkur, sitting in the Hall
of Andience from morning till evening.

All the Urghoons and Turkhans, seeing the predominance of the men
of low birth abont Shah Hoosain, beeame full of vexation; they were
thinking that the only medicine for their affairs was the destruction of
these. They and all the other nobles assembled in the honse of Meer
Shah Mahomed Beg Lar, who was the Hakeem of the fortress, placing
before him the state of affairs, good and bad, backbiting the slaves and
attendants of Shah Hoosain ; declaring that it was necessary for them
either to leave the conntry, or else to destroy these people. They asked
“for connsel in this subject, viz: “ That now Shah Hoosain is sick with
the palsy, he has not strength to ride, going about in a travelling throne :
we will place him in this fort, leaving our families to do his service, and
slay all the men of low birth about him." Meerza Janee Murkhan, a
Sirdar of consequence, said : “ Meerza Shah Hoosain is like the sun
on a hill ; it does not seem proper to me to bring myself into bad repnie
in his last deys. As youn have borne this burthen for so many years,
continue to do so for one or two more, and carry on your affairs with
trouble : see what comes forth from the curtain of the invisible world.”

They did not place their ears upon this, and some of them, rising
from the assembly, went outside with the purpose to go to the Hall of
Aundience, nnd_kil]. and wound all the attendants they might find near
the Meerza, ,.nntz to place® him under sarveillance ; bat before they
reached the hall, 8hah Hoosain, having gone on board a boat, had pro-
“eeeded to a garden, from whence in two or three days he went to Tatla.

Meerza Shah Mahomed Beg, the Hekeem of Bukkur, after this wrote
on the page of his heart the picture of rebellion, collecting the Booldee

ey e
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Beloochees. At that time the mother of Sultan Mahomed, a woman
of great goodness and wisdom, hearing of this, sent a man to call Meer
Mulik Mahomed, and Meer Lootfee, who were in the districts of
Oobawruh and Matheluh, who, on her summons, quickly conveyed
themselves to Bukkur, when they called Mihr Ali and the other servants
of Shah Hoosain, also the Kotwal, &e. who had joined Meer Shak
Mahomed, and greatly frightening them, they wentaway, and dispersed.
They then wrote the circumstances fo Shah Hoosain, who quickly sent
Humzuh Beg and others to Bukkur, and he despatehed Meer Humeed-
ood-deen  Mahomed Sarban, with a Purwana, 1o call Meer Shah
Mahomed, saying: “1 have recollected yon : when you see my writing,
come here,” Shah Mahomed found no other medicine but to obey; so
he went with Meer Mahomed-ood-deen, arriving in the presence of the
Meerza opposite Sunn, receiving much kindness from him. At thattime
Sultan Mahomed Khan was at Seebee. When he heard of Shah
Mahomed becoming rebellions, he proposed to go quickly to Bukkur,
because his mother and near relations were there 1 so, leaving Secbee,
he arrived at, Gunjabah, where his people brought a letter from his
mother to him, the contents of which were as follows :—* Meer Shah
Mahomed was bringing bad thonghts into his head, but before he could
do anything, he was called to the presence of the Meerza. Oh my son,
keep your mind at ease, doing that which you have to do!” Upon this,
Sultan Mahomed determined to return from thence. His chiels,
becoming aware of this, came before him, asking the reason of his
returning : he produced and showed to them his mother’s letier, on,
reading which they exclaimed : “Moobarak (congratulation) to you on
becoming the Hakeem of Bukkur: it is now necessary for yon at once to

advance your foot, and talk on the way.” Sultan Mahomed said : “ To

me it does not appear proper 10 g0 there withont being called.” They
replied : 4Jtseems fit for you to convey yourself speedily into the fortress ;
for if Shah Mahomed was in it it wonld be difficult for you to find an
entrance : now he is dismissed, it is necessary for you to go there
immediately, and from thence write a petition to the Meerzn, saying,
that baving heard of what had occnrred, you had arrived there, request-

ing his instructions,"” ”
Some days before his arrival at Bukkur, a Firman had arrived from
Hakeems there, Meer Mulik Mahomed

Shah Hoosain, appointing as
and Meer Lootlee: upon hearing which Sulian Mahomed became
greatly vexed, and he was attacked with digrthea.  The governorship

being entrusted to these two, they were dividing the Phirgunas of the
conntry between them; so Qultan Mahomed, with jealousy, senl & man
to them, saying : ¢ [n these arrapgemenis do not forget me, for 1 am in
the fort.” Hearing this, Mulik Mahomed said 1o his sons: T'ake the
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keys of the fort to Sultan Mahomed.” Meer Lootfee remarked that it
was better nof to act hastily, but to remain under the orders of the
Meerza. Meer Mulik was a man of wisdom ; he did not attend to Meer
Lootfee, and he sent the keys of the fort to Sultan Mahomed.

On the 1st of Mohurrum, 962 (a. p. 1554), all the Urghoons and
Tuarkhans in Tatta, being of one mind, agreed to obey the orders of
Meerza Eecsa, and they turned their heads away from listening to the:
commands of Meerza Shah Hoosain. They slew Urabee Gahee,
Shunbuh, and Rufeeg, seizing and confining Mah Begum, the Hurum
(wife) of the Meerza ; and extending their hands to the treasury, they
distributed much money to the sepoys. Shah Hoosain had appointed
Meer Shah Mahomed to the governorship of Tatta, but before his arrival
all the people had agreed to obey Meerza Eesa, bowing their heads
before him; and Shah Mahomed, being helpless, likewise became
submissive to him. Hearing of this, Shah Hoosain was much afflicted :
he sent a messenger to Sultan Mahomed, directing him to seize all the
Urghoons and Turkhans in Bukkur country, and to send them as
prisoners to him. After being attacked with the palsy, the Meerza
constantly drank wine, remaining intoxicated. At this time his attend-
ants were backbiting the Urghoons, saying : % They are very Neemuk-
huram (faithless), because they have killed all your followers, who had
passed their lives in your service, committing no offence : it is advisable,
for the preservation of your government, to give us orders to destroy
them, and to seize and confine Ahmed Wulee, the head of this dissension,
and he is now present here in your force.” They then began crying
and lamenting. The Meerza had Ahmed Wulee seized, sending him
to Sehwistan in charge of Mustee Sarban. He killed Ali Hoosain, who
was the near relation of Ahmed Wulee, and placing his head on the
point of a spear, had it paraded on all sides. Hearing of this, the
rebellious enmity of the Urghoons increased. Seeing their ﬁspouitiun.
Shah Hoosain gave the charge of Bukkur to Sultan Mahomed, directing
him to slay all the Urghoons and Turkhans who were there. Sultan
Mahomed togk this Firman to his mother, telling her of its contents.
She said—« I give you Moobaruk on being made Governor of Bukkur;
but instead of having these killed quickly, it is better to seize and send
them to the Meerza, who will do as he pleases with them.”

Sultan Mahomed confined Meer Jagee Turkhan, Ahmed Turkhan,
and others, who were in Bukkur, to take to the Meerza: he putto °
death Yadgar Mahomed Kotawal,*whs had incited Meer Shah Mahomed
to rebellion, and %e turned out of the fort the family of Kazee Kazin,
and all who were on the side of Shah Hoosain, and making over the
charge f:f Bukkur to his mother, he progeeded to Meerza Shah Hoosain.
At his-second march, he met Syud Janfur, and other Syuds, who had
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come from Musheed : these gave to him a pair of Nugarahs, which
had been sent for him by the superintendent of the Rowzah (tomb) of
Emam Moose Reiza at Musheed. Sultan Mahomed was very happy
at this, receiving it as an omen in favour of the Sultanut, and he gave
much money to the Synds.

He then collected twelve pair of Nugarahs, and mnine pair of
Korkuhs ; and making snccessive marches, on the 22nd Mohurrum of
that year, he arrived in the presence of the Meerza, to whom he showed
his forces, and being much pleased, and getting confidence, he marched
on Tatta with warlike intentions. On his arrival at Suyat, the forces
of the two parties met. There were wo or three battles between them,
in which many men of both sides were slain. In this state of affairs
Meerza Eesa sent secretly to Sultan Mahomed, saying: * By necessity
we are fighting against each other: why should we fight between
ourselves, the people being killed every day? IfIand you have an
interview, showing to each other the good and bad in our affairs, and
consult about our own business, «it will be well.” The two met at
midnight, and there was much friendly conversation between them,
bringing their talk to this point, that Meerza Shah Hoosain is n visitor
in this world for but a short time : it is better to take the road of peace;
because, after his death, there will be no one but us two, when, in such
manner as we may determine upon, We will make arrangements for the
country, and we will not distarb that which we may agree lo. No one
knew of this meeting.

At that time Ameer Sultan and Meer Abool Khair, taking some of the
Sodahs, &e. went to the Berar ferry, where there was o Belooch
Chokee, under Beg Mahomed. A serious afiray took place, many of
Meerza Eesa’s men being killed, the heads of whom were brought
before Shah Hoosain. By chance,amongst these there were some heads,
of Moguls, seeing which the water came into the eyes of the Meegza.
Upon this, Sultan Mahomed, who was sitting near, went before him,
saying: “If any men of our side are killed, you become sorrowful, and
if those of the opposite party are slain, you bring water info your cyes:
I amsvexed, and much distracted in finding a medicine this.” At
that moment Shaikh Abdool Wuhab Pooranee, and Meezzs Kasim Beg
Lar, came between them, speaking in extenuation ol the faunlts of
Meerza Eesa. Then Sultan Mahomed Khan and others, finding the
opportunity, said : ¢ Meerza Eesa is much ashamed at the behaviour of
the Urghoons and Turkhans towasds yourservants: if she pen of ‘for-

giveness is drawn across his errors, and if the Turkhass Th confinement

are released, he will without doubt present himself before you as a

suppliant.” =
Meerza Shab Hoosain assented 1o this, and Meerza Eesa, releasing
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Mah Begum and the slaves, conveyed them to his army. This occurred
in the last days of Sufur, in that same year. !

On the 1st of Rubee-ool-Awul, Shaikh Abdool Wuhab Pooranee, and
Meerza Kasim, asked forgiveness for the errors of the Turkhans, send-
ing a letter on this subject to Tatta. On the 2nd, there was a meeting
between Meerza Eesa Turkhan and Sultan Mahomed Khan, when each
of them, placing a hand on the Koran, agreed as follows—*That they
would be of one heart, keeping enmity at a distance ; that as long as
Meerza Shah Hoosain lived, they would both remain obedient to him ;
that they would not enter into any dissension during his lifetime; that
when the Meerza shall depart from this to that other world, then they
would divide the country of Sind into two parts, when that above
Lukhee shonld be in the hands of Sultan Mahomed, and that below
Lukhee should remain with Meerza Eesa.”

Both of them, agreeing to this, they wrote an agreement, lo which

were affixed both their seals, and those of their men of consequence.

They then embraced each other twice, and separated. After this,
orders were given for the men of the two armies to go into each other’s
camp, so that the idea of enmity might be removed from the minds of
all. The following day, Meerza Kasim Beg Lar, going to Talla,
bronght Mahomed SBaleh Turkhan, the son of Meerza Eesa, to Shah
Hoosain, before whom he placed many valuable presents. From this
side (Shah Hoosain’s) Abdool Wuhab took Ameer Sultan the brother of
Sultan Mahomed to Tatta, for an interview with Meerza Eesa, Meerza
Shah Hoosain, presentinga Khilat to Mahomed Saleh, gave him leave to
depart, and he sent a pair of Nugarahs to Meerza Eesa, The next day
he presented to Sultan Mahomed a standard of Meer Zoonoon's, and his
own seal. On that day Ameer Sultan came back from Tatta. After
. this the sepoys of the two forces went to and fro with confidence.
Skaikh Abdool Wuhab, who . was learned in medicine, from
observing the countenance of Meerza Shah Hoosain, became aware that
his long standing disease was increasing its head : he therefore deemed
it proper, now that peace was made, that he shonld go to Sehwistan,
and that the troops shounld be allowed to depart to their homes. Saltan
Mahomed proposing this to the Meerza, he assented, and that morning
he marched ; but his malady gained strength that day, increasing every
hour. On the 11th Rubee-ool-Awnl, he encamped at the village of
Nalee Potruh ; the following day, Monday, in the afternoon, the bird of
his life heard fae sound of— Do you come to your God with much
pleasure " (KGras), and fled towards the Garden of Paradise. At that
time Shaikh Abdool and Meerza Kasim were sitting at his head, and

tm::t to call Sultan Mahomed, whg, coming on board the boat, and.

g what had occurred, tears of affliction came into his eyes, and &

-
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minnte afterwards, nneovering the face of Shah Hoosain, he wept much,
and kissing his feet, sat down there, saying: “0h Shaikh Abdool
Wuhab! Oh Meerza Kasim! Yon are my witnesses to God, that
during the lifetime of Meerza Shah Hoosain 1 committed no act of
enmity towards him. T have always been faithfal to him ; so much =o,
that see, T now sit at his feet—no one else besides myself has found this
good fortune.”
" Shaik Abdool, taking him by the hand, went with him to Mah
Begum, desiring them to sit together, and that he would do whal was
customary. Having performed these duties in the early part of the
night, he placed the corpse on a bed, reading over it the funeral prayer.
Sultan Mahomed took a little of the treasure, and much of the property,
which was then belonging to Shah Hoosain. He said to Mah Begum :
% God forbid ! but the Urghoons and Turkhans at Tatta may commit
errors with respect to your honour: on this acconnt do you come lo
Bukkur, taking with yon the corpse of Meerza Shah Hoosain.” To this
Mah Begum replied : @ It is necessary to convey his remains near to
those of Shah Beg at Mecea, which is nearer to Tatta—it is far from
Bukkur.” In short, Mah Begnm did not approve of going to Bukknr;
she determined to take the body to Tatta the following morning, ac-
companied by Shaikh Abdool, Meerza Kasim, and Khwaja Mahomed.
The next morning Sultan Mahomed marched on Bukkur, and on that
day the news of the death of the Meerza reached Tatta, when Meerza
Fesa, with a large [oree, started after Sultan Mahomed, near whose
camp he assembled his troops. Sultan Mahomed then sent a man to
him, asking what his wishes were, saying: “If war is your intention,
tell me, and I will come to the field of battle.” Meerza Eesa replied :
«1 have come, because the Urghoons had heard that you were taking
the corpse of Shah Hoosain and Mah Begum to Bukkur: it wonld not
have been proper to do S0, becanse Tatta was his; but now it®has
become known to me that Mah Begum has conveyed his remains 1o
Tatta, do yon go at your pleasure to Bukkur.” Sultan Mahomed
then, marching quickly, reached Sehwistan, At that time Meerza Shah
Musiood, and others there, came to the determination, that as Tatia had
gone into the hands of Meerza Eesa, and Sultan Mahomed had obtain-
ed Bukkur, it would be advisable for them to hold the possession of
Sehwistan. Sultan Mahomed argued much with them, but they would
not deliver over the fort to him, keeping it themselves, agreeably to
what they had agreed upon. Sfitan’ Mahomed, by epcouragement,
called from the fort Meer Abool Khair, and Meer A ool Humeed, and
he then tarned the bridle of his intenltions towards Bokkur. Meerza
Eesa, who was following him march by march, on arriving at Suna,
heard that the men of Sehwistan had shut the gates upon, refusing
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admittance to Sultan Mahomed; so he sent a large body of men in
advance under his son Mahomed Saleh, to surround the place, and he.
himself arriving shortly after, kept tightly confined the men in this fort,
At that time my (the historian’s) grandfather, Synd Meer Kulan, coming
between them, peace was made, After this, the men in the fort asking
for quarter, evacnated it, Meerza Eesa taking possession. The chiefl
men of the place, being greatly ashamed, asked for, and obtained leave
to depart, for the pnrpose of going to Hujj; but they went to Guzerat
vid Barguh or Barkuh. From thence they went to Hindoostan, where
they took service ander Moonim Khan, Meer Abdool Humeed, also,
having obtained permission from Sultan Mahomed, went to Hindoostan.

When the corpse of Meerza Shah Hoosain reached Tatta, it was
conveyed to the house of Meer Ahmed Wulee, on the bank of the
river, and a tomb was erected for it on the Mokullee hill. Three months
afterwards, Meerza Eesa coming, took it from the house of Meer Ahmed,
and buried it there, Meerza Eesa, and all the Urghoons and Turkhans,
wearing the apparel of affliction. One day they all went to his tomb o
read the Eatihuh (prayer for the dead). Two years afterwards, the
remains were taken up from thence by the nobles, and conveyed 1o
Mecca, by whom they were placed on one side of those of his father
Shah Beg, erecting over them a very handsome tomb, which is well
known.

A SUMMARY OF THE LIFE OF Meerza Suan Hoosan,

Meerza Shah Hoosain was the son of Shah Beg, the son of Meer
Zoonoon. He had no equal in bravery from his youth, till he was seized
with disease. He was victorious in all the battles he fought: in these
his arrangements were good. He was born in the year 896 (a. p. 1490);

~ he @ied in the year 962 (a. b.1551), having lived sixty-six years.
Frém childhood he was anxious to attain knowledge, and all praised
him for the extent of his wisdom. His mind was always intent upon
that which was good ; his knowledge of all ancient traditions was
great; he understood poetry well—sometimes the result of his thonghts
came forth in verse. His titular name was Siyahee, and I (the hisforian)
have possession of some of his poetry in his own handwriting. He
always showed honour and distinetion to the Soduts (the Syuds), the
priests, and to all men of learning : wimtever allowance was settled by
him on these, there never was any mistake in it ; he gave to all accord-
ing to their,condition. Pn His fime, the hand of oppression did
not teach the fumble ; he did not wish to injure any one. I
arrangements for the country Were good. For the space of thirty-four
Jﬁh?nm on the throne. In his youth, he went from Kandahar 12
: “Badshah st Kobool, remaining with him two years. Babu®
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always spoke in praise of him, saying: «Shaikh Hoostin Beg has' not
come to me for service, but he has come o learn the gustoms of kings."

During his life he married two wives—the one Mah Beguom, the dangh-

ter of Meerza Mahomed Mokeem Urghoon, who was his uncle, by
whom he had one daughter, whom he gave in marriage to Meerza
Shah Kamran, who, after coming 1o Sind, went 10 Mecea, accompanied
by her, where she died. Mah Begum was married in the first instanoce
to Kasim Kokuh, by whom she had one daughter, name Naheed Begum,
through whom her descendants have continned. After the decease of
Shah Hoosain, Mah Begam was married to Meerza Eesa. From her
enmity towards Meerza Mahomed Bagee, she was placed in confine-
ment, in which state she died. The other wife was Goolburg Begum,
the daughter of Meer Khuteefub. She remained married to the Meerza
two years, bl after that, as they did not agree, they became separated.
She went to Hindoostan, previous to Badshah Hoomayoon's first coming
to Sind. She gave the ready money of her life into the hands of

*.the treasurer of death at.Delhi, the leal of her life falling before the hot

wind of death. Meerza Shah Hoosain had one son, named Meerza
Abool Munsoor, but he died when two years old, so none remain of his
family.

'.-a-,n'-ﬁ-t'-* '
Ax Accoust o¢ The Soputs, T Mex of T.eagwing, Toe Prigsts, THE

JupcEs, AND THE Pc__:?é'i's. ix Tan Ting oF MEERzA Snad Honsain.

Amongst these the first is Meerza Mahomed (known by the nume of
Shaikh Meeruk); the son of Meer Aboo Suneed Pooranee. His gene

logy extends back to Am

Snneed was the danghter of Shaikh Jolal-vod-deen. Shaikh Meernk

gained praise above all the Soduts by his Ellll'it_}', his, devor H?ﬁ

abstinence, and wisdom. He remuined a long time in Sind at the head
of the priests of Isla found
bread -at his honse; all men of learning, and studying, gained much
wisdom from his exertions; these took the ball from those who studied
elsewhers. He wrote a very good hand, particularly the Nustangleek.
I the*moath of Mohurram 962 (a. p. 1554), he died. .

Shaikh Meer Mahomed and Shaikh Abdool Wihabwere the two
cons of Meer Bayuazeed the son of Meer Aboo Sunced. They were
cousins to Shaikh Meeruk, afterwwhose death they were superior 1o all.
I'ie habits and character of the latter were very good : he was of a
happy temper, giving life to large Bsscmblins. He nﬂd'qamad poetry
well; he restrained himsélf much, walking in the ways of God ; with all
his power he showed the proper path 1 men of comsequeénce, exerting

himself moeh to do awny with o8 ssion, and to put a stop 1o all the

introduction of novelties in the exereise of religion. These two brothers
17 -

b Shahee Sodut. The mother of Hur A :‘_

m. Al who came and went, all travellers, found
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e '“tlma i the year 970 (4. p. 1562). The Jamin Fulawa Pooranee, a
rk on law well known at Tatta and Bukkur, was written by Shaikh
: ‘: Wuhab. , ’
i Shaikh Kootb-ood-deen Mahomed, the son of Shah Mahomed, the son
-uf Ehu.h Tuynb, was the chief of the Soduts of Khorasan. He cﬂ.me.w
Sind after the quarrels of the Toorkomans, living at Bukkar. Every
Friday he spoke in public, giving adviee to the people. He was a man
~ of great abstinence and piety. He died in the latter end of 1hc year 977
] {A. p. 1569).

-

Ax Accousr or Mukapoosm Rooknx-con-peEs, COMMONLY CALLED
Mukasoox Meroo.

He was successor to Mukhdoom Bilal. His heart was always given
1o piety; those who walked inthe path of austerity looked upon lrim
with reverence. He was well acquainiad with traditional uu}fmgu The
Shurh-i-Urbueen, the Shurh-i-Kaidanee, books on religion and law, and
other works, are the result of his knowledge. His death took place in "~
949 .[a. . 1542), a1 Taita, . '

=
Ax Accovnt or Kazer Kazix.

He was the son of Kazee Aboo Syud, the son of Kazee Zain-ood-deen
Bukree. His ancestors lived in Sehwistan. One of these, a very
devout man, came to and remained at Bukkur. Kazece Kazin was very
virtuous ; he was well skilled in incantations, in interpretations of the
Koran, in the truditional sayings of Mahomed also in all that related to
religion and law, and the contemplative sciences, he understoad, rcndmg
the Koran in a proper tone (Ilm-i-Kirat); no one surpassed him in
writing, He exerted himself greatly in penitence to God. He made
the pilgrimage 1o Mecca and Medina; he travelled much. He was &
disciple of Syud Mahomed Juwnn Poree, who was commonly known by
the name of Mehran Muhdee,® on which account the Moolvees of the
Mahomedan religion taunted him. After the death of Shah Beg,
Meerza Shah Hoosain looked upon him with the eye of kindness. He
was the Kazee (Judge) of the city of Bukkur, displaying great ability in
settling all disputes.  He died in 958 (. . 1551).

‘Ax Accoust or Kazee Aspoolia, 'mn Sox or Kazer Isramu.

He was one of the chief men of leu:nmg, and very virtuons. He
_mumd knowledge from Mukkdogm Abdool Uzeez Abhurec; he had
‘& strong mifd,-full of piety. In his youth he lived in his conntrys
Iy When Shah Beg took Sind, he lwmi some time at Bagh-

e Tl Hﬂllnﬁnudhuhkh to be the Mihdes Ihumpmdhhmh}'m
%h—duwmmmmm 3
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| " ®In his day, he wrote three works relating to" the cnstoms of the

131 By v Y
banan. In the year 934 (a. p. 1527), he went to Guzerat; fiom 1w
1o Medina, where he took the apparatus of his life to that other wo.
He had two devout suceessors, Shaikh Rehmut-ool-lah, and Sh :
Humeed Qoch. There was no-one equal to the first of thm.m“ it

pilgrimage, and these are now adhered to. His tomb is at Jernsalem
(Urz-i-Mokuddus). A X

Shaikh Humeed Ooch was ormnaimented with the dress of virtue; he
was a profi¢ient in knowledge of all kinds, especially in the interpretas
tion of the Koran, and in the traditions of Mahomed, When Moozuffur
Khan, the son of Sultan Mahomed Khan Guzeratee, took Ahmedabad
from Shubab Khan, who was one of Ukbar Shah’s nobles, Nuowab
Khan Khanan, with a large force, went there, driving ont Moozuffur,
and placing the country under Ukbar Shah. At that time 1 was
among the nobles who were with Khan Khanan. I received virtue
from the Shaikh, whom 1 went to see, making an offering to him of o
complete book called Mishkat, with some other works, all containing
the sayings of Mahomed {Hudees). .ﬂ,—:hm took leave of him. F-Bluiifn
Humeéd afterwards went on a pilgrimage to Mecea, with Nuwab
Moostitab Khan Auzum, and he still reads the sayings of Mahomed

there.

Ax Accorst o Mustum-oop-pees Lares. —
v

This was n man of great understanding, well acquainted mthjnuq :

he instracted Meerza Shah Hoosain for some time. In 961 (- b
1553-54) he went to Hujj. The resnlts of his elear mind are n work
explaining the Shumayul-i-Nubuwee, and marginal notes to Tafseer
Baizawee (an interpretation of the Koran); also & commentary on Farsee
Muntik ; besides others. '

g

22N
Aw Accoust o Svup Tar-oon-pegN. A L

He was amongst the good Seduts of Bukkur. He was ﬂﬂu,

possessing goodness of all kinds. At present maw* s held by
his descendants, who are numerous. R o e .

o7 e bl g
Ax ACCOUNT OF THE MOST PERFECT, THE MosT Wlﬂ' Porrs, Suan

. He wns descended from Tuyo Hurwee {ar Hﬂ‘ll}.. His writings
were very sweet. He came (o Swd from Khorasan, ir” the beginning
of the reign of Meerza Shah Hoosain. He was without equal in

knowledge of poetry. The results of his genins are l.he Muzhur-ool-
Anware, a reply 10 Toohfnl-u-Ajirar, and Dewan Hashimee (a book of
poems). In 946 (a. 0. 1539), he went to- Hujj by Kutchee Mukran,
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"fﬂnkmg the sherbet of martyrdom at the hands of highway robbers,
whilst on his journey.

Meer Shuh  Hoosain Nukdoree, Meer Shah Musnood Sndar, and
Moulana Fukr-ood-deen Hurvee, were also great poets. The former
was proficient in poetry, and chronograms. The Rorezut-cos-Salateen™
was written by him. The latter wrote Sunaivn Budaiyn (a work on
versification).

Moulana Haidar Kakh was the Sirdar of all poets. He wrote a book
of poems : this is an extract {rom it :— &

#0Oh my heart, be free from the confine ment of the world-like
Mujnocon.

“Take the road of the jungle of bearing !luuhlu, turning your face
towards the plain of sorrow.”

He came [rom Khorasan to Sind : his tomb is at Puttur.

&
Ax Accousrt or Meenza Eesa, tue Sox or Meer Aspoon Aul Turkmang

In his youth he found instruction from Meerza Shah Beg, being in
the rank of his nobles. When Meerza Eesa was with Meerza Shah
Hoosain in Mooltan, Ameer Amminee came to Tatta, looting the people.
The nobles then wrote 10 Meerza Shah Hoosain, acquainting him of
this. Meerza Eesa, placing the foot of bravery in front, asked for leave
to go and punish the introders. He arrived with great speed near
Tatta, where he fought well, slaying many of them. The survivors
dispersed.

After the return of Meerza Shah Hoosain, Ameer Amranee, with
40,000 men, came, and patling in order a field of battle, an action was
fought, in which 10,000 of his men were slain. After the death of
Meerza Shah Hoosain, in Jumadee-ool-Awal 962 (a. p. 1554), Meerza
Eesa sat on the throne of the government. The Urghoons and Tur-
khans approved of him as their raler, placing in his hands the power of
tying and loosening, of gathering and distribnting.

Meerza Fesa was u good man in every sense of the word, always
being indulgent to the Ryuts and sepoys. One year after he had sat
on the throne, at the instigation of the Urghoons, he became at eamity
with Sultan Mahomed Khan, marching on Bukkur with a large foree,
intent on war. In the month Rubee-oos-Banee 963 (a. n. 1555), he
encamped opposite to it, but Sultan }Mahomed Khan was inside the
fort. There were two fights between them.

At that time a body of Enringheos, whom Meerza Eesa had called lﬂ
8 assistancé, same to Tatta, which they looted and burned, seizing
of the pmple, whom thq carried away. The day previous to
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When this news reached Meerza Eesa, he went there wilh Y

being followed as far as Sehwistan by Sultan Mahomed, who destroyed
all the Rubee (spring crops) of that country. Syud Meer Kutan, coming
between, u reaty was made, and Sultan Mahomed returned to Bukkur.
Some time after this, in the year 967 (a. n. 1559), Meerza Mahomed
Saleh and Meerza Mahomed Blp.gec. the two sons of Meerza Eesa
Turkhan, were fighting between themselves. The father guve his
countenance to the former. The latter, being defeated, wentto Wungab,
where the Sodahs are. Those Urghoons who had accompanied him,
agreeing to remain with him, they went to Omurkote. Thence, by the
way of Jaisulmere, they came to Bukkur, where they had an interview
with Sultan Mahomed, who took them into the armpit of his kindness,
placing them at Sukknr. Meerza Eesa sent the children of Mahomed
Bagee to Sukkur, to please Mahomed Saleh. Meerza Mahomed Bagee
wished much to go to Hindoostan, but Sultan Mahomed Khan would
ot allow this, because he thought that if he got there, he would return
with a large force, which would have to go through his conniry, by
which much damage and annoyance wonld fall upon his people.

In 970 (a. p. 1562), Sultan Mahomed begged of Meerza Eesa
forgiveness for the fanits of Mahomed Bagee, agreeing to which, he
cent a mission to Sultan Mahomed to make arrangements, saying how
happy he was that he (Sultan Mahomed) had received and interceded
for his son. Sultan Mahomed then sent Meerza Mahomed Bagee io
his father, presenting him with all things befitting the son of a king.

Mahomed Bagee, arriving at Tattn, had an interview with his father,
who gave him Sehwistan in Jageer, allowing him to depart. After
this, the Urghoons qnarrelled with Meerza Eesa's people. Peace was
made between them, but as the Urghoons were crossing the river, they
opened fire npon, and slew many of them. On this account, they
reached Bukkur in a bad stale, showing their circumstances o Sultan
Mahomed, who seized and confined the whole of them. After some
time, on the intercession of his mother, he liberated them, and giving
to each a horse and Khilat, he sent them with his other people against
Sehwistan, the fort of which they surrounded, attacking it two or three
times, but they could do nothing.

When the river was very full, Meerzn Eesa came with many troops.
A fight took placeat the Rufyan ferry, when many of Sultan Mahomed’s

- men fell. Meerza Eesa encamped opposite the fown of Dunbelah, where

Sultan Mahomed sent his forces. Theg were prepanng I_'l:: action when
Shaikh Abdool Wubab Pooranee, and Mah Begum, th® well-wishers of
both parties, made peace between them. Meerza Eesa then returned
to Tattn, and the foroes of Sultag Mabomed went back to Bukkur. In
974 (a. n. 1566), when Meerza Eesa drew near death, he proposed to

-
-

-
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seat in I:ua place his youngest son Meerza Jan Baba ; but Mah Begum
said: “ Meerza Mahomed Bagee is the elder, it is- proper to place him
on the throne.” Meerza Eesa, shaking his head at this, replied : “He
has violence in his heart, giving oppression to the Ryuts, and the
families of others of God's ereation, and you will come to your death at
his hands." "

When Meerza Eesa died a natural death, the event was concealed,
to prevent discord, until Meerza Mahomed Bagee had come to Tatla
from Sehwistan. On the morning of that day, the body of Meerza Em
was placed in the tomb.

After this, Meerza Mahomed Bagee ascended the throne, placing
all the affairs of state in the hands of the Urghdons, Bat these were
without fear, conducting themselves improperly. The canse of this was
this : Meerza Mahomed Boagee had only just ascended the throne ; fear
of him had not entered their hearts, although he had strongly remon-
strated with them. Inshort, he saw that the only arrangement for the
country lay in their destruction. He therefore issued orders for all to
slay the Urghoons, to loot their property, and that their wives and
children were to be taken by those who pleased to do so. In this
manner numbers of them were killed, and those who escaped the sword
fied to Bukkur.

During the first year of the reign of Meerza Mahomed Bagee,
Naheed Begum came from Hindoostan to visit her mother Mah Begum.
In the same year, at the instigation of the Urghoon nobles, Sultan
Mahomed went forth to make war against Mahomed Bagee. On
reaching Nusarpoor, he laid siege to it. He then heard that Huzrot
Badshah (Ukbar Shah) had arrived at Shaikh Fureed-ke-Puttun (the
Pak ferry), with the intention of making a pilgrimage to the shrines of
the saints at Mooltan. Sultan Mahomed became very thoughtful npon
this, and burning all his boats, by snecessive marches he retreated.

Meerza Jan Baba, the brother of Meerza Mahomed Bagee, and
Meerza Shadman (a brave man, the son-in-law of Mahomed Bagee,
and a descepdant from Sultan Ali, the brother of Meer Zoonoon

Usrghoon), being displeased with Meerza Mahomed Bagee, lefn him,
and went to Bukkur. Sultan Mahomed received them with mueh

kindness, presenting to each, money, a horse, Khilat, and other valuable
things. He also gave them Jageers. »On their requesting his assist-
ance, he gave them a large body of good troops. When they arrived
~at Tatta, they"dng a ditchin fronteof the forces of Mahomed Bagee,
- bat the Urghoor Sirdars did not make friendship with Jan Baba—they
mqunm him. On this aceount he left them, going to the men of

- Humey 'J* ?m the rising of the rivey, the troops of Sultan Mahomed
cessful; and they retreated.  After this, in 976 (4. 0. 1565).

=N x
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Meerza Mnhomed Bagee, giving his daughter in marriage to Ukbar
Shah, he sent her with Mah Begum and Naheed Begum, anid everyihing
of every kind that the king could approve of, he forwarded by these.
He appointed Yadgar Miskeen Turkban 1o go in charge of them, with
intimate friends of the family, and men of trust, and he himself deter-
mined to accompany them some way.

Previous to this, Meerza Mahomed Bagee, having become friends
with Naheed Begum, married her danghter Buchuh Begum, who was
formerly the wife of, but had separated from, Nigat Khan. Thus
Meerza Mahomed Bagee's heart was at ease with respect (o the king,
through Naheed Begum. When these arrived at Lukhee Alvee, they
met there Meerza Jan Baba, who, coming with a force of Sotdnhs and
Sumejahs; made a night attack upon Mahomed Bagee, who threw
himsell from the stern of his boat into the water, from whence he got
into a small boat and escaped. The Sumejabs, boarding his vessel,
slew Buchuh Begum. For this reason, the departure of the bride wns
deferred. A year afterwards, Mah Begum, Naheed Begum, and party,
made a fresh departore, accompanied by Yadgar Miskeen. Meerza
Jan Baba met the Begums, and having an interview with them, he ‘said :
 What is the meaning of your departing from Sind, leaving Meerza
Mahomed Bagee to rule for himself.” On hearing this, Mah Begum
became his friend, uniting with him. They destroyed the marriage
presents and dowry, distributing them to the sepoys, preparing to resist
Mahomed Bagee. They got a field of battle ready, in which, in the
first instance, Mah Begum raised on high the standard of war. By the
order of God, the breeze of victory struck the banner of Meerza
Mahomed Bagee, and being defeated, the forces of Mah Begnm fied, -

At the comfmencement of this flight, Jan Baba and Yodgar Miskeen
fled to Kukralah, which is on the salt sea side, belonging to Jam
Muhr. Mah Begum was confined; Nabeed Begnm, with some fol-
lowers, escaped to Bukkur. After this vietory, Mahomed Bagee
rotarned 1o Tatta, being much incensed agninst Mah Begum. In those
days, Sultan Mahemed Khan arrived at Tatta, with o large force, when
Mahowmed Bagee sent to him Syud Ali Tuttuvee, the head priest there,
and he made arrangements between them. ™

Mahomed Bagee, by some artful design, induced Meerza Jan Baba
and Yadgar Miskeen to come ipn to him, when he killed both of them.
Mah Begam died in ber prison.

After this, Sultan Mahomed, witha nemergns army, agin marched on
Taita, encamping opposite one of the gaies. Meerza Mahomed Bagee,
having cat his own legs from under him, was uunnble to fight. He
placed guns on the bank of the giver Rein, to protect the city. There
was constant fighting between the two parties, in which Fakeer
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M. 1 Turkhan, the son-in-law of Meerza Eesa, was slain, as also

Sultan Mahomed Tuorkhan, When BSultan Mahomed Khan 'was

encamped at Berar, he heard that Tursoon Mahomed Khan had laid

siege to Ooch. Having taken possession of the neighbouring conntry,

it did not seem wise to remain where he was after this, so0 he turoed

the bridle of his intentions towards Bukkur.

In 978 (a. . 1570), Meerza Mahomed Bagee =ent his danghier, with
nummnerons handsome things as her dowry, to the king, accompanied by
Shaikh Abdool Gufoor, the son of Shaikh Abdool Wuhab ; but she did
not receive the honour of being accepted by the king, and she was
brought back to Tatta,

In his latter days, Meerza Mahomed Bagee showed kindnes 1o the
Urghoons, taking them under his shadow : such of these who had gone
to various parts of Sind were collected together, =alaries being fixed
upon them, and he gnve them Jageers according to their merits,

In 979 (a. p. 1571), Meerza Mahomed Bagee, becoming out af his
senses, with the intent of sell-destruction, he wonnded himself with his
sword and knife, giving his life to the owner of it.

After his death, great ease and happiness came to the people of Tatta,
and the eountry.

The nobles and chiefs chose placing themselves under the authority
of Meerza Janee Beg, in preference to any of the sons of Meeraa
Mahomed Bagee. He, by strength of his fortune, ascended the throne
in the early days of his manhood.

He distributed amongst the people like Abr-i-Naisan (vernal rain)
the gold and jewels which his ancestors had collected with so much
trouble,

All the people found much comiort under the shadow of his rule.
Those whose eyes during the reign of Meerza Mahomed Bagee had
not seen happy sleep, under his government slept in the swinging cradle
of ease. '

Ax Accovst of tue Mes or Lut'mwr; 15 ToE Times oF Meerza Eesa,
;. axp Merxrza Manowep Baces.

Meeruk Abdool Bagee and Meeruk Abdool Rahman were the two
sons of Shaikh Meeruk Pooranee. They were well versed in all know-
ledge ; their minds were quick and good; their means were much
limited, yet still they were so charitable that all the poor abont, and ull
travellers, recewed bread from them., Good dinner was cooked in their
Kkitehen ; bat tiers was one dish, called Mahichub, which they made &

m of sweet and sour, of such a Aavonr that no one else could

i, They ‘also made preserves, in_which they excelled. 1 mysell
bow 10 make themi from them. The elder Meeruk was well

. -
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versed in the theology of the east. The younger nnderstood all Kinds
of knowledge, particularly that of the human body, and astronomy.
They gained much wisdom from Moulans Abdool Kalig Geelanee,
when he visited Tatta, and some things which were beyond his compre-
hension they mastered. The younger Meernk made additions to the
Tahrir Ukledus (Euclid’s Elements), and he was a good poet.  The
death of Mgernk Abdool took plaee in 933 (a. p. 1575), and that of
Robman in 991 (a. p. 1583).

Ax Accoisr or Mivax Syup ALn

He was of the Syuds of Bhiraz, from whenee khls ancostors chme to
Hindoostan. He was very devonl, giving much away in the name of
God. Every year, in the beginning of Rubee-ool-Awul, for twelve
days, he cooked much food, which he gave to the Fakeers in the name
of Mahomed. He was in the habit of visiting and remaining at the

“tombs of the Mokullee saints, taking musicians and singers with him.

The Kazees (Judges), Mooftees (superior Law Officers), and Mohtusids
(Cenzors), were always dissuading him from this practice, but he did

not attend to them.

Ax AccousT oF Srrras Manourn Kuax, yROM THE BEGINNING OF HIS
Lirs to ms Deavi.

Sultan Mahomed Khan was the son of Meer Fazil, the son of Meer
Nadil Khwaja Ispabanee. His ancestors lived at Khwasgan, in the
Purguna of Ispaban. When Saheb Kiran Ameer Taimoor Goorgan
went to take the country of Imk, the Bulookats of Ispahan ceased
bending their heads under his orders, so he issned directions to loot

and seize them, and a strong force was sent for this purpose. In this =

expedition, Abmed Khwaja, the father of Nudil Khwaja, fell into the
hands of Meer Husun Busree, the father of Meer Zoonoon, who placed
him in his family, showing him great kindness. The family of Nadil
Khwaja goes back three generations to Mulik Mabomed Nandih, well
known at Ispahan for his eharity: from this he was ealled Nandib.
He counts back nineteen geaerations to Udes, the son of Hatim Taee.
Ahmed Khwajn had two sons, Adil Kbwaja and Agil Khwaja, The
first of these left a son and u daughter, Meer Fazil, and Sultan Bejuh.
Meer Fazil had five sons, Babe Ahmed, Sultan Mahomed Khan, Mecr
Abdool Futeh, fmeer Sultan, and Ameer Abdoolla. - AR of these were
by different mothers. The mother of Sultan Mahomed Khanswas of
the daughters of the Kashee Afghans of Shawnl und Pishing. Tn his
youth, when fonrteen years of lge, hflppﬂ-ml twnll to be good in
everything, sud he came nnder lh_ kindly eye of Shah Beg. When
18 ' -
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Shal Beg went against Baghbanan, Kuhan, Tuluhtee, and Tatta, he
was always in the front. On returning to Kandahar, Shah Beg wished
to leave some one at Bukkur. All his nobles refused to remain, when
Sultan Mahomed, thongh so young, velunteered to do so. For eleven
months, he took care of that fort with 70 men: there was suoch bravery
in his heart, that no fear of his enemies came upon him, and frequently,
taking a few men, hie sallied forth, ultm:kiv:g the Dharejas and Sodohs,
on all of which occasions he was victorions. When, in the year 927
{a. p. 1520-21), Shah Beg died, and Mcerza Shah Hoosain sat in his
place, Sultan Mahomed displayed great valour in the war against
Ameer Amranee, smiting with the sword in the presence of all, He alsa
showed gallantry towsrnds Ooch, at Dilawur, and Moolian.

In 940 (a.p. 1533), 1aking a large force ngainst the people of the fort of
Sathulmere, and having plundered it, and seized some of the people, he
retreated.  He remained one night on the road, when his enemies made
a night attack upon him, rescuing the prisoners.  Suoltan Mahomed was
awoke from his sleep by the noise, and rushed forth on foot, when, his
Pugree falling from his head, one end of it remained in his hand—ithe
other was seized by Jugmul, the Sirdar of the Sodahs. Sultan Mahomed
began twisting his Pugree round his head : when he came near the end
held by Jugmul, secing him armed, and having no weapon himself; he,
eaunght up a handiul vl sand, which he threw into Jugmul's face, who,
letting go the Pugree to rub his eyes, Sultan Mahomed escaped. Sultan S
Mahomed has himself told me, that at that time he fell in with one of 8
his men who carried horns, whom he ordered to sound his instrument;
when his sepoys collected about him, and Husun Ali Pooranee, dis-
mounting from his horse, Sultan Mahomed got on him, when he attack-
ed and slew anmbers of the Kafirs, recovering the prisoners, and all

~ the stolen property. He showed great bravery in Guzerat and Khan- ,
gur. In no battle was be ever known to be idle. When Hoomayoon
Badshah came to Sind, he displayed valour and skill in the defence of

~ the fort of Bukkur. He also distinguished himself in the action on the
hills near Rocee, with the hfng's troops, under Taimoor Sultan and
Shaikh Ali Beg; so much so, that he slew with his own hand the Jatter
‘chief. - .

‘When, in 950 (s. 0. 1543), Meerza Shah Hoosain appointed him to

the charge of Secbee, he took several lorts, which had been held by

_ Beloochees for, many years. He severely twisted the ears of those
~ vicious pﬂﬂ?lEﬁfﬁﬂﬂhim ﬁringing_thqm under subjectjon. :

~ In96L (a.p. 1553-54), when the Urghoons and Turkhans were opposed

~ to Shah in, he came fmm‘ﬂeﬂ&ﬂ with a large force, and by his

endeavours these were broaght back to"subjection. ,

n Shah Hoosain was seized with the palsy, becoming powerless

= o
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gides of the river. He wished o do ihl_l"nninbr heagardens, b
withdrew his hand from this on the representation of Syud Mex r Kulan,
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in his limbs and body, Sultan Mahomed made an agreement With
Meerza Eesa, by which discord was prevented. In Rubee-ool-Awnl
962 (a. p. 1554-55), after the death of Meerza Shah Hoosain, having
lamented for him according to custom, he took possession of Buk-
kur, and its country. This had been much destroyed by the violence
and oppression of the Beloochees, but very soon after his coming
there, by the arrangements he made, it became fruitful, and by these
arrangements the distarbers of the peace remained quiet during his
rule.

In the latter days of 963 (a. p. 1553-56) he seized Shah Abdool
Munallee, confining him in Bukkur for seven months. When the
prisoner came for his release, he gave him his liberty, sending him to
the king (Ukbar Shah) by Mooltan. In 964 (a. 0. 1556-57), Meerza
Fesa, at the instigation of the Urghoons, came against Bukkur with
a large army. For fifteen days he remained encamped opposite Miskeen
Turkhan’s terrace. There were two or three combats between the
parties in this space of time. The friends of Sultan Mahomed advised
him not to go forth from his fort to fight, saying that if he did so, many of
the Sirdars with him would go over to Meerza Eesa, and Mah Begum had
also written to him on this. Therefore he did not leave his fort. Such of
Meerza Eesa’s men who fell into his hands were slain, whilst the Meerza
saved and liberated those whom he took.  Afier their last engagement,
Meerza Eesa sent Meer Muksood as ambassador, to Sultan Mahomed,
writing aletter to his mother, saying: “Pell Sultan. ymed 1o meetme,
that enmity agninst him may leave my breast, and that I may depa
But Sultan Mahomed, being confident in his strength, wre ...
ceply. About that time, through the slander of Moola Makib, §
Mahomed Vukeel, Meer Lootiee, Durwesh Wﬂ&hﬁc
Ahmed Ghuznavee with his son, also Moola Moonshee, were ki
and at this game time, some Furinghees, whom Meerza Eesa had ¢
to hi= aid, arrived at Tatta on a Friday, when :Jlthepmpll-

to the Jamin Musjid, which [hanﬂnghm cnteabd thro
powder about in it and in Fhﬁ_m-w&iqh hey sot ondire, b
all those in the Musjid were destroyed, and m
burnt. They looted the whuluphm.ﬂ went away.
Eesa was much dejected at hearing of this, and returned. O
afier he had left, Sultan Mahofhed, having collécted men, fo

®

wont .

Whon Saltan Mahomed wag'returaing to-Bukkur, Shaikh

Abdool Wuhab Poorance aprived us ambassador |
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Finding Sultan Mabomed near Durbeluh, he strengthened the roos of
peace and friendship. Agreements were drawn up, to which the seals
of each being affixed, they were exchanged, sothat from that date there
should be no alterations made in this treaty.

In the latter days of that year (a.np. lﬁﬁti-ST], Khwaja Monzzam
was sent by the agent of Hirum Khan to Bukkur. In six montlis he
had leave 10 proceed to Guzerat. In that year Shah Mahomed Khan -
Kandaharee made Kandaharover to Sultan Hoosein Meerza, he himself
going to Hindoostan. In 965 (. v. 1557), Wulee Beg, the father of
Khan Jchan, eame to Bukkur, with whom Sultan Mahomed made
great friendship. In this year he married Gonhur Taj Khanum, the
danghter of Shah Boordee Beg. At this time be received a standard,
Nugarah, a waistcloth, &e. from king Tubmasp (of Trak), In 965
Moola Mohib went as his ambassador to the king, who, taking Qoch,
Jujhuhwahim, and Bhittee Wahun, from the Beloochees, gave them to
Sultan Mahomed.

A quarrel arose this year between him and Khan Nahur, abont rent
and taxes, soin 966 (a. ». 1553), Sultan Mahomed went 1o Seetpore
(near Oocch), besieging the fort for two months. Many of the enemy fell,
and all in the place beeame much distressed ; when Khan Nahur wos
induced to go on the walls with his sword suspended around his neck,
and to beg for pardon submissively. He paid down four lakhs of Tuh-
i-Larees. Pesce being made, Sultan Mahomed returned to Bukkur.

In the Intter days of that year, having suspicions of his brother Ameer
Sultan, he sent him to Hindoostan, where he was [ollowed without
leave by his relative Meer Abool Khair. This vear he heard that
Hirum Khan intended to go 1o Mecea by Bukkur, therefore he deétroyed
the Char Bagh at Baburloe, thinking “ that on account of the hnpp:m-

~ Hoomayoon Badshah enjoyed there he remained so long, that grain
~ became so searce that pearls were given for jowaree ; numbers had

perished from hunger, and with affairs in this state, his heart had still
no disposition to Jeave the place. God forbid that this place should so
please Hirom Khan that he shonld remain in this manner!” Hiram

Khan, hearing of what had taken place, went to Mecea pid Puttun, In

968 (a. 0. 1560), Meerza Mahomed Bagee Turkhan, being displeased

with his father, came to Bukkur, when Sulitan Mahomed received him
~ kindly, giving a good place to him to reSide in.

In 969 (a. v, 1561), Huk Boordee Eug came to Bukkur as ambassador:
~ from Shah Tnbmnsp, bringifig o rnhjr ring, a erown, a waistcloth covered
j;&_h jmef;, a lﬂ:uiut, a bow, n Za.ighuh, and a sword, with many other
‘things. Sultan Mahomed Khan went in front to meet him, showing him

. He kept him one year; tife next lie sent him to Iruk, with
arim ﬁlwaiﬁi. Shah Tuhmasp again sent them back

1 N
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to him, with other presents, giving him (Suitan Mahomed) the title of
Khan Khan,

In 970 (a. v. 1562), Meerza Mahomed Saleh, the son of Meerza Eesa,
was killed by a Belooch; therefore Sultan Mahomed sent confidentinl
men to sympathize with Meerza Eesa. Throngh these he asked for
pardon for Meerza Mahomed Bagee, which Meerza Eesa granted, and
he sent men of trust to Sultan Mahomed, who allowed Meerza
Mahomed Bagee to return with those, giving him rich presents.

In 973 (a. 0. 1563), the Urghoons were at enmity with Meerza Eesa.
They remained in this siate for one month, when it was armuged to
setile some Pargunas upon them for their subsistence. As they were
crossing the river, Mecegza Mahomed Bagee fired upon them, by which
many were slain ; the rest, being exiles, went to Bukkur, when Saltan
Mahomed confined them, but at the intercession of his mother lie
afterwards released them, giving them horses, and other presents, At
their instigation, he sent them with a force against Sehwistan, to which
they lnid siege, when Meerza Eesa, coming with many troops, raised
the siege. There was a battle between the parties at Rufyan, in which'
Sultan Mahomed's forces were defeated with great loss. Meerza Eesa,
expecting more fighting, entrenched himself at Durbeluh.  After this,
b letters passed between him and Sultan Mahomed, peace was made

between them, and Meerza Eesa returned to Tattn.

I have previously given an account of Meerza Eesa’s death, and of
the succession to the throne of Meerza Mahomed Bagee. I have also
related, that Mah Begum was taken by Mahomed Babur Badshah from
Kandahar to Kabool, where she had a danghter called Naheed Begum,
whom she left at Kabool when she escaped to Kandahar. -

- When Julal-ood-deen Ukbar Badshah Gasee had taken the whale

" country of Hindoostan, Naheed Begum proposed going to Tatta 1o her (- a
mother; so, obtaining the king's permission, she went there with her
daughter. She met her mother there, and she married her danghiter 1o
Meerza Mahomed Bagee. She was killed in the night attack made by
Meerza Jan Baba, the brother of her husband. iy

‘Mefrza Mahomed Bagee sent his daughter to the king with Naheed
Begum, but at that time the Urghoons were rebellious, and these met
her on the road, and; taking her with them, they went to Tatta, where*
they fought with Mahomed Bagee, and being defeated by him, they
went to Bukkur. Meerza Mahomed Bggee then seized gnd placed in
confinement Mah Begum, giving her nothing 1o eat or dsnk ; so much
so, that on this account she died. =

- " Saltan Mahomed Khan said to Naheed Begum: “If you will get a
¥ Firman frnm the king, T will go add take revenze for you against Meeran
- ‘Mahomed Bagee.” Therefore, on her return, she related to Ukbar Shah

: : PR
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all these circumstances. The king wrote a Firman to Sultan Muahomed,
with which Naheed Begum went back towards Bukkur. She did not
ask the king for any troops, trusting entirely to what Sultan Mahomed
Khan had said: but at her request, the king sent her husband Mohib
Ali Khan, and Maojahid Khan with her, having given to them in Jageer
Fuotehpoor and Goolirore in Mooltan.

Snltan Mahomed having suspicions agninst the Urghoons, turned
them out of Bukkur, sending them to Hindoostan. These met Naheed
Begum, and her friends, who took them into service.  Sullan Mahomed,
hearing of this, became much incensed., He was in this angry mood
when letters eame to him from Naheed Begum, and her companions, to
this effect: % Weare coming, having confidence in you.” Sultan
Mahomed replied to this in harsh, angry tevms ; atwhich Naheed Begum,
Mohib Ali, and Mojahid Khan fell into much astonishment, saying to
each other: “Tt is wonderful ! On what he said we have come, without
bringing with us any of the royal troops;and here he is opposed
against us.” Calling their attendants, and the Urghoons, they consulted
with them as to the course to be pursned: these said it was better now
to go to Goohrore, and to send a petition to the king, asking his assist-
ance. Kuluch Khan Oozbuk, who had lately eame from the north, and
joined them, was present at this conncil.  His opinion was asked, when
he replied : “I am a traveller ; whatever yon decide upon doing, I nm
willing to agree to it.”  They asked him a second time, when he said ¢
“ I am n sepoy; give me some men, and I will go in advance, and have :
one fight with Sultan Mahomed Kbao : if I am slain, do you retreal sl
I am vietorious, that which you desire will be in your hands.” Mojahid
Khan, being a brave man, approved of what be said, declaring thatit. =
was very proper; that he had spoken like a sepoy ; that in his heart he =
himself had held that opinion, and that he was now ready to advanee. 3
In short, 30 men had offered to proceed in advance, the remaining 200
were 1o follow in a body. They then left Oobawrah, marching towneds
Matheluh. On hearing of this;, the 2,000 men who were then under
Moobaruk Khan, a slave of Snltan Mahomed, went forth from the fﬂ!‘r -
prepared for battle, Mojahid Khan and Kalueh Khan, with their 30 :
 men, meetinghese, fell upon them with such vigour, that God gave them
~ "the vietory before their main body had arrived. Moobaruk Khan with.
 his troops, running away, got into the fort. . -
REE - In many places, by God's gssistance, small numbers of men

.ﬁ@;lgmmguﬁ aumbers I ; 34
© Moobaruk Khan remained in his fort; making a petition to Sultan a
med, relating all that had occurred. So he sent Zain-ool-na-bideen

with two or three’thonsand hose, 10 assist the Matheluh people.

e arived:at Liunjaree, 13 kos. (rom Bukkur, the. news of hit

T
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coming reached Mojuhid Khan, who sent Meer Abool Khair, who was
related to Sultan Malibmed Khan, and who had first lately joined them
from Mooltan, with 150 horse, to ight Zain-ool-na-bideen, who heard of
his approach as he was preparing to leave Lunjaree; so, quitting his
baggage there, he advanced one or two kos to give him battle. They met,
but hi= men did not fight properly, and turned their faces in the
direction of flight. Their leader stood alone, with o few men : amongst
these there was one named Haidur Beg, a relative of Saltan Mahomed,
who fell there, after having greatly distingnished himsell. Zain-ool-
na-bideen, finding that all the Juwangurs, the Burangurs, and Moguls,
had fled, retreated to Lunjaree. Mojahid Khan’s men, having gained
the victory, sent him news of their suceess; and hearing of this, the men -
of Matheluh lost all heart, and on the 1st Sufur, 980 (. p. 1572), Mooba- #
rmk Khan asked for quarter, nnd evacuated the fort, which was entered
by Mojahid Khan, who took possession of all that distriet. Gale

On the 20th of that month, Moosnid Wulee Juatmad Khan, who had
been sent by Malomed Ukbar Shah to bring him the daughter of Sultan
Mahomed, arrived at Bukkur, bringing a. Khilat befitting a king, o
waisteloth, and sword set with precious stones, a horse with eapari-
sons, and four elephants, as a present from Ukbar Shah for Sultan
Mahomed Khan; who in return prepared many valuable things fit for
the king as his daughter's dowry, soch as handsome robes of silk,
varions kinds of jewels, gold articles; and with much pleasure he
spread ont the cloth for a festival, to which he invited every one,
expending much money in different things for eating and drinking.
The cloth was spread twice s day for fifteen days; 500 animuls were
cooked daily in the kitchen daring that period. At the party, on the
day of the wedding, many Soduots, men of learning, priests, and unhlu,_ o’
were present, to all of whom Sultun Mahomed made presents sccording =
10 their degree. To Juatmad Khan he gave 30,000 rupecs, and many
other things ass prescat. On the 15th Rujub, he sent his danghter to the
king by the way of Jaisnlmere, accompaniod by Zain-ogl-na-bidoen,
Nourox Khan, and many other confidential men. : ¥ Qo

At that time Ukbar Shah was hunting in the comntry of Nagore,
having sent Meer Mahomed Khan Utkoh against Sirose, when the

* pews arrived that a Rajpoot, disguised as an ambassador, had wounded =

Mahomed Khan with a knife. Hearing of this, the king quiekly tarned
the bridle of his intentions there, uﬂ fram t!tnm he weng to Guzernt.

Sultan Mahomed Khan, after sending away his dapShieg, placing
great. eonfidence in Moobaruk Khan, who held in his band= all the
affairs of the country, gave him 1,500 well armed horsemen, with
whom he sent him to Alore, thinkIng that, by his being there, the faces
of his enemies might be tumed away. But it wgs the will of God 10



i*fi‘w'fﬁt"'m seize and place in the Harem, Saltap Makomed, and then 1o take the.
 government of the country into liis own hands. He approved of this, =
* and in the meming, with Nugarahs beating, he arrived at Roree, and

i oo
: :Il‘::

‘sun of the government of the world is like ice, which melts with a

__buﬂi; discovering which, he had left Bukkur; and adding, that it was e
now necessiary to have acare for themselves. Moobaruk Khan in;uuﬂﬁle'-&
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eanse the full of the mansion of Sultan Mahomed Khan's aunthority ;
therefore that force joined his en¢mies, and became opposed to him,

As Accovst or Tae Dissexnsions 1x mux GoveErxMEST, AND oF Tig Deatit
or SuLtax Manonep.

Living in this world is like the sun; the evening comes upon it. The

little heat. When it is the will of God to destroy the government af A
any ruler, he is not able to retain it with many sepoys. When itis the .
intention of God to disperse the force of any king, it is not to be colleet-
ed again by the councils of learned men. #When the will of God
wishes to min the property of any one, wisdom and deliberation are
of no avail I”

When the fate of God was prepared to destroy the house of wealth,
and the existence of Sultan Mahomed Khan, he was unable to putit = =
off with nombers of sepoys, and much counsel. e |

After Sultan Mahomed had sent his danghter to the king in charge
of Zain-ool-na-bideen, and Nouroz Khan, the chief Sirdars in his =
country, he placed all the affairs of state in the hands of Moobarnk
Khun, and his son Beg Oghlee, Moobaruk Khan's wife, who was o
good, clever woman, had gone with the bride. Beg Oghlee was always
drinking wine, associating with drunkards. - These used to say to bim;
% Sultan Mahomed is old : after his death yon will be the ruler of the:
country.” Beg Oghlee, becoming faithless, proposed in his heart the
death of his chief, and bhe got many of his servants to come over 10
his side. After a time this got abroad, when a Tumachee, a Hindoo
servant of Sultan Mahomed, told him of what was going on. By chance
Beg Oghlee heard of this; so at the time of evening prayers he conveyed
his wife and sister out of the fort by the Khwaja Khizur gate, which
was under hischarge, and travelling in the night, he joined Moobaruk
Khan at Alore, telling him that Suitan Mahomed proposed killing them . 4

going to Nagore, and from thenee to join the Badshah; buot some mefi.
persnaded  hifa to mount and go to Bukkur, and all being on his side,

-

ned ushis"toops opposite Bukku o
an Mahomed Kban jwrote & Purwana to him, saying: “1
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wrote a harsh reply.  After this, some of Sultan Mahomed's servanis,
who were with Beg Oghlee, leaving him, went across the water to the
fortress, and he, being himself confounded, determined to go to Guzerar.
He went to Alore, accompanied by some sepoys. On the 22nd Rujub,
930 (a. p. 1572), he joined Mohib Ali with some men, telling them of
the enmity of Sultan Mahomed, and making friends with them. The
following morning Mojahid Khan marched to Roree, when Moobaruk
Khan came in advance to meet him, His troops after this encamped at
Roree. Sultan Mahomed, hearing this, bit the back of his hand with his
teeth: he called all his troups into the fort, which became filled with
men. At that time Nuwab Suneed Khan, coming with speed, arrived
at the distance of a cannon-=hot above and from Roree. The Urghoons,
holding their hearts {ull of the blood of enmity against Moobaruk Khan
and his sop, said to Mohib Ali and his companions: “Snneed Khan has
come at the call of Moobarnk Khan, who this very night will leave youn,

and join him, when your affairs will not come to pass.™ Mohib Ali at

once seized and confined the two, plundering their property. At this
time Khwaja Munaj’s son fled from Roree, going to Mukhsoos Khan, o
they confined him (Munaj). Suneed Khan looted Kundrub. Saltan
Mahomed wrote to him, usking—* What is the reason of your coming
here 77  He made some exeuse, and went towards Mooltan. Mojahid
Khan made great preparations to war against Sultan Mahomed, who
sent forth his nephéw Mahomed Koolee Beg. By chance, as the battle
was taging, a fire-ball thrown by the enemy fell into his magnzine, by
which he and numbers of his men were blown up, and his troops mel
with & wonderful defeat. Some time after this, Mojahid Khan, with some
troops, crossed the river at Pulnwaree, 5 kos from Bukkur. He arrived
ut Sokkur. Having made a bridge ncross the river, all the army came
to Sokkur. Some Toorks, with Mahomed Ruheem (anambassador sent

10 Sultan Mahomed by Sultan Hoosain Meerza Kandaharee) went forth

to fight." Sultan Mahomed was in the bastion, called Boorj; Saltan
Ameer on the eastern side. Some of his troops also went to fight.
They did so bravely, but there was no Sirdar at their head, fprtune was
not with Saltan Mubomed, and they were driven back with heavy

loss,

Seeing this, Sultan Mabomed closed the gates, and” wounld not
permit his men to go outside to fight again : he prepared everything for
war in the fort. _

disease attackeds hissmen; many wer® prostrated,

Afier a long time,
numbers died ; 10 those who were much afflicted he gav2 leaw=1to quit
the place, wishing their recovery. Prowisions in Rukknr became =0
searce, that one seer of meat fetched 2 mpees, a seer of ghee the came,
and a seer of fish 50 Tungubs. :

9 -
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Muvobaruk Khan, his son, and Khwaja Munraj, the cause of this
discord, were killed by Mohib Ali's men.

When Sualtan Mahomed Khan's people arrived at Ajmere, finding the
king there, they delivered to him the presents and Harem. Ukbar Shah
was much pleased, approving of the offerings. He wrote a Firman,
appointing him the Wabee of Bukkur, sending it by Meer Haig
Tumaechee; but Mohib Ali and Mojahid Khan did not listen to this
Firman.

In the beginning of Rujub 950 (a. p.1572), Sultan Mahomed became
dropsical : he had taken mueh medicine, but all withont avail ; so,
helpless, he turned his heart in the direction of death, writing a petition
to the king, requesting him to send an agent, to whom he might deliver
over charge of the fort,

When the greatest distress came upon him and the garrison, Meer
Abool Khair, whose sister was married to Sultan Mahomed, with 30
horsemen, went by the way of Seetpore to Gunjabah, where he collected
many men, and materials for war. On his getting there, Mojahid Khan
became fall of anxiety, and deeming it best to go aguninst him, before
taking Bukknr, leaving Mohib Ali there, he marched against him. At
that time the mother of Mojahid Khan, Said Begum, committed great
atrocities, ripping open the stomachs of the sick who came from Bukkur,
and filling them with chaff. The garrison, seeing 1|:u-5, strengthened
their hearts to remain and die where they were.

& Sultan Mahomed’s disease had been of long standing, when his doctors
advised him to drink the wine of grapes: he called the Soduts, and the
men of learning, to whom he snid: “ For forty years I have forsworn
wine; now it is preferable, in my opinion, to keep it at a distance.” In
short, he did not partake of wine. His hands and feet became swelled;

"= this reached his heart, and at midnight of Saturday the Sth Sufar, 952
(s . 1574), his life went from this perishable world 1o the world
eternal,

On hearing of this, Mohib Ali, with many boats, surrounded Bokkur;
but the garrison drove them away.

The nobles, the Soduats, the men of learning, the priests, and =ll the
men of conseguence in Bukknr, took oath that they wonld not give it

— up to Mohib Ali, but that they wonld deliver it over to any one sent to
receive charge of it by the king. All baving agreed to this, they issued
- pay to the l'mpu from the treasury, taking great care of the fort ; so much
- so, thaton Mgpday the 12th Jufaadee-col-Awnl, 952 (a. 0. 1574), Keshoo
Ehnn approachfd from the Badshah. When be was 10 kos from Bukkur,

- Mohib Ali sent a boat across t bring him to him, instead of his going

[on, that, aflier an interview, matters mlght be settled ; but
Kh m:hmw the Sirdars in Bukkur, who sent a force ID
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escort him, and, as they did so, they had fighting with Mohib Ali's
men

After Keshoo Khan's arrival in the fort, day by day happiness increased
in the faces of all there.

Mojahid Khan took the fort of Gunjabah, and made peace with Meer
Abool Khair, whom he alterwards killed. Hearing of the arrival of
Keshoo Khan, he quickly turned the bridle of his intentions from
Gunjabah.

A continuation of the cireumstances I write in the IV. Chapter.

A smort Descairrion or Svuraxy Manossn.

Sultan Mahomed Khan was a ruler with many excellent qualities.
He was very brave, and very charitable. From the days of his youth,
until his death, he lived in plenty; but his temper was so passionate,
that when he became angry he conld not control himself. He shed
blood without eare. If he ever suspected any one of evil, he wonld
ruin his family., He himself would commit violence, but in his conntry
no one else conld do so. The sepoys and Ryuts were happy under

“him. During his life he read the Koran entire 1,001 times.

He took great trouble in building and laying out in proper form the
town of Bukkur. He was born in 895 (a. p. 1492), living eighty-four
years. His strength was such, that many times, at the order of Meerza
Shah Hoosain, he put irons on his legs, and with these on, threw him-
self from the bastion of Meerza Shah Hoosain's receiving-room, into
the waters below, where there was a very deep dangerous whirlpool,
from whence he wounld come out near the rocks with the irons broken.
Many people have witnessed this—they looked upon it as a sight.

Exp or Crarran 111
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CHAPTER 1V.

AN ACCOUNT OF SIND COMING INTO THE HANDS OF THE
AGENTS OF JULAL-OOD-DEEN UKBAR SHAH.

I- have before said that Keshoo Khan came to Bukkur in Jumadee-
ool-Awul 952 (a. . 1574). He brought a Firman to this effect:—
¢ Divide Bukkur equally between Mohib Ali Khan and Mojahid Khan;
then you are 1o go to Tatta, and seize Meerza Mahomed Bagee.” At
this time Mojahid Khan was at Gunjabah. Hearing of the arrival of
Keshoo Khan, he quickly went towards Bukkur, but before his arrival
Keshoo Khan had determined to turn his friends ont of Sukkur. Mojahid
Khan's men said they would not leave before hiz return, but Keshoo
Kban did not approve of this, and sending some of his men there, they
quarrelled with those of Mojahid Khan, near a wall which he had built,
when several were killed and wounded on both sides. Three days
after this affray, Mojahid Kban came, and taking his men to Roree,
Keshoo Khan occupied Sukkur, and the neighbouring country. Mohib
Ali and Mojahid Khan held Roree and Tiggur, but their men were heart-
broken. About that time, some of the Urghoons, deserting them, came
to Bukkur, when they were put to death by Keshoo Khan, through the
backbiting of Shah Baba, the son of Meerza Jan Baba Turkhan. Keshoo [
Khan had o bad disposition: one day a Tumachee, who was incon-
siderate in the assembly, he put in irons. T'wo months after his return,
Mojahid Khan went against Tatta, leaving the families at Roree with

«Mohib Ali.

At the instigation of the men of Bnkkur, Keshoo Khan determined to
send a force against Roree.  On Friday the 3rd Ramzan, 962 (a. D-
1554), he divided his army into two divisions: one of them he sent
down towards the gardens below Roree, the other he directed across
-above by the shrine of Khwaja Khiznr. Mohib Ali's men, monrting,
went towards the Eedgah. Keshoo Khan's men set on fire Mojahid

Khan's boats, seeing which, Mohib Ali Khan's troops returned in the
direction of the ground they had left. Jet this time, the division which
had gone below Roree came in front of these, and commenced throwing
fire-balls, by which the town wiis fired in several directions. Mobib
Ali Khan, Ten nfounting his horse, pursued the road of flight. The
of Bukkur, having surrounded Roree, plundered it till near sunset,

suring the standard and.Nugarah of Mohib Ali Khan. !

‘When Mojahid m:_ heard of this, he quickly returned with much
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dejection, and for fear of the king he did not attempt to molest Keshoo
Khan, who sat in his government, conducting himsell improperly.

When Ukbar Shah heard of what Keshoo Khan had done, he gave

Bukkur in Jageer to Nuwab Tursoon Mahomed Saif-ool-Moolk, some
of whose Sirdars came to Roree in Mohurrmm 983 (a. p. 1575). They
sent a copy of the royal Firman to Keshoo Khan, who in the first instance
put these off, but many people coming between, he sent some of the
priests with them to these chiefs, 1o give them advice. The Sirdars,
requesting them to sit down, said: “ For the sake of God, write and
acquaint the king of our condition.” The priests replied that they
could not do so, unless Keshoo Khan was present. The Sirdars said :
uKeshoo Khan's Vuokeels are present; write the truth before them: we
do not ask yon to do more.” Upon this, they began to write. Keshoo
Khan, hearing of this, became alarmed, seeing that his affairs would be
ruined ; therefore he sent word that he was willing to give up the fort,
and there was po necessity for writing to the king. The chiefs sent
back word to him, that the letter for the Badshah was written, and that

the seals of the priests would be affixed, and that it would be despatch-

ed, if he did not at once deliver up the fort. Keshoo Khan, being
helpless, these Sirdars entered the fortress.

Keshoo Khan had received the royal order to take an acconnt of the
property of Sultan Mahomed in company with these Sirdars, and the
chief priests, whose seals were to be affixed to the account. This was
done. 'Agreeably to the orders of the king, the family of Sultan

Manhomed Khan prepared to leave Bukkur. His senior wife, the sister -

of Khan Jehan, went to Lahore, as directed. Certain confidential
servants of Ukbar Shah came for the rest of his family, and for the
treasure, They intended leaving on the 1st Rujub, 983 (a. ». 1575),
and 10 go by the way of Nagore.

When Nuwab Tuarsoon was preparing to start for Bukknr, having
taken his leave, some of the nobles said it was not proper to place the
family of Saif-ool-Moolk on the borders of the country. . The king,
agreeing to this, removed him from Bukkur, making him the Governor
of Agra. A royal order was sent to Bunwaleedas, directing him to
superintend Bukkur, and to make arrangements for the coyntry. After
this, to increase his confidence, Ukbar Shab sent Meer Syud Mahomed
Uadul to govern Bukkur. He a'so made him chief of the priests there,
becanse he was a Synd, and a man of learning.

He arived on the 11th Ramzan, “wheii he~was recefved with much
distination by the priests, and every one else. He gavp,S Beegas
of land to the Syuds, the men of learning, and the pries®y for their
subsisience : these were very happy during his time. He marched a
force 10 Seebee. Y

*
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The Mungnejuhs of Gagree becoming rebellious, opposed his men,
for he oppressed the Ryuts more than usual, appraising with the Kun-
koot (the rope measure) the good and the bad land equally, making the
Ryut pay five maunds of grain for each Beega alike. The overseers or
watchmen conducted themselves harshly, with a tight hand towards the
cultivators. Meer Uaduol’s men got into o small fort between Gunbut
and Vejuran, where the Mungnejuhs, without respect, shot arrows at
them, killing several. [In this fort there was one well, into which they
cast the dead bodies of both Musulmans and Kafirs. They then filled
it up with earth.

Meer Uadul, hearing of this, was much enraged ; and calling his
troops from Seebee, he sent them to take revenge on the menof Gagree,
who fled, leaving their country before they had received much punish-
ment. Synd Meer Uadul's son, 8ynd Abdool Faznl, who commanded
the troops, followed them some way, and then came baek to Bukkur.
Shortly after this, Meer Uadul was bled in the arm. Much blood
flowed from the wound : he was in a bad state of body, and on the Sth
Shaban, 954 (a. p. 1576), he died.

Affi-.r his death, the king appointed his son, Abdool Fazul, to I]m
government of Bukkur, who the following year seized and confined the
chief men of Gagree, destroying one or two of them, by having them
trampled under elephants. On the 2nd Zilkad, 985 (a. v. 1577),
Tuatamad Khan,a ennuch, and a confidential servant of the king, came to
govern Buokkur. He was of bad disposition; he did not take proper
eare of the sepoys, Ryuts, and men of consequence. Many of the priests,
being displeased with him, were going to the Badshah. He sent people
to persuade them not to go, but these were not listened to, and proceed-
ing, the holy men arrived before and made their complaints to the king.

~ Ukbar Shah said, that if Tutumad Khan had behaved as represented he
will be killed ; and so it was. In this manner Tutomad Khan was
always in the habit of jesting and talking lightly, speaking with levity §§
before men of consequence. His conduct towards the sepoys was
improper, a-few of whom, collecting on the 10th Rubee-ool-Awul, 9506
T (a- . 1578), in the reception-room, killed him there.
After the death of Tutumad Khan, the king gave Bukkur in .In.gﬂ.'r
= botween Futeh Khan Mohawnt and Raja Pormanund. These, arriving
in Rujub, each took possession of his share of the country.

Two years afterwards, Purmanund, being appointed to the p-lm
guard, he wept to the kins. The Bhnrejau-, quarrelling with the brother
of Pnrmunmulﬁihﬂhudns assembled in the fort of Alore, prepared for
‘war. Thet were two or three engagements between these parties, in
whieh many of both sides were slain. Many unruly men then joined
the Dharejas; thm:-:_re Futeh Khun sent his men 1o disperse them,

~
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which they did. During that year, Fuieh Khan visited the Badshah,
who received him with great honour, promoting him in his degree, and
he assigned the whole of Bukkur to him. Futeh Khan was a man
of simple habits, fond of money, giving thanks with the tongue alone.
His conduct towards the people was good, giving food to those entitled
to receive it. He had a Vukeel named Shohab Khan, a Zemindar of
Sumanah, a man gwithont experience, new to business. At the
instigation of one Fureed, he took a force against the fort of Kum,
which was in the hands of Ibrahim Khan (Khan Nahur). A severs
battle was fought there, in which many of Futeh Kban's men were
killed. Amongst these were Shuhab Khanund, and his brethren.

On this news reaching the king, he deprived Futeh Khan of Bukkur,
giving it to Nuwab Mahomed Sadik Khan, who received orders to take
Tatta. He arrived at Bukkur on Tuesday the 12th Rubee-ool-Awul,
994 (. p. 1585-86), when the priests and men of influence went out in
front to meet him, whom he received with mueh honour,

He remained some time, putting the affairs of Bukkur in order, and
in Zilhuj he marched against Sehwistan. Previous to this, there had been
several encounters between his men and those of Meerza Jance Beg, in
which many of the latter were slain, and taken prisoners ; the breeze of
victory in all these affairs striking the standard of Sadik Khan.

When Sobhan Koolee Urghoon heard of Sadik Khan's coming, he
collected materinls for war, in a fort on the bank of the river. underneath
which he assembled many boats, large and small. Badik Khan's force
arriving near this, the enemy, getting into their boats, went to fight
him, when they met with defeat, and Sobhan Khan was captured alive.
Sadik Khan was much pleased at this vietory. He then besieged
Sehwistan., Some time passed in this way, when his men, baving sunk
a large mine, blew up a gateway, and the curtain before it. Sadika =~
had directed that none of his men were to enter the fort without his
orders, when the dust and smoke had subsided. The garrison instantly
threw up another defence, and began firing cannon and guns. Those
men who had been blown up from the roof of the gateway, and the
wallsaby the force of the gnnpowders, fell.to the ground entire, withoute
hurt.

At that time Meerza Janee Beg, bringing a large force by land, ande.
the river, arrived at Muhran, 6 ~kos from Sehwan.

Sadik Khan, raising the siege, went to fight him. On arriving
parallel with the Lukhee hills, the boits of Meerza Jgfiee Beg came
opposite to, and opened with cannon aguinst him. Thex fofght equally
for some days, when the Badshab’s Fieman arrived, say®g: « Meerza
Janee Beg has sent many pregents: with his tongue he fpeaks <ob.
missively, and ina friendly tone. It is P’I'HP'-‘: for Mahowed Sadik
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Khan to retarn to Bukkur.” Sadik Kbhan then retreated to Bukkar, and
some time afierwards he went to the king. One year after his departure
this Jageer was taken from him. During the two Kureefs, when Sadik
Khan held Bukkur, the locusts came, devouring the whole of the crops;
so much so, that he got nothing. Severe famine fell npon the conntry;
the people leaving their houses, dispersed, and the Samejahs and the
Beloochees looted both sides of the river, leaving ngthing.

In Rubee-oos-Sanee, 996 (. p. 1587-88), Nuwab Ismael Koolee
Khan received the Jageer of Bukkur, and his son Ruman Koolee
Beg arrived there. He was a man of great wealth; his behaviour was
good ; he gave food 1o those who were entitled to receive it, showing
much kindness to the country-people; so much so, that through his
exertions and management the face of cultivation again appeared.

When Ismael Khan left Mooltan, going to the king, Bokkur was
tnken from him, and assigned to Sheroyuh Sultan, who came there in
Mohurram 997 (a. p. 1588). He was always drinking wine, giving
himself up to ease and pleasures, leaving the country in the hands of
his slaves, sitting in the Audience Hall bat seldom ; the food and sab-
sistence hitherto given to the Fakeers and Soduts was stopped. He
once sent his son Mahomed Hoosain to Seebee, where the Afaghinuhs
opposed him. He was in advance with the Boordee Beloochees, who
ran away at the first encounter, when the Afaghinuhs, without thounght,
fell upon the Moguls, who, being routed, fled. Numbers of them were
killed and taken prisoners ; many died from thirstin the mirage, and
those who escaped were a long time recovering from the effects of the
heat they had experienced.

Sheroyuh - Saltan, having attained the height of his oppression, God
listened to- the complaints of the poor people, and they escaped from

- _his wickedness, becoming happy, for Mahomed Sadik Khan again
received that country.

On the 12th Rubee-ool-Awnl, 993 (a. p. 1589), his son Meerza
Mahomed Zahid arrived. He showed much kindness to the Ryuts, the
Soduts, and all, placing ointment on the wounds of those who had been
~ppressed. He was of a very happy disposition, frequently sittingwith
men of learning, and giving according to the Snnuds of Mahomed

Sadik. He turned the hands of violence from the heads of those whom
they oppressed. . " :

Khwaja Mahomed Munsoom was Mahomed Sadik’s Vakeel. His
conduct was gdd ; he was capalrie obmannging great and small affairs.
The Bukk=T perple, being happy, began culfivating, but from the
displeasure ofeaven, the Rubee-crop of that year was destroyed ; every
Ihﬂ“m scarce, and Mahomed Sadik Khan made no collections.

The pheenix of the government of the Badshali threw its fixed shadow
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- over Lahore. Meerza Jance Beg then began to follow the example of
. Meerza SBhah Hoosain, not placing his neck under the rope of obe-
dience, but boasting of independence. Hearing of this, the perspiration
of jealousy burst forth on the body of the king. He determined to
take Tatta, and to arrange matters with the Beloochees throngh Nuwab
Khan Khanan. At that time I (the historian) went from Guzeral to the
presence of the king. By good chance my mother had sent some
curiosities, which I laid before him. With much kindness and great
condescension, he asked me how long 1 had been absent from my
mother. I replied twenty years; the king then told me to go and visit
my mother, and then to return to him. An order was given to the
minister of finance to write me a Jageer as pay. At that time Sadik
Khan, with great kindness, remarked, that if the Jageer was named in
Bukkur, it would be preferable, as I was going there. The king said
that all Bukkur had been assigned to Khan Khanan, who being there,
said : « If the king pleases to give him o Jageer in Bukkur, I shall be
happy to point one out to him, but I =hnll be in hope of receiving
another from the Badshah in exchange.” The order was issued at ones
to give me a Jageer in Bukknr. The financial minister, by direction,
settled upon me in Jageer, Durbelub, Gagree, and Chandooka. On
this being arranged, the king gave me a boat for my conveyance, and
one of his own Posteens. He allowed me to depart, repenting this
single line of a verse—¢ To sit down and travel thus is very good.”

I arrived at Bukkur on the 14th S8afur, 999 (a. 0. 1590). The Nawab
Khan Khanan also arrived there at thattime. The winds were hot, and
the river was tising. The Nuwab remained there some time. 1

W hen the star Canopus appeared, he sent me with others 1o Schwistan ;
hi himself overtook us there. He gave me an andience. The men of
Sehwan had strengthened this fort.  The Nuwab held conneil with his < ~
nobles as to what was best to be dene—whether it was preferable to go
@ atonce against Meerza Janee Beg's head at Tatta, or to take this fort Brst.

It was the opinion of nll, that as Sehwan was on the line of road by
which our boats and forces came, it was desirable in the. first place 1o
take it - - - i

This having been agreed upon, the water was md_: and batteries
were distributed. to the several Sirdare, encircling the place. News _
then arrived, tha®Janece Beg bad left Tatta, and that he was coming to
fight: npon this, the siege was raised, and we went fo meet him.
Hearing of this, he built a strong ~fort “at the village of'Roree, on the
bank of the river above Nusurpoor. b

On Khan Khanan%rriving at 6 kos from this, Jm%m against
him 200 large boats, with many small ones, :ﬂlldl!'r Khosrowh Khun, and
otheg chiefs. - He gave directions to his forces to attack Khan Khanan
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from two directions, Hearing of the approach of the enemy, we
advanced a short distance to the bank of the river, where Khan Khanan
threw up batteries of earth, on which to place his eannon, covering 5 or
6 Jureebs. This temporary fort was in this way: it commanded a
part of the river where, from the formation of a large sandbank, all boats
were obliged to come closer toit. At midday the boats arrived, and
perceiving the sandbank on one side, and our works on the other, they
stopped, and the battle began on both sides.

The following night Khan Khanan sent some troops over to the sand-
bank opposite. Dnring this night Janee Beg’s forces attacked ounr -
position, but it was strong, and they conld do nothing.

The next morning, the boats turmed ngainst the force on the sandbank.
Our cannon opened opon them, It the balls going over, fell amongst
our friends, killing =ome of them. After this, the muzzles were
depressed ; s0 munech so, that the shots falling into the water onthis side;
rose, and then passed through eight or nine of these vessels, killing many
men. Butthey had carpenters in every boat, who repaired the damages.
In this manner the fight was carried on that day—on one side was the
fort, on the other the sandbank. The enemy, being helpless, remained
stationary between. Many were killed by our cannon.

Seeing that their boats could not advance, and that numbers were
slain, they turned their faces in the direction of flight, and our boats
went in pursnit of them. Khosrow Khan, ordering all his boats to
proceed, he himself remained in the rear; but some of their vessels
having ‘on board sepoys and some Furinghees, fell into the hands of
Khan Khanan, The king's boats came up with Khosrow Khan, when
by acecident fire fell into the royal magnzine, by which many men were
destroyed, and on this account he and others escaped, but the hand of
- . vietory remained with the king.

The following day we marched against the fort in which Janee
Beg had taken refuge, surrounding it; but around this there were
isolated hills, on which account it appeared a difficult matter to take
it. Much time had thus been spent, and the Killa was not won. The

m Ameers, seeing this, that nothing was done, made a simultaneous,attack
upon it ; ‘but because of its strength, this attack was of no avail. Khan
_Khanan then {etermined to take possession of the country of Tatta: he
said that he himself would hold Sehvwan, Tatta, Bicen, and Futeh
Bagh, and he directed Shah Beg Khan to go to Shahghur, which was
bailt by Ehnhﬂliuum Khan, Urghoon.
" Aneorhg ~this arrangement, Nowab Khan Khanan marched to
,M 74 woops to Futel Bagh, Budeen, and Jhoon; Shab Beg
Shahghur. J
MWM mﬂﬂhukﬂﬁum“n, and grriv-
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i.‘i:!,g there, we sat down around it. When the garrison became much
distressed, they wrote to Janee Beg, saying: “If yon are coming to us,
well and good; if not, this fort passes from ovr hands.” The Meerza,
seeing this, marched with expedition. When lie had arrived at 20 kos
from us;, we had information of his movement. Consulting what was
best to be done, all agreed that it was preferable in the first instance
1o go against him ; and raising the siege, w& marched in his direction.

Khan Khanan, hearing of Janee Beg's march, sent a force under
Mahomed Khan Nivazee, and other chiefs, who joined us near the
Lukhee hills, where our entire force amounted to 1,200 horse.

Meerza Janee Beg had with him 10,000 horsemen ; numbers of foot.

- men archers were coming by the way of the hills, and on the river he

had boats with cannon. With all this foree he arrived at 6 kos from

us. Our Sirdars saw, that il they remained where they were, they conld
be attacked on all sides; that Janee Beg would fall opon them in front,
the archers from the hill side, the boats from the river, and the garrison of

Sehwan from the rear, and that thus their affairs would be desperate :

they therofore deemed it preferable to advance at onee, and altack the

Meerza. Having agreed upon this, they quickly prepared their troops,

and went in his direction. At that time spies gave information of our

movement to Janee Beg, who would not believe them, saying: * How
many men are they, that they should come and attack me ¥

He then saw our dust, and quickly arranged his men. At midday
the forces met, when some of our men, in advanee, turning, fled, reach-
ing our main body, pursucd by the enemy, and then the fight became
general. There were several severe attacks. [n short, defeat came
upon the men of Meerzn Janee Beg, who, fixing his foot firmly on the
battle-ficld, fonght with great bravery ; but when this availed nothing,
he placed his face in the direction of flight. Many of his men were_
killed, and taken prisoners in this action. = He retreated fo Gﬂn;}m

90 kos from the field, where he had bailt & small fort, in which he
remained seoute. The wishers of prosperity to the sovereignty of the

king went there, and surrounded him. Some days aim Nunb

Khan- Khanan arrived, who advanced the batteries.  There was dl_il_r,,
fighting; men of Loth sides being killed. At length, our men, digging

approaches, brought these close to the diteh of the foil. Upuc!: this,

Janee Beg becime hopeless, ;and proposed to make peace in this
manner:—* I will give yon 30 (gun) Muﬂl’rg&dﬂ. and the fort of
Sehwan ; I will now go to Tatta,-and 1 will come lﬁli_\mm:l you ot a

fatare time."” e

Khan Khanan consulted with his Ameers upon this pf=position, all
of whom were of opinion that Janee Bog was anxious for p ace, boing
unable to fight; and that as they had brought matters to their present
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state, his affairs would be setiled in a day or two. They also said that
from his proposition it seemed to them that he had some sinister inten-
tion, and that probably he would change his tone when he arrived at
Tattn. Khan Khanan said : #1If I do not make peace, and attack his
fort, of course men will fall on both sides, and his family will fall into
the hands of men of violence, and from this bad repute will ensue. 1
will make peace, and I willobtain for him, from the king, the command
of 5,000 men, similar to myself.”

Without doubt, Nuwab Khan Khanan’s judgment was of a good
nature.

An ambassador then came from Meerza Janee Beg, making over the
30 large boats ; he also sent a man to Sehwan to deliver up that fort,
and he himself went to Tatta.

Khan Khanan passed the season of the inundations at Sunn. At the
commencement of the cold weather, he marched on Tatta.  When we
reached Futeh Bagh, Meerza Janee Beg came in {ront to meet us, and
he had an interview with Khan Khanan, who, leaving him there, he him-
self proceeded to Tatta, arriving at which place, he divided all that he
had with him at that time, amongst the sepoys and nobles, giving a hand-
some festival. He then went to the Lulieree Bunder,® where he saw the
salt ocean. When he marched from thence he left there Dowlut Khan
and Khwaja Mokeem. Previous to his leaving this, he received a royal
Firman 18 this effect :— Bring Meerza Janee Beg with you, and come
to me.” Therefore, taking the Meerza with him, Khan Khanan went
with expedition to the king, receiving honour by kissing his foot. At
his representation, Mahomed Ukbar Shah showed much kindness to
the Meerza, confirming to him the country of Tatta. He had confidence
in his service, and he nominated him to the command of 5,000 men.

___ Healso displayed other good will towards him ; so much so, that he
decided that Kosroo Shah should become his (the Meerza's) son-in-law.

When the king went to the Decean, conquering Ahmednuggur and

. Asseerghur, at that time, on the 22nd Rujub, Meerza Jance Beg died
from inflammation of the brain, and his son Meerza Ghazee Beg received
—_the country of Tatta, at the representation of Nuwab Ullamee. -

-m#mmmmmm:mdmmgﬁgmmuﬂd '
—the Indus to Ghizree Bunder. . '




Translated by G. G. Malet, most ably assisted by Peer Mahomed,
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